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ABOUT THIS 
REPORT

01

The KZN Growth Fund Trust (KGFT), herein also referred to as 
“the Trust”, is pleased to present its third integrated annual report, 
covering the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. The report 
aims to give a comprehensive overview of KGFT’s performance 
in the execution of its strategic mandate, its operational and 
fi nancial performance, stakeholder management, governance 
matters, material issues with reference to risks and opportunities, 
and how these elements contributed to the KGFTs prerogative 
to maintain continued sustainability. 

In preparing the report, the KGFT applied the guidelines on 
integrated reporting as prescribed by the International Integrated 
Reporting Committee (IIRC), as well as the King Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2009 (King III). 

ENHANCEMENTS TO
THE 2016/17 REPORT
As part of the KGFT’s integrated reporting journey, it is constantly 
seeking to improve the quality of the information provided so 

that stakeholders have a balanced and transparent account 
of KGFT’s business. The 2015/16 Integrated Annual Report 
was reviewed by an external service provider in an effort to 
improve the contents of this report. In this regard, KGFT has 
sought to clearly disclose material issues in the report, and 
consideration has been given to connecting material issues, 
risks, strategic objectives, data stakeholder issues and our 
outcomes on the six capitals (fi nancial, manufactured, human, 
intellectual, natural and social).

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
AND ASSURANCE 
KGFT’s Annual Financial Statements (AFS) have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the principles of the Public Finance Management 
Act, No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA), as it relates to AFS. There have 
been no restatements of fi nancial information in respect of prior 
periods. KGFT receives external assurance from the Auditor-
General South Africa (AGSA), on the fair representation of its 

“Given the strides already made by the KGFT 
in the period under review, the leadership of 

the Board and the diligence and hard-work of 
the Executive Management Team, I feel confident 

about the socio-economic contribution that the Fund 
will make in the following year.

AFS. The AGSA also provides assurance in respect of KGFT’s 
achievement of annual performance targets, as set out in the 
Annual Performance Plan. KGFT will seek to obtain assurance 
on other non-fi nancial matters as part of its integrated reporting 
plan, going forward. 

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
Certain matters discussed in this report about KGFT’s future 
performance, including, without limitation, future fi nancial 
performance, strategies, prospects, consequences, and all other 
statements that are not purely historical, constitute “forward-
looking statements”. Such forward-looking statements are 
subject to risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those anticipated. Such statements 
are based on management’s beliefs, as well as assumptions 
made by and information currently available to management. 

MATERIALITY
The principle of materiality has been applied in determining the 
content and extent of disclosure in the Integrated Annual Report. 
In identifying those matters which are material, a wide range 
of resources were consulted, including KGFT’s corporate plan 
and strategy, the outcomes of engagements with stakeholders, 
reports submitted and produced for the KZN Growth Fund  
Board of Trustees (the Board) and sub-committees, the key 
risks identifi ed during the risk management process and various 
policies and regulations applicable to KGFT.

APPROVAL BY THE BOARD
This report was prepared by Executive Management and the 
Management Team under the supervision of the Board.

I would like to thank the Board for all the input and guidance 
given to the Management Team during the preparation of this 
report. Suffi ce to say that the Board is ultimately responsible 
for ensuring the reliability of this Integrated Annual Report, 
supported by the Audit and Risk Committee and the KGFT 
Management Team. The Board have applied their collective 
minds in the preparation and presentation of the Integrated 
Annual Report and believes that it addresses all material issues 
and fairly presents the performance of KGFT. KGFT has taken a 
phased approach to integrated reporting and therefore believes 
that by 2019/20, the report shall be fully compliant with the 
IIRC (International Integrated Reporting Council) Framework.

Given the strides already made by the KGFT in the period 
under review, the leadership of the Board and the diligence and 
hard-work of the Executive Management Team, I feel confi dent 
about the socio-economic contribution that the Fund will make 
in the following year.

MS D HLATSHWAYO
CHAIRMAN: KGFT BOARD OF TRUSTEES
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MEC’S
FOREWORD   

02

The KwaZulu-Natal Growth Fund Trust (KGFT) continues to 
make great progress towards exploiting synergies with private 
sector organisations and leveraging government capital to 
amplify its role in the province’s economy. 

The organisation currently operates both a Debt Fund and an 
Equity Fund with a total of R1,1 billion assets under management. 
The primary objective of the KZN Growth Fund is to fi nance 
commercially-viable medium to large private sector-led projects 
that meaningfully address the challenges of unemployment, 
poverty, and inequality. This is in line with the mandate and 
the vision of my department, which represents the Provincial 
Government of KwaZulu-Natal as the Trust’s sole benefi ciary.            

During the past fi nancial year, the Trust implemented its 
Evolution Strategy, which included the introduction of the Equity 
Fund. This year, directed at assisting the KZN Growth Fund to 
achieve its strategic objective of contributing towards visible 
socio-economic transformation in the province. In line with 
its task of growing its asset base and increasing its positive 
impact on job creation, activation of B-BBEE and reduction of 
inequality, the Trust commenced on an extensive fundraising 

programme, as we believe in broadening collaboration with 
our social partners, especially in the private sector to grow 
our economy.

We want to attract like-minded Development Financial 
Institutions (DFIs) to partner with the Trust in a private equity 
fund structure that would bolster the province’s capacity to 
fast-track the process of industrialisation that embraces radical 
economic transformation. Meanwhile, the Trust is in the advanced 
stages of forging a partnership with a national Development 
Financial Institution that would translate into an investment 
worth R300 million, to be injected into the province’s Equity 
Fund. This initiative is a fi rst of its kind for a government entity 
and demonstrates the innovative and fl exible approach that the 
Trust utilises to live up to the content of its strategic mandate.

The existence of the KZN Growth Fund has never been as 
important for the Province as it is now to give impetus to the 
government’s response to the challenging macro-economic 
environment. The Trust therefore operates within the parameters 
of the national Industry Policy Action Plan (IPAP), the New 
Growth Path, National Development Plan and the Provincial 

MR SIHLE ZIKALALA, MPL
MEC FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, TOURISM

& ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS (EDTEA)

“The primary objective of the
KZN Growth Fund is to

finance commercially-viable 
medium to large private sector-led 
projects that meaningfully address 

the challenges of unemployment, 
poverty, and inequality.

Growth & Development Strategy, which all seek to energize 
the performance of the various sectors of our economy. As a 
testament to this, the Fund has continued to improve the number 
of project approvals in the 2016/17 fi nancial year, particularly 
those which meet the criteria of creating black industrialists. 
The approved and disbursed projects have all features essential 
to address issues of industrialization, increasing local content, 
benefi ciation, infrastructure development, skills training and 
entrepreneurship culture in our province.

With government having adopted the radical economic 
transformation programme to fundamentally change the structure 
of the South African economy, KwaZulu-Natal Growth Fund is 
therefore expected to practically contribute to the achievement 
of this visionary undertaking.  As government, we have placed 
re-industrialisation at the apex of our list of priorities since this 
s an essential lever to grow the economy that will benefi t all, 
including the marginalised groups of society such as youth, 
women, people with disabilities and communities living in rural 
and semi-urban areas.

During the 2016/17 year, the Trust revised its investment 
Policy by aligning it with national imperatives, which we believe 
would improve the province’s prospects of attracting maximum 
investments. Our Department will continue to support and guide 
the Trust in all its future business undertakings to ensure its 
success and impact on the province’s socio-economic outlook.

In conclusion, I would like to express my gratitude to the private 
investors for partnering with our government, particularly 
with respect to project fi nance and equity funding. This is a 
demonstration that for us to be able to unlock the full economic 
potential of our beautiful province and the country, the public 
and private sector must join hands and work together. It is 
through pooling and sharing our strategic ideas and resources 
that we would be able to project an attractive environment to 
potential investors that would in turn, fi nd it convenient to do 
business in KwaZulu-Natal.

Moreover, we are indebted to members of the Board of Trustees, 
the Chairman and independent committee members for 
strategically guiding the Trust to a higher level of growth and 
performance in the past fi nancial year. We are confi dent that the 
Executives and staff have the requisite expertise to ensure that 
this organisation lives up to its statutory mandate by becoming 
an unwavering agent of change, through its practical alignment 
with radical economic transformation agenda.

Yours faithfully,

MR SIHLE ZIKALA, MPL
MEC FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, TOURISM

& ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS

THE ORGANISATION 
CURRENTLY OPERATES 
BOTH A DEBT FUND 
AND AN EQUITY FUND 
WITH A TOTAL OF

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
R1,1 BILLION
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CHAIRMAN’S 
REPORT

03

I am pleased to present this report on the KGFT for the 2016/17 
fi nancial year on behalf of the Board.  The Trust has continued 
to implement its mandate using fl exible developmental fi nance, 
and fi lling the gap in funding higher risk projects that are 
considered commercially viable. The Fund performs a key 
role by addressing job creation in a region that continues to 
have some of the highest unemployment rates globally. In its 
9 years in existence, the Fund has successfully approved and 
committed a total of R997 million to 10 projects. This funding 
has unlocked projects with a total value of over R5 billion, and 
has created more than 14,000 job opportunities. 

The Trust continues to be innovative in delivering on its mandate, 
through the revision of its Evolution Funding Model. In this regard, 
the Trust has launched an Equity Fund which will see private 
investors with similar developmental objectives committing 
funding alongside the Trust. This will leverage government 
funds to create more jobs, and open further opportunities to 
facilitate radical economic transformation.

SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS
The global economic environment is riddled with uncertainty and 
continued slow growth. The prevailing conditions of slow pace 
since the 2008 recession can be attributed to weak domestic 
and global demand, supply-side constraints, declining prices of 
key export commodities, and the deceleration of activity in the 
agricultural sector. In the period under review, a severe drought 
reduced agricultural output; weak global demand put pressure 
on mining output and manufacturing slowed in line with global 
conditions, and weak consumer and business confi dence. 

These economic trends affected some of the core sectors for 
the KGFT, making it that much more challenging to fi nd suitable 
projects to invest in. Despite a challenging operating environment 
in the past year, the Fund responded to the increased pressure 
on DFIs to stimulate economic activity, and contributed towards 
creating employment opportunities through innovative funding 
solutions for deserving projects.

MS DUDU HLATSHWAYO 
CHAIRMAN: KGFT BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Looking ahead, the prospects are positive as we expect a slight 
lift in economic performance, boosted by fi rmer commodity prices. 
The moderate infl ation and stable interest rates environment, 
coupled with a recovery of the agricultural sector offers positive 
outlook for investment opportunities. I am confi dent that the 
KGFT will continue to play its meaningful role in addressing 
inequalities of the past and restructure the economic landscape 
of our Province and country.

GOVERNANCE
The Fund monitors and reports on compliance, as set out in the 
King III report and PFMA and continues to remain fully committed 
to transparent and disciplined corporate governance processes. 
This is evidenced by the Clean Audit Opinions from the AGSA 
consecutively for the past 4 fi nancial years. In addition, our risk 
management processes remain robust throughout the Trust 
and integrate the functions of risk, internal audit, and legal 
and compliance. Furthermore, the Trust leverages its position 
as a lender or investor to ensure that it’s investee companies 
also adhere to good corporate governance.

FUTURE STRATEGY 
The coming year will be another year of transition and progressive 
implementation of the revised Funding Model as the Trust 
balances its growth and remaining, aligned with provincial 
and national priorities. The Fund aspires to be world class in 
all that it does and differentiates itself by being adaptable and 
innovative in its approach. It is because of these attributes that 
the KZN Growth Fund brand is gaining strength and positive 

recognition in the market, which is evidenced by the quality of 
the deal fl ow pipeline and referrals being attracted by the Fund.

I am delighted to be associated with the KGFT on this journey 
and the future strategy has my complete commendation
and support.

APPRECIATION
I would like to thank the MEC: EDTEA, Mr Sihle Zikalala for 
entrusting the Board with the responsibility of guiding the 
Trust in the implementation of its mandate and strategy. It is 
a privilege to have been given a platform through which to 
enable the KZN Province to meet its objectives of eradicating 
inequalities. I would also like to extend my appreciation to the 
Chief Executive Offi cer (CEO) and Executive Management for 
their continued dedication and commitment to delivery of the 
Trust’s mandate.  I would like to thank former Trustees and 
Committee Members for their commitment and dedication in 
service offered to the Trust. Finally, I would like to thank my 
colleagues on the Board for their unwavering commitment 
to the mandate of job creation, eradicating inequalities and 
effecting radical economic transformation.

MS D HLATSHWAYO 
CHAIRMAN: BOARD OF TRUSTEES

“The Fund aspires to be world class 
in all that it does and differentiates 

itself by being adaptable and 
innovative in its approach. It is because 
of these attributes that the KZN Growth 

Fund brand is gaining strength and 
positive recognition in the market...
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REPORT FROM
THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

04

OPERATIONS AND PERFORMANCE
The Acting CEO is delighted to report on a successful 2016/17 
fi nancial year. The KGFT has met all its corporate targets, 
whilst remaining fi nancially self-sustainable. One of the 
biggest achievements of the fund with regards to its fi nancial 
performance and sustainability, has been the fact that it has 
for the second consecutive year, been able to capitalize its 
retained earnings towards project capital, thereby allowing it 
to fund further projects. The credibility of the Trust’s lending 
practices is supported by the fact that the fund boasts a record 
of no write-offs from projects. 

The Trust achieved pleasing results, despite the challenging 
economic conditions characterised by relative weakness in 
global emerging markets and most notably, by US Dollar 
strength against a basket of emerging and developed world 
currencies. The Trust recorded project approvals amounting to 
R319m towards investments in the manufacturing, healthcare 
and telecommunications sectors in the 2016/17 fi nancial year. 
These projects are expected to create a total of 2 318 job 

opportunities. The key features of the projects approved refl ect 
the authentic transformation impact that the fund is making, in 
line with national and provincial priorities. The Trust has been 
tasked to play a key role in the provincial and national initiatives 
relating to creating Black Industrialists. The Trust is part of a 
Steering Committee with EDTEA and the dti in the development 
of a platform to fast track the development of Black Industrialists 
in the province. Three of the projects approved by the Fund in 
the last fi nancial year are compliant with the requirements of 
the BI scheme and, through the Fund’s facilitation, have been 
submitted to the dti for consideration. One of these projects 
has since received confi rmation of approval to receive grant 
funding from the Black Industrialists Scheme. This will have 
huge socio-economic benefi ts and unlock industrial potential, 
whilst radically changing the pattern of ownership and control.

Several appointments were made to fi ll key positions during the 
year. In addition, there was continued investment in our people, 
through rigorous training to ensure that skills within the entity 
support the implementation of the revised Funding Model.

MR AUBREY LETHUKUTHULA SHABANE  
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

STRATEGY
As part of the implementation of the corporate Strategy, the 
KGFT has launched an Equity Fund and is now in advanced 
negotiations for a partnership arrangement with a private 
institution for an investment of R300m into the Equity Fund. This 
investment will match a commitment of R300m of government 
funding into the Equity Fund. This will leverage government 
funds to create more jobs, and open further opportunities to 

facilitate radical economic transformation. This initiative is a 
fi rst of its kind where a Government entity will act as a general 
partner and fund manager in a private Equity Fund model. 

With the introduction of equity as a funding instrument, projects 
that had funding gaps, due to lack of equity, will now benefi t 
and this will close the gap. The strategy of the KGFT is aimed 
at growing the KGFT asset base, expanding its product offering 
and improving its positive impact on job creation, B-BBEE and 
reducing inequality.

Further fundraising efforts will continue in the upcoming fi nancial 
year to grow the size of the Equity Fund to at least R1bn. The 
capital returned from loans that are being repaid continues to 
be recycled to fund new projects and thus multiply the impact 
of government funding that is entrusted with the Trust.

In response to the government declaration to implement radical 
economic transformation, the KGFT has revised its investment 
policy to better align and deliver on this national imperative. The 
minimum admission criteria for black ownership in projects has 
been increased, to enable fast-tracked inclusion of previously 
excluded groups in society. The Trust has further revised its 
investment strategy, taking into consideration ownership 
by women, youth and the disabled. The KZN Growth Fund 
continues to be aligned with government priorities in all its 
funding activities.

APPRECIATION
I would like to express my appreciation to the MEC: EDTEA, 
the Chairman, as well as all the Trustees of the Board and 
Independent Committee Members for their steadfast support 
and strategic guidance in the past fi nancial year. 

Our clients and co-funding partners deserve a word of gratitude 
for having entrusted their investment and funding needs with us.

Last, but not least, I would like to acknowledge the former Chief 
Executive Offi cer, Executive Management and the entire staff 
component whose commitment and hard work has resulted in 
the KGFT’s achievement of its mandate and objectives during 
the 2016/17 fi nancial year. I fi rmly believe that the entity is 
well-placed and equipped with the appropriate skills to deliver 
its core purpose.

MR A SHABANE
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

“One of the biggest achievements of 
the fund with regards to its fi nancial 
performance and sustainability, has 

been the fact that it has for the second 
consecutive year, been able to capitalize its 

retained earnings towards project capital, 
thereby allowing it to fund further projects.

ARE EXPECTED TO BE CREATED FROM 
APPROVED PROJECTS IN THE HEALTHCARE, 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND MANUFACTURING 
SECTORS IN THE 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

JOB 
OPPORTUNITIES2 318

HEALTHCARE
MANUFACTURING

TELECOMMUNICATIO

NS
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ORGANISATIONAL 
PROFILE
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The KGFT was set up in 2008 as an initiative of EDTEA to 
administer the KGFT. This initiative was a fi rst of its kind in South 
Africa, aimed at creating sustainable economic development, job 
creation, broad based black economic empowerment (B-BBEE) 
and reducing inequality in KZN. The Fund was established to 
unlock the provinces economic potential, through the use of 
fl exible developmental fi nance, taking risks where traditional 
fi nancial institutions are failing the funding requirements of 
viable business projects.  

The KGFT has successfully completed the setup of the
en-commandite structure within the KGFT governance and 
operating structures. The KGFT currently caters for both a debt 
and an equity fund and can bring on board additional investors 
to participate in both funds.  

In this regard, and following an extensive due diligence process, 
KGFT has received approval from a national development fi nance 
institution (DFI) for an investment of R300 million into the KGFT 
Equity Fund. Other investors are currently being courted with 
an aim to close the KGFT Equity Fund at R1billion.

The Debt Fund fi nances projects ranging from a minimum of 
R30m and may consider funding up to R200m in size. Projects 
requiring amounts over the upper limit are co-funded with other 
fi nancial institutions. The Equity Fund invests in projects ranging 
from a minimum of R20m and may consider investments up 
to R100m. The Funds focus on strategic infrastructure and 
economic sectors such as: 

 Transport and logistics;
 Manufacturing;
 Telecommunications;
 Power and Energy;
 Health and Education Infrastructure;
 Agro-processing;
 Mining and mineral benefi ciation;
 Tourism; and 
 Any other sector which may promote the objectives of the 

Fund, provided it satisfi es the investment policy of the Fund.

“KGFT has received approval from a 
national development finance institution 

(DFI) for an investment of R300 million into 
the KGFT Equity Fund. Other investors are 

currently being courted with an aim to close 
the KGFT Equity Fund at R1billion.

ANY OTHER SECTOR WHICH MAY PROMOTE THE OBJECTIVES OF THE FUND, PROVIDED IT 
SATISFIES THE INVESTMENT POLICY OF THE FUND
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VISION
To be KZN’s leading Development Financier and Impact Investor. 

MISSION
To provide competitive and innovative fi nancing solutions to private sector 
investments that propel socio-economic growth for a better future. 

MANDATE
To support sustainable growth by fi nancing private sector projects that drive 
economic success, stimulate job creation, promote broad based black economic 
empowerment (B-BBEE) and reduce inequality.

VALUES
The KGFT’s values are:

 Respect;
 Accountability;
 Integrity;
 Stewardship; and
 Enterprising.

“RAISE”

STRATEGIC GOALS
The KGFT’s strategic goals are as follows:

 To manage the KGFT’s resources effi ciently and effectively, 
so as to remain fi nancially sustainable; and

 To be an impact investor by utilising government capital to 
leverage off private/institutional sector funding and to 
maximise the development impact.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
The strategic objectives of KGFT are:

 To maintain sound corporate governance and an unqualifi ed 
audit opinion;

 To utilise government capital to leverage off institutional/
private investor’s capital, so as to grow the assets under 
management;

 To identify and fi nance viable private sector projects that 
maximise the development impact of KGFT’s investments; and

 To remain fi nancially sustainable by fully committing available 
funds under management and ensuring appropriate post 
investment management.

To achieve the strategic objectives of the Fund, KGFT has 
adopted the following high-level initiatives:
 To manage funds that can offer competitive fi nancing products 

to attract private participation;  
 To build long term relationships with other Development 

Finance Institutions (DFIs) and lending institutions to cross-
refer and co-fi nance projects and build on the public private 
partnership (PPP) model; 

 To further implement the comprehensive marketing strategy;
 To adequately resource and retain the necessary human 

capital and skills in KGFT; and
 To implement and maintain sound policies, procedures, 
and systems of internal controls to ensure good corporate 
governance.

By implementing the above strategies, KGFT will be able to 
achieve its strategic objectives, hence establishing a successful 
track record and a reputation for effective delivery. The strategy of 
the KGFT will be driven by a single-minded goal of developmental 
fi nance and growing the assets under management. 
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OUR
LEADERSHIP

06

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Independent Trustee as from 1/10/2013

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
BSoc (Hons), MBA

BRIEF PROFILE
 Ms Dudu Hlatshwayo has a solid business management background, 

having been a partner at Ernst & Young.
 Director in the corporate fi nance division of Andisa Capital
(a subsidiary of Standard Bank).

 General Manager at ABSA in the retail bank.
 Group Executive at Transnet, driving the restructuring and turn-
around initiatives of Transnet.

 Product Manager at Telkom.
 Her vast experience and skills drove her to start her own management 

consulting business, Change EQ, in 2006, which is running to date.

Independent Trustee as from 12/12/2016

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
LLB - UKZN

BRIEF PROFILE
 Managing Director and Head of Corporate/Commercial at Buthelezi 
Vilakazi Inc.

 Admitted attorney of the High Court of South Africa and has solid 
Commercial Litigation experience.

 Practiced at Bowman Gilfi llan, Banking & Finance, Corporate/
Commercial, Construction and Engineering and Private Equity. 
Spent time in New York City, where he worked for Davis Polk 
and Wardwell (Law Firm) in their Credit and Capital Markets 
(Banking & Finance) Department before he was seconded to 
Morgan Stanley (investment Bank).

 Served on various board committees including Remuneration, 
Human Resources.

 He specialises in a broad range of Banking and Finance Transactions, 
Secured Lending, Syndication, Project Finance, High Yield Bond 
Transactions, Private Equity, Construction and Engineering, 
Property Law and General Corporate/Commercial Matters.

Independent Trustee as from 12/12/2016

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
B Proc, MBA - UKZN

BRIEF PROFILE
 Ms Bongekile Zulu was admitted as an attorney in November 2000. 

She carries both public & private sector experience, having served 
as a legal practitioner as KZN Wildlife and the Road Accident Fund.

 She serves on many boards and committees in KZN and as 
chairperson for the SARS Tax Appeals Board KZN.

MR SIPHILE BUTHELEZI (34)
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN

MS BONGEKILE ZULU (40)
TRUSTEE

MS DUDU HLATSHWAYO (53)
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
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Independent Trustee as from 12/12/2016

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
Chartered Accountant (UKZN)

BRIEF PROFILE
 Mr Ashvir Dhuki has gained diverse, in-depth experience in the 
fi nancial services industry, both in private and public sectors.

 He served his articles at PKF Durban, and gained experience for 
a year as Audit Manager before moving to Morar Inc. as Director.

 He has gained immense experience by serving on many Boards and 
committees and as a fi nancial advisor to higher learning institutions.

Independent Trustee as from 12/12/2016

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
B Proc, LLB - UKZN

BRIEF PROFILE
 Mr Khaya Thango is currently practicing as senior advocate in 

KZN and around different Provinces, and serves as a member of 
the KZN Bar Council.

 He has also completed certifi cations in various areas within the 
legal fraternity and has worked in both private & public sector at 
Senior and Executive levels.

 Serves on various Boards and committees.

Independent Trustee as from 12/12/2016

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS
Chartered Accountant(SA)

BRIEF PROFILE
 Ms Noluthando Radebe is a Chartered Accountant, a lecturer and 
a strategic fi nancial management consultant.

 She possesses a well-balanced blend of over 15 years’ management 
experience in various government entities and the private sector 
and has served as a non-executive director in various entities.

 She is a council member of SAICA (South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants) in the Eastern Region and has previously 
served this institute as its Deputy President.

 She is also a former Regional Head of the AWCA (African Women 
Chartered Accountants) KZN branch.

 She is well versed with the subjects of public finance
management, corporate governance, economic development and
development fi nance.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

MR KHAYA THANGO (43)
TRUSTEE

MR ASHVIR DHUKI (33)
TRUSTEE

MS NOLUTHANDO RADEBE (39)
TRUSTEE

MR AUBREY LETHUKUTHULA SHABANE
ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

MR DIETER KASCH
ACTING CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER

MR ISMAIL ABDOOLA
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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GOVERNANCE 
STRUCTURE

07

HUMAN RESOURCES 
& REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE (HR & REMCO)

AUDIT & RISK 
COMMITTEE (ARC)

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
(IC)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
• Strategy Implementation

• Stakeholder Communication
• Secretariat and Governance
• Brand Awareness/Marketing

• Human Resources

CHIEF INVESTMENT 
OFFICER
• Projects

• Legal (Projects)

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
• Finance & Admin

• Information Technology

CHIEF RISK OFFICER
• Enterprise Risk

• Credit Risk
• Compliance

• ESG

KZN GROWTH FUND TRUST BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES (BOARD)

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, 
TOURISM AND ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS

KWAZULU-NATAL PROVINCIAL  GOVERNMENT 
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SOCIO-ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
The global economy continued to grow at a disappointing 
pace, held back by weak investment across major economies 
and economic regions, dwindling world trade growth, fl agging 
productivity growth and high corporate and government debt 
levels. The dismal performance was further fuelled by low 
commodity prices since 2014 and confl ict and geopolitical 
tensions in some regions. The year was also characterized by 
political shocks in advanced economies – the decision by the 
United Kingdom to leave the EU, followed by the election of 
a new administration in the United States (US). These events 
will continue to impact on economies far and wide in 2017 
and beyond.

Economic growth in sub-Saharan Africa dropped to its lowest 
level in more than 20 years, refl ecting the adverse external 
environment, and a lackluster policy response in many countries. 
In the last three years, sub-Saharan Africa’s (SSA’s) gross 
domestic product (GDP) growth declined from 5.1% in 2014 
to 3.4% in 2015 and further down to 1.5% in 2016.

In South Africa, a dismal performance in the agriculture, 
manufacturing and mining sectors led the economic contraction, 
with a meagre 0.3% growth being recorded for the full year 
2016. This represented the weakest pace of growth in seven 
years. The economy’s persistent failure over the years to meet 
government’s growth targets, has had serious implications for 
employment creation, transformation and other socio-economic 
objectives. Consequently, the work of development fi nance 
institutions, including the KGFT has appeared somewhat less 
noticeable under the circumstances.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 
COMPOSITION
The Investment Committee of the KGFT is made up of individuals 
drawn from diverse working backgrounds, including private 
equity, development and project fi nance, legal, and accounting. 
The signifi cant contribution that the members provide towards 
impacting peoples’ lives and promoting shared prosperity is 
greatly appreciated.

MR SIPHILE BUTHELEZI 
CHAIRMAN: INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

“Disbursements, a measure of actual 
investment into the economy amounted 

to R330.5m, almost double the amount 
disbursed during the prior comparative 

period. Approximately R99.2m of the amount 
disbursed during the period under review 

relates to funding committed during the 
2015/16 financial year.

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE REPORT

08

REVIEW OF THE 2016/17
FINANCIAL YEAR
Stemming from its mandate, the KGFT has made it a practice 
to take on more risk with respect to fi nancing projects that 
make real development impact — by driving economic growth, 
promoting inclusiveness, and creating sustainable employment 
opportunities.

The KGFT fi nances private sector led projects and companies 
through loans typically for fi ve to ten years. The Fund also 
makes equity investments which provide private enterprises 
with long term growth capital. 

Despite the depressed economic environment during 2016, the 
KGFT again leveraged its strengths, expertise, and resources 
to help private sector clients drive sustainable growth and 
create jobs — with a focus on building infrastructure, mobilizing 
private capital, promoting new investments, and expanding 
opportunities for small and medium enterprises. The private 
sector is an essential force for sustainable development in that it 
stimulates innovation and improves productivity and economic 
effi ciency, while creating the jobs and growth needed to reduce 
poverty and promote shared prosperity. 

This year, the KGFT approved R319m in fi nancing to support 
almost R3.2bn worth of projects in telecommunications, 
manufacturing and healthcare sectors. Altogether, these 
projects are expected to create approximately 2 318 direct job 
opportunities. Of the approved funding, equity investments 
accounted for R158.5m while the balance is in form of share 
capital and shareholder loans repayable over fi ve to eight years.

Disbursements, a measure of actual investment into the economy 
amounted to R330.5m, almost double the amount disbursed 
during the prior comparative period. Approximately R99.2m of 
the amount disbursed during the period under review relates 
to funding committed during the 2015/16 fi nancial year.

THIS YEAR, THE KGFT APPROVED

IN FINANCING
R319M
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The quality of the investment portfolio is of paramount importance 
to the Investment Committee. Accordingly, KGFT closely monitors 
and manages its investments in order to timeously address any 
signs of fi nancial distress.  As a percentage, the non-performing 
portion of the loan book stood at 10% as at 31 March 2017, 
against a 30% threshold approved by the Board. All equity 
investments are currently being held at cost, given the stage 
of development of the projects.

The investment activities for the year are summarised in the 
table below against performance for the two preceding years.

OUTLOOK PERIOD
South Africa has made meaningful progress in transforming 
the economy since democracy. Government social spending, 
black economic empowerment (BEE) legislation and affi rmative 
action policies have all assisted in creating employment and 
business opportunities for previously disadvantaged individuals 
and the vulnerable, as well as reducing poverty and inequality. 
Going forward, the Investment Committee of the KGFT will 
continue to play its role in support of these socio-economic 
imperatives by leveraging private capital in the fi nancing of 
commercially viable projects.

MR S. BUTHELEZI
CHAIRMAN: INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Table 1.1: Investment Activities Comparison to Previous Years

Performance Indicator 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15

Total value of approved 
fi nancing (R’m)

319.0 260.5 373.4

Total value of 
disbursements (R’m)

330.5 168.0 290

Total number of jobs 
expected to be created 

2 318 557 1 410

Project Approvals

Total Healthcare

Manufacturing Risk Transport and logistics

500 100 150 200 250 300 350

319

76

193

50

R’m

Project Disbursements

Total Healthcare

Manufacturing Risk Transport and logistics

500 100 150 200 250 300 350

330,5

76

191,3

63,2

R’m

GRAPH 1.1: INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES FY2016-17
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The election of a new US president in late 2016, favouring 
major policy changes, including more protectionism and greater 
emphasis on domestic infrastructure brought further uncertainty 
to global fi nancial markets. The Organization of the Petroleum 
Exporting Countries (OPEC) also agreed to cutbacks in oil 
production, which bolstered international oil prices and is set 
to add to cost-push infl ation.

Overall, global economic activity remained subdued in 2016, 
led by a general slowdown in activity in advanced economies, 
in particular, the USA.

SOUTH AFRICAN ECONOMY
In South Africa (SA), the erratic pattern of economic activity 
continued, with real economic growth slowing to a mere 0.3% 

– the lowest annual growth rate since 2009.

The South African economy has been growing at a slow pace 
since the 2008-9 recession, to a large extent, attributed to 
subdued business and consumer confi dence levels, weak 
domestic and global demand, supply-side constraints, declining 
prices of key export commodities, and the slowdown in activity 
in the agricultural sector. In fact, there has been a steady 
deceleration in South African real GDP growth over the last 
fi ve years from 3% in 2011 to 1.5% in 2014 and 0.3% in 2016.

In the period under review, a severe drought reduced agricultural 
output; weak global demand put pressure on mining output, 
manufacturing slowed in line with global conditions, and weak 
consumer and business confi dence. As an exception, the 
services sector was the main contributor to economic growth 
and job creation during 2016.
 
Real gross fi xed capital formation in 2016 represented the fi rst 
negative annual growth rate since 2010. As a percentage of 
GDP, it fell to below the 20% level on an annual basis for the fi rst 
time since 2012. With business confi dence low and economic 
activity weak, capital outlays by the private sector contracted 
while real fi xed capital expenditure by public corporations also 
edged lower during the period under review. 

The rand exchange rate depreciated further in early 2016 
as political events eroded confi dence, adding to the woes 
of declining international prices of export commodities and 
deteriorating terms of trade. However, the rand appreciated 
on a trade-weighted basis during the latter part of 2016, 
supported by higher international commodity prices and 
reduced global and domestic uncertainty. Towards the end 
of 2016, international credit rating agencies decided to keep 
South Africa’s sovereign credit ratings unchanged, which further 
improved sentiment towards the rand. As a result, the rand, 
which traded at R16.38 to the US dollar at the beginning of 
2016, closed the year at R13.84/US$. 

The current account defi cit remained stable during 2016, at 
about 4.1% of GDP. A decline in import volumes and gains in the 
terms of trade were offset by a contraction in export volumes. 
The persistent current account defi cit refl ects insuffi cient levels 
of domestic savings to fund domestic investment and the high 
reliance on foreign savings. This scenario increases South 
Africa’s vulnerability to capital outfl ows.

In the credit sphere, the banking sector’s balance sheet continued 
to expand quite slowly in the year, with both the broad money 
supply and bank advances to the private sector registering 
single-digit year-on-year growth rates. Advances to households 
remained subdued, whereas advances to companies displayed 
relatively more vibrant growth, most notably advances to 
the energy sector and to entities involved in transport and 
communication.

On account of reduced infl ation pressures and risks, the Monetary 
Policy Committee (MPC) of the South African Reserve Bank 
(SARB) kept the repurchase rate unchanged at 7 per cent per 
annum since March 2016. Accordingly, other money-market 
interest rates have aligned themselves with this anchor rate.

Headline consumer price infl ation breached the upper limit of 
the infl ation target range in September 2016 and accelerated 
to 6.8% in December, before moderating marginally in January 
2017. The acceleration in consumer price infl ation resulted largely 
from higher fuel prices and a pickup in price infl ation of exchange 
rate sensitive durable and semi-durable consumer goods 
following delayed pass-through from currency depreciation 
in 2015. In addition, consumer food price infl ation remained 
elevated. However, given expectations of a bumper maize 
crop in 2017, consumer food price infl ation is expected to 
moderate in due course. 

As a counterpart to the poor economic growth outcome, 
employment creation remained subdued and the offi cial 
unemployment rate stood at 26.5% in the fourth quarter of 
2016. Thus, the domestic economy struggled to create suffi cient 
employment opportunities amidst an environment of subdued 
output growth. 

Against this backdrop, the budget for fi scal 2017/18 was 
delivered in February 2017, reaffi rming government’s continued 
commitment to a measured and prudent consolidation path, 
to be achieved through a combination of tax increases, 
notably personal income tax, and a reduction in government’s
expenditure ceiling.

Overall, the year under review was challenging to all stakeholders 
and saw increasing pressure on development fi nance 
institutions, including the KZN Growth Fund, to be innovative 
and make meaningful contribution in the fi ght against poverty, 
unemployment and inequality.

In the outlook period, SA’s economic performance will be lifted 
by fi rmer commodity prices, a moderate infl ation environment, 
stable interest rates, and recovery in the agriculture sector. 
Against this backdrop, the SARB expects growth in SA to 
accelerate to 1.2% in 2017 and 1.7% in 2018. However, any 
negative developments will likely exacerbate the already high 
unemployment, inequality and macro-vulnerabilities. It is 
therefore imperative for SA to implement structural reforms 
to position itself for faster growth and better investor returns. 
This entails government, labour and civil society collaborating 
with business to exploit opportunities to grow the economy, 
as well as raising consumer and investor confi dence.

OPERATING 
ENVIRONMENT
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GLOBAL ECONOMY
The global economy remained trapped in a phase of slow 
growth in 2016. The world economy grew by 2.2%, the slowest 
rate of growth since the recession of 2008-9. Underpinning 
the lethargic global economy, are the frail pace of global 
investment, policy uncertainty, declining world trade growth, 
weakening productivity growth and high levels of debt. 
Depressed commodity prices have exacerbated these factors, 
particularly in commodity exporting countries, while confl ict and 
geopolitical tensions continue to hamper economic prospects 
in several regions. 

Infl ation accelerated slightly towards the end of 2016 in some 
countries as the international prices of crude oil, metals and 
mineral commodities improved. However, underlying infl ationary 
pressures remained fairly muted, especially in advanced 
economies. Monetary policy in advanced economies diverged 
further when the United States (US) increased interest rates 
in December 2016 and again in March 2017, as the growth 
outlook in that country appeared to strengthen. Monetary policy 
settings also differed among emerging market economies, with 
some central banks tightening policy due to weaker currencies, 

while others eased policy, given subdued output growth and 
muted infl ationary pressures. Investment growth has slowed 
signifi cantly in many of the major developed and developing 
economies, as well as in many economies in transition. Protracted 
weak global demand has reduced incentives for corporates to 
invest, while economic and political uncertainties have also 
weighed on investment. Since 2015, many countries have 
seen sharp contractions in investment, particularly in the 
commodity industries. Lack of access to fi nance has also acted 
as a constraint in some cases, especially in countries where the 
capital markets remain undercapitalized or under-developed.

Governments in developed countries have made steep cuts in 
public investment since 2010, refl ecting fi scal adjustment policies 
implemented in response to high levels of government debt. 
Since mid-2014, governments in many commodity-exporting 
countries have also curtailed much-needed investment in 
infrastructure and social services, in response to the sharp 
loss of commodity revenue. In many developing countries, 
government’s reduced spending, resulted in weaker private 
sector investment.

“In the outlook period, SA’s economic
performance will be lifted by firmer commodity 

prices, a moderate inflation environment, stable 
interest rates, and recovery in the agriculture sector. 

Against this backdrop, the SARB expects growth in 
SA to accelerate to 1.2% in 2017 and 1.7% in 2018...
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The KGFT faces a number of strategic risks that could affect its business operations and ultimately, 
its ability to create value in the long term. A strategic risk assessment workshop was facilitated in 

January 2017 with the objective of identifying the top ten strategic risks that could prevent the KGFT 
from achieving its strategic objectives. Changes to the KGFT’s operating environment and the change 

in funding model were taken into account when identifying the strategic risks. The graph below refl ects 
the Inherent risk of each strategic risk, as well as the residual risk after taking existing controls into account. 

MATERIAL RISKS
AND OPPORTUNITIES

10

Graph 2.1 – Inherent Risk vs Residual Risk 
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Table 2.1 – Summary of Top Ten Strategic Risks

Rank Key Risk Risk 
Category

Context Mitigating Actions Opportunity Link to 
strategic 
Objectives

1 Socio-
political risk 

Strategic 
risk

We operate in an 
environment where 
change in political 
leadership at various 
decision-making levels 
may have a bearing 
in policy objectives 
of government. 
Maintaining alignment 
with benefi ciary 
objectives is important 
in meeting our 
developmental goals.

- Monitor political landscape 
by constant engagement/lobbying 
with key stakeholder 

- KGFT representation in key meetings 
- Mechanisms in place to 

ensure relevance - continuous 
reporting to EDTEA and delivery of
the mandate

- Benefi ciary representation at
key meetings 

- Manage relationships with all
critical stakeholders 

Consider a Fund 
management 
model similar 
to the private 
sector whereby 
the risk of 
reliance in 
the political 
landscape is 
reduced.

B

2 Inadequate 
capital to 
support 
strategic 
objectives

Strategic 
risk

In order to meet its 
pipeline requirements 
and support its 
strategic objectives, 
KGFT requires an 
appropriate level of 
capital funding 

- Monitor political landscape by 
constant engagement/lobbying with 
key stakeholders

- KGFT representation in key meetings 
- Mechanisms in place to ensure 

relevance - continuous reporting to 
EDTEA and delivery of the mandate 

- Benefi ciary representation at
key meetings 

- Manage relationships with all
critical stakeholders 

- Proactive restructuring of loans
and investments 

- Effi cient diversifi cation of assets
and sectors 

- Proactive review, monitoring and 
reporting on portfolio, including 
independent monitoring of value add 
and exit thesis 

- Strategic 
Empowered 
Equity 
Investment 
- taking 
equity for 
high risk debt 
and selling 
to B-BBEE 
players at a 
later stage. 

- High risk 
on debt (free/
lower equity) 

B, D

3 Credit Risk Financial 
Risk

The risk relates to the 
risk of default on a 
debt from a borrower 
failing to make required 
payments. Higher 
levels of credit risk 
can be associated 
with deteriorating 
credit quality; inability 
to monitor and 
identify project risk; 
Concentration within 
particular Sector or 
Location

- Policies and Procedures, which are 
reviewed on a regular basis 

- Key criteria of credit policy are 
captured in submissions made

- Proactive review, monitoring and 
reporting on portfolio, including 
independent monitoring of value add 
and exit thesis 

- Project subject to comprehensive 
due diligence, which is reviewed by 
the Credit Committee 

- Formulation of credit investment 
teams to address potential confl ict 
of interest 

- Implementation of fi ndings of due 
diligence reports to prepare project 
company for exit 

- Ensuring personal interest
from sponsors 

- Background checks, Know your 
client (KYC) 

- Comprehensive legal risk 
management/enforcing compliance 
with terms & conditions 

- Recruitment of employees with 
specialised skills 

- Security obtained 

- Fulfi l 
developmental 
mandate 
by assisting 
ailing project 
companies

A, C, D

The table below provides an analysis of the top ten strategic risks affecting the KGFT, the current controls in place to mitigate 
those risks, the opportunities presented and a link to the strategic objectives of the KGFT (which are listed at the end of the table).
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Table 2.1 – Summary of Top Ten Strategic Risks ...continued

Rank Key Risk Risk 
Category

Context Mitigating Actions Opportunity Link to 
strategic 
Objectives

4 Reputation Operational 
Risk

Our ability to advance 
our developmental 
impact lies in 
upholding a good 
reputation. Failure to 
manage our Brand can 
impact achievement of 
the strategic objectives 
of the fund

- Political Exposed People policy
in place 

- Background checks performed 
- KYC, communication and marketing 

policies in place 
- Adequate staff compliment with the 

right skills 
- Maintaining a healthy deal pipeline 
- Upfront communication with regards 

to fi nancing with promoters 
- Employees/Trustees managed 

through Code of conduct, essentially 
being KGFT’s Brand Ambassadors 
(Confl ict of Interest declarations
and checks) 

- Building 
an ethical 
organisational 
culture 

- Turn 
employees 
into brand 
ambassadors 

A, B, C, D

5 Mandate Fit Strategic 
Risk

This risk relates to 
the inability of KGFT 
to deliver on its 
mandate of advancing 
its contribution 
to empowerment 
targets. A focused 
approach on high 
impact developmental 
deals and quality 
partnerships 
will support the 
management 
of performance 
outcomes.

- Implementation of strategy, 
Corporate plan and Annual 
Performance Plan, which is aligned 
with the provincial government 
strategies of EDTEA

- Marketing and Branding the Fund
- Strategic partnerships, relationships 

with Banks and stakeholder e.g. TIKZN
- Introduction of equity fi nance and 

diversity in product range, enabling 
more promoters to access funding

- Expansion 
of product 
offering and 
mandate

B, C, D

6 Failure to 
attract, 
retain and 
develop key 
staff

Operational 
Risk

- KGFT leadership 
are committed to 
the management of 
Loss of critical skills 
and shortage of skills 
across the private 
equity value chain 
within investment/
debt teams and 
committees

- Training and development 
framework and plans

-  Employee wellness scheme in place
- Benchmarking of salaries and 

Employee Incentive scheme in place
- Succession planning 
- Employee climate survey performed 

resulting in action plan 

- Attract 
additional 
investment 
skills to the 
province

D

7 Investment 
Risk

Financial 
Risk 

This risk relates to:
- Funding of

poor investments 
-  Inability to exit 

equity investments 
- Management vs. 

Promoter 
- Solvency & liquidity 

assessment 
- Risk tolerance & 

mandate fi t within 
investment horizon

- Sector/
Individual/Location 
(Concentration) 

- Policies and Procedures which are 
reviewed on a regular basis

- Key criteria of investment policy are 
captured in submissions made 

- Proactive review, monitoring and 
reporting on portfolio including 
independent monitoring of value add 
and exit thesis 

- Projects subject to comprehensive 
due diligence, which is reviewed by 
the Investment Committee 

- Formulation of equity investment 
teams to address potential confl ict 
of interest 

- Implementation of fi ndings of due 
diligence reports to prepare project 
company for exit 

- Ensuring personal interest
from sponsors 

- Background checks, KYC 
- Comprehensive legal risk 

management/enforcing compliance 
with terms & conditions 

- Private Equity Specialist Training 
undertaken during the year 

- Recruitment of employees with 
specialised skills 

- Appointment of director/s to
investee boards 

- Attract 
further 
investment

- Improvement 
of reputation 

- Trend setter - 
model for 
other DFI’s 

- Enhanced 
fi nancial 
returns

- Achievement 
of mandate/
objectives 

B, C, D

Table 2.1 – Summary of Top Ten Strategic Risks ...continued

Rank Key Risk Risk 
Category

Context Mitigating Actions Opportunity Link to 
strategic 
Objectives

8 Market Risk Financial 
Risk

The value of our 
investments may be 
affected: 
- deteriorating credit 

quality of the fund’s 
loan portfolio 

- Less appetite for 
credit in the market, 
resulting in reduced 
lending activities 

- Uncertain deal fl ow 
and lack of 
quality of deals, 
due to economic 
environment

- Volatility and 
variations in the asset 
value of the Private 
Equity portfolio 

- Legislation changes 

- Proactive review, monitoring and 
reporting on portfolio, including 
independent monitoring and 
implementation of value add and
exit strategies

- Proactive restructuring of loans
and investments 

- Effi cient diversifi cation of assets
and sectors 

- Sensitivity and scenario analysis on 
each project’s fi nancial model prior 
to approval at FAR stage

- Project team ensures that legal 
agreements make provision for 
adequate restructuring in the event 
of adverse changes in macro and 
micro economic environment

- Implementation of Bloomberg as a 
research tool

- Establishment of in-house views
and forecasts 

- Encouraging 
a forward 
looking and 
proactive 
culture

B, C, D

9 Failure to 
remain 
fi nancially 
sustainable

Financial 
Risk

The risk that our 
fund fails to remain 
profi table, as a result; 
- The fund becomes 

insolvent 
- The fund experiences 

liquidity risk (Balance 
sheet management)

- Poor cash fl ow 
management by
the fund 

- Effective annual budgeting process, 
including monthly monitoring of 
Actual vs Budget variances

- Cost cutting measures
are implemented

-  Deals are priced according to loan 
pricing policy approved by the KGFT 

-  Effective due diligence and post 
investment monitoring of projects by 
the projects team

- Maintaining a diversifi ed portfolio 
- Proactive Cash fl ow management   
- Policies, Procedures and Delegation 

of Authority in place and reviewed 
annually

- Update of Fund Financial
model quarterly 

- Quarterly solvency and
liquidity testing

- Cost saving 
initiatives

- Better 
fi nancial 
control

A, D

10 Governance, 
Regulatory, 
Legal and 
Compliance

Business 
Risk

Fines, penalties, 
reputational loss 
may arise due to 
non-compliance with 
governance, legal and 
compliance framework 
and polices

- Policies and Procedures which are 
reviewed on a regular basis.

- Monitoring and reporting of 
compliance and risk via independent 
function to relevant committees

- Communication, Training and roll out 
of policies and procedures 

- Implementation of combined 
assurance model framework  

- Maintain 
good 
governance

A, D

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
A: To maintain sound corporate governance and an unqualifi ed audit opinion.
B: To utilise government capital to leverage off institutional/private investor’s capital so as to grow the assets under management.
C: To identify and fi nance viable private sector projects that maximise the development impact of KGFT’s investments.
D: To remain fi nancially sustainable by fully committing available funds under management and ensuring appropriate post 

investment Management.
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KGFT recognises that identifying and managing risks and 
opportunities is fundamental to the achievement of its
strategic objectives.

The Board has overall responsibility for Risk Management, and 
ensuring that risk management is embedded into all processes 
and activities of the Fund and has adopted an enterprise risk 
management (ERM) framework. This approach ensures that 
KGFT takes a holistic view of the risks inherent in its strategy, 
operations and business and that the management of risks is 
embedded into the planning, business and decision-making 
processes. It is also the responsibility of the Board to Review 
the Fund’s risk profi le from time to time.

The Audit and Risk Committee is mandated to oversee the 
implementation of the Fund’s ERM framework and assesses 
key risk reports on a quarterly basis.  Operational issues are 
included in the quarterly reports and are managed by the 
Executive Committee (EXCO), Internal Risk Committee (IRC) 
and the Management Committee (MANCO).

Internal Audit and External Audit provide independent assurance 
on the effectiveness of risk management to the Board. Internal 
Audit is outsourced to Deloitte, due to the size of the organisation.

KGFT Risk is managed on three levels, namely; strategic, 
operational and projects.

Strategic risks are those risks that are most consequential 
to KGFT’s ability to execute its strategies and achieve its 
developmental mandate. These risk exposures can ultimately 
affect KGFT’s shareholder value or the viability of the organization.

Operational risks refers to risks inherent in KGFT’s operations 
and processes. These are emerging risks introduced by internal 
factors (such as employees, internal processes and systems, etc.) 
and external factors (such as suppliers, regulatory authorities, 
the economic climate etc.)

Project risks are risks that could impact the progress, result 
or outcome of a specifi c project funded by KGFT, which would 
result in deviations in expected returns on individual projects 
or impact on the planned outcomes of specifi c value-creating 
initiatives.

RISK MANAGEMENT
At a strategic level, risk management functions performed by the 
Board and management include, defi nition of risk, determining 
risk appetite, formulating strategies and policies for managing 
risk, and developing adequate systems and controls to ensure 
that overall risk remains within an acceptable level. 

Enterprise risk management, which encompasses operational 
risk, is managed by the Risk function whilst regulatory risks 
are managed by the Compliance function. Enterprise Risk 
management activities are performed by the relevant business 
units and are entrenched through adherence to operational 
procedures and guidelines set by management. Operational 
Risk management strategies and policies are used in conjunction 
with delegated powers of authority, which detail the authority 
levels for various transactions.

Project risk assessments are performed to identify key risks 
that could impact the progress, result or outcome of a specifi c 

“At a strategic level, risk management functions 
performed by the Board and management include, 

defi nition of risk, determining risk appetite, formulating 
strategies and policies for managing risk, and developing 
adequate systems and controls to ensure that overall risk 

remains within an acceptable level...

MANAGING RISKS
AND OPPORTUNITIES

11
The diagram below portrays the risk architecture of the KZN Growth Fund

THE BOARD
− Overall responsibility for risk management

− Ensure risk management is embedded into all processes and activities
− Review group risk profi le

RISK DIVISION
− Formulate strategy and policy based on risk appetite, risk 

attitudes and risk exposures
− Receive reports from business units, review risk 

management activities and compile the group risk register
− Track RM activity in the business units and keep the risk 

management context under review

BUSINESS UNITS
- Produce business unit specifi c policy statements 
- Identifi cation, assessment and management of day to day risk 
- Set risk priorities for business unit
- Monitoring and implementation of risk improvements

AUDIT COMMITTEE
− Set annual audit programme and priorities

− Monitor progress with audit recommendations
− Provide risk assurance to the Board

− Oversee RM structures and processes

INTERNAL & EXTERNAL AUDIT
− Provide risk assurance to the Board
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project and actions that are designed to adequately mitigate 
the risks identifi ed and put in place.  

The implementation and effectiveness of planned actions 
are monitored throughout the duration of the project by the 
Projects and Credit functions, and are reported through project 
governance structures. Project Risks are also managed by 
adherence to the Investment, Equity and Credit policies and 
business process procedure approved by the KGFT. 

The Board has delegated the responsibility for the management 
of credit and investment risk to the IC. The Board has also 
delegated the approval of Initial Screening Reports to the Internal 
Risk Committee (IRC), in order to facilitate speedy turnaround 
times, and to enhance the competitiveness of the Fund.

The IC acts as an independent body and advises the Board, 
to ensure that the KGFT’s development mandate of unlocking 
growth, promoting B-BBEE and creating sustainable jobs in the 
KZN economy, are met. The IC is responsible for ensuring that 
extensive due diligence is done on projects requiring funding 
prior to recommending projects for Approval to the Board. The 
IC is also tasked with the duty to oversee the management of 
project performance after disbursements to ensure that the 
Fund maintains a healthy portfolio. The Fund always strives 
to maintain a balance between its developmental mandate 
and the expected returns and risk appetite of its stakeholders.

FINANCIAL RISK
Credit (Counterparty) Risk is the risk of non-payment by the 
KGFT funded projects and non-recoverability of the funding, 
which would result in impairments and write-offs. This risk 
is managed by robust evaluation of projects by the internal 
committees, entering into legally binding contractual agreements 
with project companies and effective Post-Investment Monitoring 
of the projects.

Interest Rate Risk is the potential variability that KGFT is 
exposed to, owing to changes in the level of interest rates. 

Liquidity Risk is the risk to an entities’ earnings and capital 
arising from its inability to timely meet obligations when they 
come due without incurring unacceptable losses i.e. the possibility 
of KGFT being unable to meet obligations, repayments and 
withdrawals at the proper place and time.

Solvency Risk relates to the possibility of KGFT being unable 
to sustain its business activities and to meet commitments, 
repayments and withdrawals at the proper time and place, as 
a result of it having accumulating liabilities, which in aggregate 
exceeds the fair value of its assets.

Market Risk is the risk that the value of an investment will 
decrease due to moves in market prices, interest rates, exchange 
rates, market volatilities and competitive mix, i.e. the possibility 
that the market price of an asset may change, resulting in a 
capital gain or loss to KGFT upon subsequent realization of 
the asset.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Information, Communication and Technology (ICT) Risk is 
the risk of failures in system support, including errors in the 
development of programs, inadequate or untimely management 
information and inadequate security and contingency planning.

Operational Risk (including People Risk) is those that do not 
have a “direct” fi nancial impact, as compared with the pure 
fi nancial risks, such as liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit 
risk. Operational risk is the risk resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, people and systems (ineffi cient or 
ineffective), or from external events resulting in fi nancial loss.  
People risk is defi ned as possible inadequacies in human capital. 
This may stem from a lack of adequate skills or knowledge, a 
reward system that fails to motivate properly or loss of key 
staff, due to uncertainty. 

Legal Risk is defi ned as the risk of loss, due to business 
objectives not having been properly formulated in agreements 
or other defective contractual arrangements, legal liability (both 
criminal and civil) incurred during operations by the failure of 
the KGFT to perform its obligations or enforce its rights and 
by failure, to address identifi ed concerns to the appropriate 
authorities where changes in the law are proposed (compliance 
with the law and implementing changes are dealt with as part 
of compliance risk).

Business Continuity Planning is the process whereby an 
organization ensures the maintenance or recovery of operations, 
including services to customers when confronted with adverse 
events, such as natural disasters, technological failures, human 
error and terrorism.

BUSINESS RISK
Reputational Risk is the potential that negative publicity 
regarding KGFT’s business practices or internal controls, whether 
true or not, which could have an impact on the liquidity or 
capital of KGFT, or cause a decline in the customer base, costly 
litigation, revenue erosion or reductions.

Regulatory Risk is the risk associated with the potential for 
laws related to a given industry, country or type of security to 
change and impact relevant investments.

Environmental Health and Safety Risk is the risk associated 
with the economic or administrative consequences of slow or 
catastrophic environmental pollution, hazards and the safety 
of persons, in connection with the use of plant and machinery, 
the protection of persons against hazards to health and safety, 
arising out of, or in connection with, the activities of persons 
at work.

Fraud, Theft and Abuse is the risk of unlawful and intentional 
making of a misappropriation by persons, internal or external, 
to the organisation, which causes actual prejudice, or which 
is potentially prejudicial to others.

Compliance Risk is the risk that procedures implemented 
by KGFT to ensure compliance with the relevant statutory, 
regulatory and supervisory requirements are not adhered to 
and/or is ineffi cient and/or ineffective.

MANAGING RISK
LIQUIDITY RISK
The nature and type of business that KGFT engages in, exposes 
it to the following liquidity risks:
 Inability to repay borrowings;
 Inability to meet lending commitments; and
 Payments of excessive premiums above market rates, in 

order to attract funds.

The KGFT’s Finance department manages liquidity on a projected 
cash-fl ow basis.  The key focus areas in managing liquidity risk 
involves the continuous monitoring of actual and projected 
cash-fl ows and maintenance of a Liquidity buffer to fund 
unforeseen cash-fl ows. 

Liquidity risk management strategies and processes include:
 Preparing cash fl ow projections regularly to assess available 

cash against cash requirements; 
 Maintaining a buffer of liquid assets in short term investments; 
and 

 Projected cash infl ow and outfl ow estimates and, thus, the 
net defi cit or surplus over a time horizon.

KGFT RISK UNIVERSE
The nature of the business of KGFT exposes it to the following categories of risk:

FINANCIAL RISK

Credit (Counterparty) Risk

Interest Rate Risk 

Solvency Risk 

Liquidity Risk 

Market Risk 

OPERATIONAL RISK

Business Continuity 
Planning 

Information, Communication 
and Technology (ICT) Risk 

Operational Risk 
(including People Risk) 

Legal and Third Party Risk 

BUSINESS RISK

Fraud, Theft and Abuse 

Reputational Risk 

Regulatory Risk 

Environmental Health and 
Safety Risk 
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Liquidity risk is measured by conducting an analysis of net 
funding requirements.  Net funding requirements are determined 
by analysing future cash fl ows, based on the assumptions of 
the expected behaviour of assets and liabilities.  The liquidity 
position is continuously monitored through the Financial Fund 
Model (FFM) by EXCO, who then reports to the Audit & Risk 
Committee quarterly.

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk to KGFT may arise due to:
 The margin between the interest rates earned on assets and 

paid on liabilities;
 The repricing potential of assets and liabilities at different 

points in time, resulting in mismatches in various time bands 
between the contractual repricing of assets and liabilities; and

 The period over which these differences persist.

Interest rate risk is the responsibility of the EXCO at management 
level and Audit & Risk Committee at Board level. Interest rate 
risk management strategy manages placement of funds and 
the balance between risk and return, taking into account our 
view on interest rates. Medium to long-term strategy return 
includes initiatives to reduce exposure to interest rate risk.

CONCENTRATION RISK
Funds available for investment are split between various 
Banking Institutions, with a minimum of 90% of funds being 
invested with Banking institutions, with a long-term rating of 
(BBB) (and/or other rating agencies with the equivalent rating) 
or above, or short term rating of F3 or above, as listed by Fitch 
ratings agency (or other rating agencies with the equivalent 
ratings) with the exception of Ithala SOC Ltd., as approved by 
the Board, which is limited to a total of 10% of available funds. 
No more than 25% of KGFT investments can be placed with 
only one institution at a time.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is managed through the implementation 
of appropriate internal control systems, supported by staff 
training. Clearly defi ned and documented operational policies 
and procedures in the form of key controls and procedures are 
maintained and made available to all staff members. To ensure 
that the policies and procedures and control mandates meet 
KGFT’s requirements, both statutory and commercial, the 
policies, key controls and procedures are subject to review 
by management and appropriate risk committees to ensure 
ongoing development and maintenance of sound and prudent 
operational risk policies and procedures.

The Executive management is responsible for the practical 
implementation of the principles of operational risk management 
and monitoring thereof at departmental level. The Executive 
management is also responsible for the development and 
maintenance of the procedures for the management of 
operational risks related to KGFT’s products, services, functions, 
processes and systems.

INSURANCE RISK
The KGFT’s assets and relevant exposures are covered by the 
relevant insurance policies to minimise losses.  These insurance 
policies are reviewed annually.

BUSINESS CONTINUITY MANAGEMENT
The KGFT maintains business continuity plans, which are tested 
annually and IT back up is done on a daily basis, with weekly 
full backups maintained at a secure offsite location.

TECHNOLOGY RISK
Technology risk is the risk of failures in systems, errors in 
the development of programmes, inadequate or inaccurate 
management information, as well as inadequate security and 
contingency planning. Technology is key to KGFT’s business 
and hence it is imperative for us to maintain disaster recovery 
polices and plans, which give guidance to operations in the 
case of disruption. These plans are tested on an annual basis 
and are adjusted in-line with changes in operations, services 
and strategy.  

COMPLIANCE RISK
Compliance risk not only exposes KGFT to fi nes, civil claims, loss 
of authorisation to operate and an ability to enforce contracts, 
but also to reputational damage.  

KGFT’s has a dedicated compliance function whose role is to 
assist management in discharging their responsibilities to comply 
with applicable regulatory requirements. The compliance function 
assists through the identifi cation, assessment, management, 
monitoring and reporting of compliance risks faced by KGFT. 
The regulatory universe is reviewed and approved on an annual 
basis and identifi es the core legislation applicable to KGFT.

LEGAL RISK
Legal risk is managed in terms of the newly devised legal 
risk management framework that is currently being drafted.  
Support activities include the monitoring of new legislation, the 
implementation of awareness initiatives and the identifi cation of 
signifi cant legal risks, together with managing and monitoring 
the impact of such risks through appropriate processes and 
procedures.

CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE
The primary focus of risk management is to identify and assess 
all risks directly associated with the project with a view to 
determine how well the project can sustain ongoing commercial 
operations and service its obligations on time and in full.

As a Development Finance Institution (DFI), the KGFT is exposed 
to credit risk in its portfolio. Credit risk constitutes the entity’s 
primary source of risk and therefore, it is required to robustly 
and effectively manage this risk. The risk is managed through 
the various stages of the credit life cycle and value chain to 
ensure that the KGFT delivers on its mandate, while remaining 
fi nancially sustainable in its project fi nance investments and 
interventions. 

KGFT’s approach to risk management is based on well-
established governance processes and includes the full 
involvement of the Board, IC and IRC, supported by policies, 
procedures and systems.

Credit risk management activities are performed at four distinct 
stages in KGFT, namely initial acceptance of the credit application, 
ISR, FAR and post-investment, guided mainly by the KGFT’s 
investment, credit and loan pricing policies, and relevant South 
African legislative and regulatory requirements. 

CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE
The investment policy sets out the basis on which investments 
that are to be made by the Fund are approved, as well as 
the procedure to be followed for the IC to make investment 
recommendations to the Board of the Fund for their fi nal approval. 
The aim of the Investment policy is to establish primarily whether 
a proposed investment meets the credit criteria set out in the 
credit policy and satisfi es the Fund’s development mandate. 

The credit policy provides a framework for the evaluation of all 
new and existing credit exposures, as well as the management, 
control and monitoring of such exposures, with the goal of 
appropriately providing a risk-reward profi le by maintaining 
credit risk exposures within acceptable and agreed parameters. 

The loan pricing policy provides the basis for calculating the 
pricing of the loans and sets in place an internal methodology 
and business process for determining the loan pricing strategy 
in relation to best practice, regulation and legislation relevant 
to the business.

INITIAL ACCEPTANCE STAGE OF THE
CREDIT APPLICATION
Risk assessment, in terms of the relevant and initial credit risk 
criteria, to determine whether the application can be considered 
for further appraisal at the next phase is conducted by the 
projects function, headed by the Executive Management. At 
this stage, KGFT does searches using Windeed, Dow Jones 
and other available risk and compliance search tools to identify 
further risks and if satisfi ed, the project is advanced to the next 
stage for further assessment.

INITIAL SCREENING REPORT (ISR) STAGE 
In terms of the Fund’s Credit Policy, credit applications that 
are deemed fundable by the projects team are subjected 
to an approval process and entails further risk assessment, 
consistent with the investment and credit policies. The Board 

has delegated the approval of initial screening reports to the 
IRC, in order to facilitate quick turnaround times and to enhance 
the competitiveness of the fund. 

FINAL APPRAISAL REPORT (FAR) STAGE 
Once the ISR has been approved by the IRC, due diligence 
reviews are performed, in order to assess the commerciality 
and sustainability of the project. The IC is responsible for 
ensuring that extensive due diligence has been done on projects 
requiring funding, and recommending projects for approval to 
the Board for fi nal approval. 

The project promoters are required to submit additional relevant 
project support information to facilitate robust appraisal 
in preparing the FAR. The FAR is submitted to the IC for 
assessment and a recommendation for approval is made by 
the IC to the Board. 

POST INVESTMENT STAGE
Portfolio management is a critical element in ensuring the 
recovery of all disbursed funds. KGFT has an effective system 
in place to identify, measure, monitor and control risk as part 
of an overall approach to risk management. 

The IC is also tasked with the duty to oversee the management 
of projects and performance after disbursements, to ensure 
that the fund has a performing portfolio.

The established credit policy provides the foundation and 
guidelines for sound portfolio management and includes, 
among other controls, the following:  
 Monitoring the compliance with facility agreements;
 Internal review of portfolio risk rating;
 Monitoring disbursed funds by means of periodic reports

from the project’s management accounts and related 
information to assess the project performance; 

 Annual review of credit portfolio and valuation of
securities held;  

 Monitoring events that may lead to payment default;
 Risk classifi cation and provisioning of loans;
 Periodic review of every stage of the credit processes, the 

credit policy, audit reviews, and loan recovery strategies.
 Frequent customer visits to obtain a clear picture of management 
and operations of the business, as well as to spot and assess 
the overall exposure to risk.

Reports on portfolio performance are submitted to the KGFT 
executives, IRC, IC and the Board for review.



THE KZN GROWTH FUND TRUST INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016/201736 THE KZN GROWTH FUND TRUST INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017 37

BUSINESS
MODEL

12

The KGFT has taken the view that in order to leverage government’s capital to maximize 
the developmental reach of its funds, it is essential to manage third party capital. To this 

end, the KGFT intends to set-up an en-commandite (or limited liability) partnership, following 
its approved evolution strategy and attract funding partners. Until such time as funding partners 

have been found, the KGFT will continue to manage its own balance sheet.

The KGFT currently manages its own capital in two internally separated funds, namely a debt and an equity 
fund. The management of the two funds are segregated by separate policies and procedures and where 

practically possible, staff as well.  The asset allocation of the KGFT determines the sizes of the respective funds, 
which are depicted in the Table below.

Sources of Funds R’m Asset Allocation                R’m

Initial Capitalisation (EDTEA) 362.5 Equity Fund 300.0

Accumulated Allocations (EDTEA) 408.0 Debt Fund 824.0

EDTEA allocation* 159.0

Capitalised Returns 194.5

Total 1124.0 Total 1 124.0

*The annual allocation from EDTEA is earmarked for project disbursements only and not operational costs.

The Breakdown of the funds into the asset classes (R300m Equity Fund and R824m Debt fund) was determined by various 
factors inter alia, considerations around minimum requirements for the establishment of a private equity fund with strategic 
institutional partners. 

Table 3.1: Asset Allocation of the KGFT’s Capital
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STRATEGY13

KGFT is a development fi nance institution in KZN with a vision 
of fi nancing growth. Its mission is to support sustainable 
growth in KZN by fi nancing private sector projects that drive 
economic success, stimulate job creation, promote B-BBEE 
and reduce inequality.

The Fund seeks to fi ll the capital gap on bankable business 
plans and commercially viable projects in a developmental way 
without taking very large stakes in the businesses and squashing 
entrepreneurial spirits. Therefore, the Fund seeks to differentiate 
itself from traditional, private equity funds in that the KZN Equity 
Fund has a developmental mandate, which it seeks to serve in 
creating jobs, sustainability of various economic sectors and 
empowerment of previously disadvantaged individuals. The 
Fund executes this strategy using two internally segregated 
funds, namely its debt and equity fund.  

ALIGNMENT TO PROVINCIAL STRATEGIES
The Fund is part of a Steering Committee set up by the EDTEA 
to facilitate strong participation of KZN Black Industrialists in 

the dti Black Industrialists Scheme. The KGFT has a key role 
to play in terms of ensuring access to funding for KZN based, 
Black Industrialists and in leveraging the national funding 
scheme and incentives.

ALIGNMENT TO PROVINCIAL GROWTH 
AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY (PGDS)
The Fund has aligned itself to the KZN PGDS through its 
mandate, mission and investment policy. The Fund is set up 
to provide project fi nance, debt funding and equity fi nance to 
projects within specifi c target sectors, in areas where gaps or 
backlogs in economic development and job creation have not 
been adequately addressed by traditional fi nancial institutions. 

The Fund seeks to align itself to 4 of the 7 strategic goals 
identifi ed in the KZN 2012-2030 PGDP, namely job creation, 
strategic infrastructure development, environmental sustainability, 
governance and policy.

“ ...Its mission is to support sustainable 
growth in KZN by financing private sector 

projects that drive economic success, 
stimulate job creation, promote B-BBEE and 

reduce inequality...

The table below shows the alignment between the PGDP goals and the Fund’s activities.

Table 3.2: Alignment of the KGFT to PGDP 

Provincial Strategic Goal Objective KGFT Alignment 

Goal 1 - Job Creation
To expand Provincial economic 
output and employment

- Enhance industrial development 
through trade investment and 
exports.

- The Fund invests in projects with a high potential 
of creating sustainable jobs in the province in major 
economic sectors i.e. Manufacturing, Tourism, Mining 
and Mineral Benefi ciation, Agro-processing, and 
Transport and Logistics 

Goal 4 - Strategic Infrastructure 
development 
To provide Infrastructure for the 
social and economic growth and 
development needs of KZN.

- Development of ICT 
Infrastructure.

- Develop and improve energy 
production and supply.

- The Fund funds projects which are infrastructure 
in nature, i.e. ICT, Telecoms, Transport & Logistics 
and Healthcare infrastructure in the province. It also 
seeks to improve energy production in the province 
by funding projects which seek to generate, transmit 
and distribute energy sources such as coal, hydro, 
wind, solar, gas, steam, bio-diesel, wave power and 
nuclear.

Goal 5 - Environmental 
Sustainability  
To reduce global greenhouse gas 
emissions and create a social-
ecological capacity to adapt to 
climate change

- Advance alternative energy 
generation and reduce reliance on 
fossil fuels.

- The Fund aligns itself by ensuring that projects being 
funded adhere to Equator Principles (the principles 
adopted by the fi nancial industry as a benchmark 
for determining, assessing and managing social and 
environmental risk in project fi nancing). The Fund 
ensures that all projects funded are in compliance 
with environmental regulations as per 
the Department of Environmental Affairs and 
Tourism. The Fund also supports alternative energy 
generation projects.

Goal 6 - Governance and Policy 
The population of KZN is satisfi ed 
with the levels of government 
service delivery

- Eradicate fraud and corruption in 
government so that it is 
corruption free

- Promote participative, facilitative 
and accountable governance

- The Fund adheres to good corporate governance, 
PFMA and King III. 

- The KGFT strives to maintain its Clean Audit record.

ALIGNMENT TO EDTEA STRATEGIC GOALS
The KGFT has aligned itself to the EDTEA 2014-2019 strategic goals, through its mandate, mission, and investment policy as follows:

Table 3.3: Alignment of the KGFT to the EDTEA 

Strategic Goals Strategic Objectives KGFT Alignment

Lead and Coordinate 
Integrated Economic 
Planning and Development.

- To facilitate the implementation of B-BBEE 
strategy and policies.

- To drive growth of the KZN
provincial economy.

- The Fund‘s investment mandate promotes 
B-BBEE by requiring a minimum of 30% BEE 
shareholding or level 4 B-BBEE in all projects it 
provides funding. 

- The Fund was initially created to fund 
projects which bring economic development in 
the province. The KGFT mandate has expanded to 
include investment of no more than 50% of funds 
under management in the rest of South Africa.

Facilitate sustainable and 
inclusive economic growth to 
ensure job creation.

- To enhance sector and industrial 
development through Trade, Investment 
and Exports Logistics, ICT, Manufacturing, 
Green economy, agri-business, Tourism, 
Creative Industries, Maritime,
Aerotropolis, Aviation.

- Development of ICT infrastructure.
- To investigate and develop viable 

alternative energy generation options.

- The Fund funds infrastructure projects in the 
following sectors; Manufacturing, ICT, Agro-
processing, Mining and Mineral Benefi ciation, 
Energy and Transport and Logistics in support of 
this objective.

Develop and Transform the 
tourism sector to achieve 
destination competitiveness

- To develop and fund the implementation of 
tourism sector specifi c products.

- The Fund supports projects in the Tourism sector 
by funding infrastructure associated with 
natural, cultural, man-made and business 
attractions. It also funds Infrastructure including 
accommodation facilities such as hotels, lodges 
and game parks.
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OUR
STAKEHOLDERS

14
KGFT recognises that managing relationships with its various stakeholders is key for the effective execution of its mandate and to 
ensure the long-term sustainability of the Fund. KGFT interacts regularly with its stakeholder groups, in order to understand and 
respond to legitimate stakeholder concerns.

Table 4.1: KGFT Stakeholder engagement 

Stakeholder 
Group

Stakeholder opportunity Engagement Methods What we engage on Link to 
Strategic 
Objectives

Provincial 
Government

- To facilitate the alignment 
of KGFT’s objectives with 
government priorities

- To monitor performance and 
report on activities 

- Regular meetings with the
MEC: EDTEA

- Quarterly performance reporting 
- EDTEA representatives attend 

KGFT Board meetings
- Presentations to EDTEA and KZN 

Finance Portfolio Committee
- KGFT’s Corporate Plan and 

Annual Performance Plan

- KGFT’s developmental role
- Strategy and long-term 

sustainability
- Financial performance
- Carrying out of the mandate

A, B, D

Clients 
(Existing and 
prospective)

- To understand client needs
- Enhance Developmental 

impact
- Attract funding opportunities
- Inform clients of how to 

apply for funding 

- Client meetings
- Marketing Campaigns
- Roadshows
- Website
- Business Networking
- KGFT’s Audio Visual 
- Brochures
- Social Media
- Transaction tombstones

- Client needs (funding and 
non-funding support)

- Job creation
- Perceptions and 

expectations
- Environmental impact

C, D

Employees - To understand and respond 
to staff needs and concerns

- To align employees’ work 
with the corporate strategy 
and performance targets

- To create an inclusive 
environment where employees 
feel valued and committed

- Regular staff meetings
- Identifi cation of training and 

development needs 
- Performance Reviews
- Presentations and workshops
- Employee wellness initiatives
- Employee Climate surveys

- KGFT’s strategy
- Internal developments
- Financial performance
- Development and Training
- Internal policies and 

procedures and any
changes thereto 

- Performance Management
- Employee Code of Conduct

A, D

Suppliers - To ensure timeous, cost 
effective procurement of 
goods and services from 
quality suppliers

- Meetings with suppliers
- Advertisement of Bids/Tenders
- KGFT’s website

- Supplier performance
- KGFT’s procurement practises 

(including the prioritisation 
of B-BBEE suppliers)

- Service Level Agreements/
Contracts/Engagement 
letters

A, D

Strategic 
Partners, 
Industry 
Bodies 
and other 
government 
business 
enterprises

- To increase the exposure and 
market presence of the Fund 
through strategic interaction.

- Roadshows
- Business Breakfasts
- Participation/involvement in 

industry bodies and business 
associations

- Memorandum of
Understanding with 

- Advertising
- Brochures

- Understanding KGFT’s 
mandate and developmental 
role in KZN

B, C, D

Media - To enhance KGFT’s reputation 
as the Financier of choice in 
the KZN Province

- Direct engagement with Media 
(interviews/media briefi ngs)

- Print Media

- Changes and updates to 
KGFT’s business offering 

- Success 

A, B, C, D

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
A: To maintain sound corporate governance and an unqualifi ed audit opinion.
B: To utilise government capital to leverage off institutional/private investor’s capital, so as to grow the assets under management.
C: To identify and fi nance viable private sector projects that maximise the development impact of KGFT’s investments.
D: To remain fi nancially sustainable by fully committing available funds under management and ensuring appropriate post-

investment Management.
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REPORT ON PERFORMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017ANNUAL 
PERFORMANCE 
REPORT

15
Programme / Sub programme / 
Performance Indicator

Objectives Reporting 
Period 

Annual Target for 
2016/17 as per the APP

Annual Actual for 
2016/17 

Programme 1: Finance and Administration

1.1  Sub-Programme Name: Offi ce of the CEO

1.1.1 To obtain and maintain an 
unqualifi ed audit opinion with 
no matters of emphasis

Maintain external unqualifi ed 
audit opinion with no matters 
of emphasis

Annually Achieve a clean audit 
report for the 2015/16 
fi nancial year end

Achieved a clean 
audit report for 
the 2015/16 
fi nancial year end

1.1.2 Grow the assets under 
management by the Trust

% Growth in the Fund size
(current Fund size R1bn)

Annually Equal to or more than 
CPI as at 31 March 2017 
(6.3%)

12.44%

1.2  Sub-Programme Name: Financial Administration

1.2.1 % procurement spend on 
targeted B-BBBEE suppliers 
(procurement spend on 
targeted suppliers level 4 
and below/total procurement 
spend from rateable suppliers)

To provide effective and 
transparent fi nancial 
management systems.

Annual 75% of procurement 
from suppliers with a 
BEE level of 4 and below 
and/or 20% of total 
spend on entities with 
women ownership

86%

1.2.2 Solvency Ratios (total assets/
total liabilities)

Quarterly 1:1 703.69: 1

1.2.3 Liquidity Ratio (current 
assets/current liabilities)

Quarterly 1:1 270.39: 1

Programme 2: Project Investments

2.1  Sub-Programme Name: Project origination and appraisal

2.1.1 Estimated (direct/indirect) 
job opportunities to be 
supported or created

Contribution to socio-economic 
development

Annual 170 2 318

2.1.2. % of disbursed projects 
meeting B-BBEE investment 
policy criteria (no of projects 
meeting the B-BBEE 
criteria/total no. of projects 
disbursed)

Quarterly 100% of projects 
meeting B-BBEE 
investment policy criteria

100% of projects 
meeting B-BBEE 
investment policy 
criteria

2.2  Sub-Programme Name: Project Disbursements

2.2.1 Rand Value of Projects 
disbursed

Fully commit all available funds 
to viable projects

Annual Disbursement of 30% 
of available capital 
during the year (target 
calculated as R170m)

R330.5m

2.3 Sub-Programme Name: Aftercare

2.3.1 To maintain at least 70% 
of performing loans in the 
portfolio (Value of loans 
performing / total value of 
loans)(Debt)

To ensure appropriate 
portfolio management and 
aftercare is being performed, 
so as to strive toward good 
asset quality and long term 
sustainable growth of the Trust

Quarterly At least 70% 
performance loans 
within the total loan 
portfolio

90% performing 
loans within 
the total loan 
portfolio

2.3.2 At the time of valuation of 
the investment portfolio, the 
valuation reductions should 
be less than or equal to 35% 
of the cost of the portfolio. 
(Equity)

Quarterly At least 65% of 
the total cost of the 
investment portfolio to 
be maintained based on 
annual valuations and 
provision

100% of the 
total cost of 
investments in 
the portfolio 
maintained (due 
to construction 
phase and 
valuation not 
applicable)
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FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

16
While we had set-out to achieve a net profi t of R67.7m this year, we recorded a profi t of R65.4m. This was largely attributable to 
achieving the target set for revenue and keeping the expenditure in line with the budgeted amount. The revised funding model, 
approved by the MEC in April 2015, will ensure that the Trust continues in its growth trajectory in the 2017/18 fi nancial year 
going forward.

Key Performance Measures

Rand 2017 2016 % Change

Profi tability

Interest Income 103 003 980 128 714 899 (20%)

Raising fee 2 086 366 - 100%

Interest paid (133 018) (1 250 424) (89%)

Other Income 3 846 904 59 558 6359%

Fair value gains or (losses) (4 198 839) 5 250 564 (180%)

Provision of provision for doubtful debts (6 434 549) (19 286 073) (67%)

Operating expenses (32 740 766) (29 743 344) (10%)

Assets

Cash and investment deposits 354 794 386 560 699 100 (37%)

Loans and advances

New loans and advanced 172 079 746 120 000 000 43%

Repayments (56 603 036) (48 238 485) 17%

Gross loans and advances 645 780 653 481 387 300 34%

Provision for impairments (25 720 622) (19 286 073) 34%

Net loans and advances 620 060 031 462 101 227 34%

Provision for impairments as a % of gross loans & advances 4% 4%

Non-performing loans and advances 67 322 315 67 641 000 -

Total Assets 1 225 761 769 1 125 715 133 9%

Liabilities

Provisions, accruals and other liabilities 1 744 452 4 511 349 (61%)

Total Liabilities 1 744 452 4 511 349 (61%)

Ratios

Total Liabilities to Total Assets 0,00 0,00

Current Assets to Current liabilities 270,39 138,30

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders 1 224 017 316 1 089 988 399 12%

Operations 

No. of employees 18 18

Previously disadvantaged South Africans 16 15

No. of females 10 12
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ECONOMIC VALUE ADD STATEMENT
KGFT contributed value to the local economy and created wealth for its stakeholders for the current 

and previous reporting periods as follows:

CONTRIBUTING VALUE 
TO THE ECONOMY

17

Rands 2016 2017                            

Interest income 103 003 980 128 714 899

Raising fee 2 086 366 -

Other income 3 846 901 59 558

Fair value gains - 5 250 564

Direct economic Value generated 108 937 250 134 025 020

To suppliers in payments of operating expenses 9 009 450 1 250 424

To employees 22 679 854 19 992 834

To providers of Funds - -

Other interest paid 133 018 8 335 046

Unemployment insurance Fund 76 296 66 038

Skills development levies 219 889 160 087

Property rates and taxes 117 475 107 861

Economic value distributed 32 235 983 29 912 290

Accumulated profi t 76 701 267 98 862 166

Provision for doubtful debts (6 434 549) (19 286 073)

Depreciation and amortisation 637 800 1 081 478

Economic value retained for expansion growth 69 628 917 78 494 616

Economic value added during the year is represented by payments made to employees and service providers, amounting to R22m 
(2016: R19m) and R11m (2016: R8m) respectively. 

KGFT is committed to promoting economic growth through applying the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 5 of 
2000 (PPPFA) regulations when appointing service providers. This includes the need for bidding service providers to be B-BBEE 
compliant, as part of the selection criteria. 

The KGFT procures goods and services from consultants, contractors and other suppliers, mainly through open tenders. The fi gure 
below refl ects expenditure during the year under review by service category.

The KGFT also promotes the procurement of goods and services from KZN based service providers. About 95% of the procurement 
spend in the year under review, was to KZN based suppliers.

2016/17 Operational Expenditure Split

Audit 
fees and 

professional 
fees

20 000 000

25 000 000

15 000 000

10 000 000

5 000 000

0
Bank 
and 

other 
fi nance 
charges

Depreciation 
and 

Amortisation

Committee 
fees 

Personnel 
expenses

Legal fees Rent paid Telecommunications Other 
advisory 

fees

Project 
technical 
appraisal 

and

Marketing 
Costs

Insurance Other 
expenses

GRAPH 5.1: 2016/17 OPERATION EXPENDITURE SPLIT
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The current portfolio as at 31 March 2017 consists of 10 
projects, which have either been disbursed, or committed to. 
The committed and/or disbursed funding have resulted in the 
creation of up to 14 000 job opportunities.

APPROVED FUNDING
In the year under review, the Fund approved funding amounting 
to R319m for four projects in the healthcare, telecommunications 
and manufacturing sectors. Each of these projects contribute 
key socio-economic benefi ts for the Province and the country, 
in line with the Fund’s mandate. The key elements of social and 
economic development of these projects can be summarised 
as follows:
 Economic empowerment through the creation of

black industrialists
 Creation of more than 2 318 direct/4 798 indirect

employment opportunities 

 Reducing inequalities by bringing essential economic and 
social infrastructure to communities who previously had 
little or no access

 Development of skills and enterprises during the construction 
of the funded infrastructure

 Stimulation of economic activity in related industry
value chains

 Improved health and life expectancy through products that 
support the government programs on HIV/AIDS

As an alternative tool for measuring the development impact of 
KGFT’s investment activities, the Fund uses the Development 
Bank of Southern Africa’s developed, Social Accounting Matrix 
(SAM). The SAM model estimates the direct, indirect and 
induced development impact of all investment activities on 
the economy, and estimates the related economic and socio-
economic impacts. 

SOCIO-ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT

18

“In the year under review, the Fund approved 
funding amounting to R319m for four projects in the 
healthcare, telecommunications and manufacturing 

sectors. Each of these projects contribute key 
socio-economic benefits for the Province and the 

country, in line with the Fund’s mandate...

INDICATOR VALUE

SA ECONOMY KZN ECONOMY

Impact on Total Economy (R’m)

Contribution to GDP 702.7 457.7

Contribution to government revenue 214.8 120.2

Contribution to balance of payments 328.1 196.2

Job Opportunities (Number)*

Average annual employment 4 798 3 650

Impact on skilled labour 1 090 599

Impact on semi-skilled labour 2 725 2 286

Impact on unskilled labour 982 765

Impact on labour during construction 3 830 2 444

Impact on labour during operations 4 607 3 527

Impact on Households (R’m)

Total income households 463.3 255.2

Low-income households 76.6 43.3

Medium-income households 94.6 60.9

High-income households 291.9 151.0

*Indicates both direct and indirect job opportunities to be created within the value chain associated with the project.

From above, KGFT’s investment activities during the 2016/17 
year alone have potential to create 4 798 job opportunities 
nationwide. The creation of employment opportunities directly 
addresses poverty alleviation and food security in households.

THE DTI’S BLACK
INDUSTRIALISTS SCHEME
The KGFT is a key stakeholder in the implementation of the 
DTI’s Black Industrialists Scheme. The KGFT fully supports the 
initiative, whose principles are deeply aligned with the mandate 
of the KGFT.  To this end, the KGFT has engaged with the DTI 
during the planning of the Programme implementation and 
has been subsequently appointed to sit, by invitation, on the 
national Financing Forum with other developmental funding 
institutions, to evaluate co-funding opportunities on the scheme.

At the provincial level, the KGFT is part of a Steering Committee 
set up by the EDTEA department to develop a policy and 
framework for the implementation of a KZN focused scheme to 

develop, support and promote KZN-based Black Industrialists.  
The KGFT will play a key role, in partnership with other EDTEA 
entities, in addressing funding challenges faced by Black 
Industrialists.  The KGFT will play a key role, in partnership with 
other EDTEA entities, in addressing funding challenges faced 
by Black Industrialists.  This will have huge socio-economic 
benefi ts and unlock industrial potential, whilst changing the 
pattern of ownership and control.

The following investee companies have also received additional 
grant funding from the DTI’s Black Industrialists Scheme Funding:
1. iDube Cold Storage – R23m
2. Microfi nish – R13m

The application for funding for an additional project, Inoxa (Pty) 
Ltd is currently being appraised by the DTI.

The details of each of the projects approved for funding are 
presented in the following case studies.

The estimated national and provincial macro-economic and distributional impact generated by funding approved by the Fund 
during the 2016/17 fi nancial year, is summarised below.

Table 5.1: Estimated Macro-Economic and Distributional Impact Financial Year 2016/17
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CASE STUDIES
IDUBE COLD STORAGE (PTY) LTD 

MICROFINISH

INOXA INDUSTRIES (PTY) LTD

KGFT advanced R63.4m to iDube Cold Storage (Pty) Ltd to 
part-fi nance the development of a cold storage facility within 
Dube Trade Port.  The cold store is a multi-temperature facility, 

catering for both chilled and frozen perishable products. Due 
to its location, at Dube Trade Port, the facility will also handle 
both inbound and outbound cargo.

The project has been developed in response to the need for 
new and improved cold storage infrastructure within the 
Durban area. There is currently insuffi cient cold storage space 
in Durban, in the face of fast-growing demand. 

The project will increase cold storage capacity, in addition to 
contributing greatly to the socio-economic development of 
the Province and the country at large. It will serve a variety of 
industries and needs, but its primary benefi ciary is expected 
to be the fruit industry, which is currently a multi-billion Rand 
export industry in the country. The project is progressing well 
and offi cially starts operation in April 2017.

Microfi nish is a 100% black owned, automotive component 
manufacturer based in the industrial hub of Pinetown, KwaZulu-
Natal. The company is a niche supplier of automotive, marine, 
locomotive, and aerospace valve guides and valve seat insets 
to Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEM) and aftermarket 
customers. Microfi nish is the only South African manufacturer 
of these products. The majority of its products are exported, 
mainly to Europe, with international customers placing high 

reliance on the precision, consistent high quality, and good 
customer service that the company is renowned for.

The current owners acquired the then struggling business in 
2012 and inherited old equipment, which was costly to run and 
was limited in speed and capacity. A process of re-establishing 
the company’s reputation and customer relationships has been 
ongoing over the last few years, culminating in Microfi nish 
approaching the KZN Growth Fund to fi nance the next step in its 
growth towards the purchase of additional modern equipment 
and business expansion.

The KZN Growth Fund has approved a senior loan facility 
towards the expansion project. This will create an additional 
40 new jobs to add to Microfi nish’s current staff compliment 
of about 125 employees. The KZN Growth Fund is proud to be 
associated with Microfi nish, by supporting an emerging black 
industrialist operating in a niche global industry. This project 
will also support various government initiatives to localize 
technology innovation and to localize the manufacturing of 
critical components used in the automotive industry.

Inoxa Industries, an emerging industrialist, seized the window 
of opportunity to manufacture a diverse range of stainless steel 
products for both the African market and many other parts of 

the world. To achieve this, Inoxa has purchased an existing 
Turkey-based manufacturing plant from Ikra Group, for R150m. 
Ikra has been in the cookware manufacturing business for the 
past 46 years and supplies its products to 47 different countries. 

The project entails the design, construction, installation, 
commissioning, operation and maintenance of the pot 
manufacturing plant in KwaZulu-Natal. Once the purchase 
has been fi nalised, Ikra SA will acquire a 20% stake in Inoxa. 
In addition, Ikra Group will be the main off-taker of the plant’s 
production output. The acquisition also entails the disassembly 
and shipment of the plant to South Africa, as well as training 
and upskilling of new employees – a much needed job-creating 
initiative in the province. The syndicated funding for the project 
was mandated to KGFT, to obtain both equity and debt funding 
through its lead arranger role.



THE KZN GROWTH FUND TRUST INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016/201752 THE KZN GROWTH FUND TRUST INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017 53

This report is presented by the Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee (the HR&REMCO) and describes 
how the committee has discharged its duties in respect of the 
2016/17 fi nancial year.

MANDATE OF THE COMMITTEE
The HR&REMCO has an independent oversight and advisory 
role. The HR Committee operates in accordance with a 
Board-approved mandate and is governed by a formal term 
of reference, which have been approved by the Board of 
Trustees and is regularly reviewed. The HR&REMCO can utilise 
the services of independent advisors on specialist matters
as required.

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The HR&REMCO currently comprises three independent 
non-executive members, and is chaired by an independent 
member. The remaining two members are Trustees on the 
Board. The composition of the HR&REMCO consist of members 
with the qualifi cations and experience necessary to fulfi l the 

responsibilities of the committee. The Executive Management of 
the KGFT are invited to attend committee meetings. A quorum 
for meetings is the majority of members being present.

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS
The HR&REMCO met four times during the period under review. 
Details of attendance at meetings are included in section 20 
(Corporate Governance) of the integrated annual report.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES
OF THE COMMITTEE
The HR&REMCO is responsible for all matters relating to the 
Human resources functions within the KGFT environment. A 
detailed work plan was formally adopted to ensure the effective 
functioning of the HR&REMCO. These responsibilities include:

 Ensuring that Executive management are adequately informed 
of best practice in human resource management;

 Assisting the Board in ensuring that the KGFT remunerates 
its employees fairly and responsibly and that the disclosure 
of remuneration is accurate, complete and transparent, and 

MS THELMA NGCOBO 
CHAIRMAN: HUMAN RESOURCES & 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

in accordance with the laws and regulations applicable to 
the KGFT;

 Overseeing the establishment of a remuneration strategy, 
which promotes the achievement of the KGFT’s strategic 
objectives and encourages individual performance;

 Evaluating the performance of the CEO, together with the 
Chairman of the Board, in determining his/her remuneration/
performance bonus;

 Performing a review of the employee engagement evaluation; 
 Overseeing employment equity and other human capital 
statutory reports; and

 Exercising oversight of matters related to human resource 
management and succession planning.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE HR 
COMMITTEE DURING THE YEAR
During the year under review, the HR&REMCO:
 Reviewed the HR strategy of the KGFT;
 Advised on the HR implementation model;
 Approved the grading and salary benchmarking for all positions 
within the entity;

 Exercised oversight over salary increases, performance & 
retention bonuses (refer to note 16.2 for disclosure of Executive 
remuneration);

 Reviewed various KGFT policies;
 Set, in conjunction with the CEO and the Chairman of the 
Board, the CEO’s key performance indicators (KPIs) and 
carried out the necessary review of performance against 
the set KPIs;

 Performed a review of the KGFT organogram;
 Had oversight of the KGFT’s employment equity reporting;
 Reviewed the KGFT’s reward and recognition strategy, and
 Exercised oversight of matters related to human resource 
management and succession planning.

The HR&REMCO is satisfi ed that it has, during the past fi nancial 
year, met its responsibilities as stipulated in its terms of reference 
and that it has complied with all its legal, regulatory and
other responsibilities.

REMUNERATION STRATEGY
AND POLICY
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the remuneration 
policy. The KGFT’s remuneration strategy is aimed at attracting, 
motivating, and retaining competent and talented leaders and 
staff, in order to ensure that its business remains sustainable. 
Remuneration levels are infl uenced by the scarcity of skills and 
work performance.

A performance based incentive scheme is in place and has 
been rolled out to all levels of the KGFT to acknowledge the 
contribution of individual employees by rewarding them for 
exceptional performance. KPIs are identifi ed and agreed between 
each staff member and his/her immediate superior and his/
her performance is measured against these agreed indicators. 
Individuals’ KPIs are linked to the KGFT’s KPIs as a means of 
ensuring that the KGFT achieves its objectives. A reward and 
recognition programme has also been implemented.

Remuneration packages are benchmarked to similar positions 
in the industry to ensure that they are fair and competitive.

MS T NGCOBO
CHAIRMAN: HUMAN RESOURCES AND

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

“A performance based incentive 
scheme is in place and has been 
rolled out to all levels of the KGFT 

to acknowledge the contribution of 
individual employees by rewarding 

them for exceptional performance...

REPORT OF THE HUMAN
RESOURCES AND 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

19
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OPERATIONAL 
EXCELLENCE 

20
As at the end of the fi nancial year, the KGFT employed 21 
employees with 17 permanent employees and 4 contract 
employees. During the 2016/17 fi nancial year, the KGFT 
appointed 9 new employees, and 6 employees left employment. 
The representation of the KGFT’s workforce is demonstrated in 
the graph above. The Composition of MANCO is demonstrated 
as follows:

REMUNERATION REPORT
For KGFT to achieve its mandate, the organisation is committed 
to a remuneration philosophy that:

 Supports the execution of the mandate and business strategy.
 Promotes good governance and risk management.
 Aligns its policies, procedures and practices with best practice, 
and legislation (the PFMA, and King III, in particular).

 Motivates and reinforces performance at all levels (organisational, 
functional and individual).

KGFT’s application of its remuneration philosophy aims to meet 
the strategic objectives of:
 Aiming to be competitive in specifi c labour markets in order 
to attract, retain and motivate key and talented people.

 Determining the value proposition of the various job levels 
required by KGFT.

 Ensuring that the hybrid of performance and competency 
management forms an integral part of remuneration, thereby 
infl uencing the remuneration components of base pay
and incentives.

 Payment being fair, appropriately structured and competitively 
remunerated.

 Applying good governance to remuneration practices within 
approved structures.

 Supporting KGFT’s culture as embedded in its values.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
The Board is committed to attracting, motivating, managing and 
retaining employees of the highest calibre for KGFT through 
the payment of fair, appropriately structured and competitive 

remuneration packages. KGFT recognises a mix of both 
competitiveness and performance in its remuneration structure.

The remuneration packages for the Employees are divided 
into fi xed and variable components, including short-term 
performance incentives. KGFT is currently implementing a 
long-term incentive scheme which will seek to ensure that 
KGFT’s ultimate long-term delivery outcomes are achieved.

GUARANTEED PACKAGES
All employees, including Executives, receive a guaranteed package 
(GP) based on their roles and responsibilities. Contribution to 
retirement and medical benefi ts are included in the GP. 

The HR&REMCO reviews the CEO’s remuneration and makes 
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

All employees, including Executives, receive a guaranteed 
package (GP) based on their roles and responsibilities. 

The HR&REMCO reviews the CEO’s remuneration and makes 
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

KGFT provides a range of benefi ts to employees over and above 
their guaranteed remuneration packages. Key benefi ts include 
risk benefi ts, study assistance for employees, annual leave, sick 
leave, as well as maternity and paternity leave.

Increases in GP for employees are based on a review of market 
data, viz. the consideration of individual performance and 
potential, and the business priorities of KGFT.

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES
All employees, including Executives, participate in a yearly 
short-term incentive plan. Bonus payments are discretionary and 
depend on business performance and individual contribution. 

Employee performance is measured against pre-determined 
goals, as approved by the Board.

RETENTION PAYMENTS
Following the fi nalisation of the corporate strategy during the 
last fi nancial year, the Board approved the implementation of 
a retention incentive policy, which is now in place.

This is aimed at ensuring that critical skills are maintained within 
KGFT, providing stability in the organisation.  

Details of the remuneration of Executive Management are 
refl ected in the notes to the AFS.

TALENT MANAGEMENT DRIVE
KGFT has developed a strategic framework for the management 
of talent within the organisation, in order to ensure that the 
right people with the right skills are in the right roles at the 
right time to deliver on KGFT’s Three-Year Corporate Plan. 

HUMAN CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

GRAPH 6.1: KGFT WORKFORCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2017

KZN Growth Fund Trust Workforce - As At 31 March 2017
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GRAPH 6.2: KGFT MANCO AS AT 31 MARCH 2017
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“As at the end of the financial year, the KGFT 

employed 21 employees with 17 permanent 
employees and 4 contract employees. During the 
2016/17 financial year, the KGFT appointed 9 new 

employees, and 6 employees left employment...
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This aspect is governed by an approved Talent Management 
Framework, which identifi es mission-critical positions and a 
succession plan to be followed, to adequately manage the 
risks associated with staff movement and development in
the organisation.

ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE
A move towards a “transparent” culture has been adopted by 
KGFT, by way of keeping MANCO members and other staff 
members abreast of all developments within the organisation 
in the form of quarterly newsletters, regular staff feedback 
meetings and fortnightly MANCO meetings. Invitations are 
extended to all MANCO members to the annual Strategic 
Planning sessions to create awareness of KGFT’s strategic 
plan on all levels. 

Furthermore, MANCO has also been directly involved in the 
creation of the Corporate Plan, as well as the Annual Performance 
Plan to enable understanding and follow-through of the 
organisations objectives, as outlined in these documents. 
Further organisational transparency is enforced by KGFT’s 
subscription to “Whistleblowers”, in an effort to ensure the 
availability of anonymous reporting methods for instances of 
suspected occupational fraud.

PERFORMANCE MONITORING
The Performance Management Policy has been reinforced to 
enable recognition and rewarding of excellent achievements 
within the organisation. Training and development measures, 
as well as on-the-job coaching is provided to employees to 
enable and encourage greater performance standards on 
an employee level, and inevitably, impacting on the overall 
performance of the organisation. 

Our culture of open and honest dialogue promotes immediate and 
direct performance feedback between the manager, employee 
and team, to help individuals identify performance gaps and 
address development needs more accurately and effectively.

EMPLOYEE WELLNESS
During the reporting period, various interventions were 
implemented, which were aimed at working towards employee 
wellbeing in the categories of fi nancial, emotional, physical and 
psychological wellbeing. The KGFT has outsourced the function to 
an independent leading professional fi rm in the area of expertise. 
The services include various interventions that promote the well-
being of employees, and has been successfully implemented 
during the year. During this fi nancial year, additional benefi ts 
were included in the suite of services available to employees, 
such as musculoskeletal health management.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY REPORT
Information Technology (IT) remains a critical enabler of the 
KGFT’s strategy and overall organisational performance. In 
this regard, the KGFT has placed emphasis and focus on the 
governance of IT, in line with good corporate governance and 
King III principles.  The KGFT’s Board is ultimately responsible 
for ensuring that there is effective IT governance in place, 
including the alignment of the IT strategy to the KGFT’s 
strategic objectives.  Responsibilities of the Board are executed 
through the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), through which, 
have been delegated the authority to oversee the successful 
implementation of the KGFT’s IT governance framework.  IT 
forms an integral part of the KGFT’s risk management, and 
ARC considers the impact of IT on fi nancial controls, as part 
of the organisation’s audit plan.

The KGFT’s EXCO provides regular updates to the ARC on the 
status of signifi cant IT initiatives, in addition to other governance-
related issues.  Amongst the IT governance imperatives, the 
KGFT has ensured that periodic Disaster Recovery (DR) tests 
are conducted timeously. The KGFT will continue to review 
and improve the overall DR solution in the future. The overall 
IT security posture of the KGFT has also received due focus, 
with continuous improvement initiatives being rolled out during 
the year, together with the provision of IT security awareness 
training to the business.

During the past year, the KGFT has made signifi cant investments 
in refreshing and upgrading its hardware infrastructure, together 
with critical business systems. The procurement of a Financial 
Fund Model is currently underway. The implementation of the 
model is expected to be completed by December 2017.

With the planned IT development and rollout of a new enterprise, 
architecture as envisaged in the IT Strategy, IT is well placed 
to enable the KGFT to both exceed stakeholders’ expectations 
and to ultimately contribute towards the realisation of strategies 
of the KGFT, in achieving its mandate. 

MARKETING REPORT
During the 2016/17 fi nancial year, KGFT continued with the 
implementation of its marketing strategy that was developed 
in the previous fi nancial year. The strategy included the KGFT’s 
short, medium and long-term marketing requirements, ultimately 
aimed at re-profi ling the organization and repositioning the 
KGFT corporate Brand.

In 2015/16, KGFT undertook the branding exercise to introduce 
the KGFT as an equity fi nancier to the market. This exercise 
was concluded towards the end of the 2016/17 fi nancial year 
with signifi cant traction being realised in terms of mobilising 
and repositioning the brand as “Inspired Investing”, thereby 
clearly defi ning the niche market and product offering of “Project 
Finance, Structured Debt and Equity Finance”. The outcome 
of the marketing and brand strategy project has improved the 
quantity and quality of projects received by the KGFT. The new 
product offering has unlocked deals, resulting in an increase 
in deal fl ow activity.

The brand mobilisation comprised active participation in 
events that show-cased entities within EDTEA, attendance 
of high profi le local and global networking events, which was 
complemented by advertising, which included advertorials and 
advertising at the airport. 

The synergies identifi ed between EDTEA entities were effected 
during the current fi nancial year. The collaborative relationship 
with Trade & Investment KZN (“TIKZN”) resulted in national 
roadshows which included the CEO positioning KZN as an 
investment destination.  The relationships forged during the 
year with TIKZN, Richards Bay IDZ and Dube Trade Port, 
resulted in improved collaborative efforts in projects fi nanced 
during the year.

The momentum attained in terms of the Marketing activities 
will continue into the next fi nancial year, with the focus being 
on entrenching our product and position in the market, thereby 
driving our vision “To be KZN’s leading development fi nancier 
and impact investor”. 

INTERNSHIP PROGRAMME

Promise Shabane was raised in the South Coast.  After matriculating, 
Promise went on to obtain a Diploma in Finance and Accounting 
from the Mangosuthu University of Technology.  

‘With all the information and practical experience gained from the 
Finance Department of the KGFT, it is my hope that these tools 
will unlock many doors in my life.  Being a part of the Internship 
Programme at KGFT has provided me with a new hope for the 
future. I am grateful to all the staff at the KGFT for supporting me 
with this great opportunity.’

Sijabulile Ntshangase was raised in Umlazi township.  After 
matriculating, Sijabulile completed a BCOM in Financial Management 
at the University of South Africa. 

‘Being part of the Internship Programme in the Projects Department 
of the KGFT has been an eye opener and wonderful experience. 
It has enabled me to put my academic knowledge into practice 
and provided me with the opportunity to participate in bringing 
a meaningful development impact to the KwaZulu-Natal province 
through creation of jobs, improving access to products and services 
and growing the province’s economy. This exposure has also begun 
to shape and improve my business and entrepreneurial skills.’ 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
Actual training spending for the year amounted to R0.45m. In addition to these interventions, many other training exercises were 
undertaken as pro bono customer service initiatives from KGFT service providers, as follows:
 Employment Equity Training (Department of Labour)
 Fraud Training (Whistleblowers)
 King IV (PWC, Deloitte & BDO Spencer)
 IFRS (Ernst & Young)
 Integrated Reporting (CIMA)
 BEE Codes (Nolands Advisory)

SIJABULILE NTSHANGASE

PROMISE SHABANE
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

21

“The Board is responsible for setting and 
formulating economic, social and 

environmental direction through strategic 
objectives and key policies, major plans of action, 

its risk policy, annual budgets and business plans...

APPLICATION OF 
GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
KGFT strives for the overarching governance principles of 
accountability, fairness, transparency and responsibility. 
The KGFT is established in terms of a Trust Deed, which is
legally governed by the Trust Property Control Act, 57 of 
1998. The Trust Deed determines the mandate of the KGFT. 
Historically, the entity was neither a Company nor a listed 
Public Entity, in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 
1 of 1999 (PFMA). When the Debt Fund was set up in 2008, 
it was deemed not to be a PFMA entity by virtue of private 
sector lenders’ facilities being more than 50 per cent of the size 
of the Fund, as well as the fact that some of the decisions at 
a governance level needed to be made through consultation 
between the lenders and government. 

However, the Board elected to comply with the PFMA as a 
schedule 3D Public Entity (government business enterprise). In 
terms of the new funding model, the KGFT will be deemed to be 
a PFMA entity and has therefore begun the process of listing as 
a public entity with National Treasury. KGFT endorses King III 
and has endeavoured to adhere to the recommendations thereof 

as far as possible. KGFT is also aligned with and supports all the 
relevant legislation in South Africa that applies to its activities. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND 
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
In line with section 52 of the PFMA, KGFT submitted a 
Shareholder Compact and Corporate Plan to the EDTEA for the 
2016/17 fi nancial year. This serves as an agreement between 
KGFT and the benefi ciary and documents the key performance 
measures and targets against which organisational performance 
is assessed. The Board reports on performance and related 
matters to the benefi ciary by way of quarterly reports, and 
regular meetings are held between the Board Chairman, the 
CEO and the MEC.

Based on the Corporate Plan, the Board sets KGFT’s strategic 
objectives and determines its performance criteria. Management 
is then charged with the detailed planning and implementation 
of those objectives, within appropriate risk parameters.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES
The Board takes overall responsibility for directing KGFT towards 
achievement of its strategic objectives, vision and mission, as 
well as the KGFT’s overall performance. 

The Board is governed by the Trust Deed, which records its 
objective to provide responsible business leadership and details 
duties of individual Trustees in the course of discharging their 
duties. In addition to the Trust Deed, the Board operates in 
terms of an approved Board Charter which sets out the Board’s 
role and responsibilities, as well as the requirements for its 
composition and meeting procedures. The Board considers 
the charter as a living document, updated periodically to align 
with changes required by relevant legislation and regulation. 

The Board has a diverse mix of skills, expertise and experience, 
which is required to meet KGFT’s strategic objectives. This 
includes, but is not limited to, appropriate legal, banking, project 
fi nance, private equity, Governance, human resources, quantity 
surveying, infrastructure and development project fi nance, and 
governance experience and expertise.

The Board is responsible for setting and formulating economic, 
social and environmental direction through strategic objectives 
and key policies, major plans of action, its risk policy, annual 
budgets and business plans. It ensures that the EDTEA’s 
performance objectives are achieved through the implementation 
of structured reporting systems, which are used to monitor 
performance.

BOARD STRUCTURE
AND COMPOSITION
The Board comprises of seven Trustees, comprising of six 
independent Trustees, appointed by the MEC: EDTEA and 
the CEO who is a Trustee by virtue of his position. In making 
the appointments of the Independent Trustees, the MEC takes 
into consideration gender and demographic representation, 
KZN representation, as well as the appropriate collective skills 
required by the Board. The roles of the Chairperson and CEO 
are separately held to ensure a clear division of duties. The 
Board are expected to keep themselves abreast of changes and 
trends in the business environment and markets, which shall 
include changes and trends in the economic, political, social, 
technology and legal climate generally. The Board holds at least 
4 meetings per year, as well as a strategic planning session. 
Special meetings are convened as required.

Following the end of term of the outgoing Board EDTEA, the 
benefi ciary of the KGFT, EDTEA, appointed a new Board of 
Trustees in December 2016. Their appointment became effective 
on 12 December 2016, following registration of the change by 
the Master’s Offi ce of the High Court. The handover process 
was undertaken in October 2016 and the new Board Members 
had an induction session in January 2017. The outgoing Board 
had served a three-year term. 

Name Position Number of years’ 
service

Board Meetings Held Attendance at Board 
Meetings

In-Coming Board (12 December 2016 to 31 March 2017):

Ms Dudu Hlatshwayo Chairman 3 years, 2 months 5 5

Mr Siddiq Adam Trustee/CEO 3 years, 2 months (as a 
Trustee)

5 5

Mr Siphile Buthelezi Trustee 3 months 5 5

Mr Ashvir Dhuki Trustee 3 months 5 5

Ms Noluthando Radebe Trustee 3 months 5 4

Ms Bongekile Zulu Trustee 3 months 5 4

Mr Khaya Thango Trustee 3 months 5 5

Outgoing Board (1 April 2016 to 30 October 2016):

Ms Dudu Hlatshwayo Chairman 3 years, 2 months 6 6

Mr Siddiq Adam Trustee/CEO 3 years, 2 months 
(as a Trustee)

6 6

Mr Helge Switala Deputy Chairman 2 years, 9 months 6 6

Ms Delia Jay Trustee 2 years, 9 months 6 6

Mr Imtiaz Vally Trustee 2 years, 9 months 6 6

Ms Phumzile Langeni Trustee 2 years, 9 months 6 6

The table below details the Board of Trustees, the number of years’ service and attendance at the 2016/17 Board meetings.
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BOARD EFFECTIVENESS 
ASSESSMENT
King III requires that the performance of the Board, its sub-
committees and individual members be evaluated on an annual 
basis. A formal internal Board evaluation was performed in 
the 2016/17 fi nancial year. A report was presented to the 
sub committees of the Board, which concluded that there is 
consensus that the Board conducts its business professionally, 
in an atmosphere of good governance with the business of the 
Board being conducted openly and transparently. 

The Board evaluations for the 2017/18 fi nancial year will be 
conducted internally by way of self-assessment questionnaires. 

DELEGATED POWER OF AUTHORITY
The Board is authorised to form standing and ad hoc committees 
to assist it in the execution of its duties, powers and authorities. 
The Delegation of Authority Framework document is reviewed 
annually and approved by the Board. The terms of reference 
of each committee clearly differentiates, where appropriate, 
between powers that are delegated to committees for decision 
by the committee concerned and those in respect of which 
the Board retains decision making powers but requires a 
recommendation from the committee concerned. Delegation 
of authority to Board committees or management does not 
mitigate or discharge the Board and its Trustees of their duties 
and responsibilities, or ultimately, their accountability.

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES
The Trustees are remunerated for the meetings they attend 
at rates approved by the EDTEA. No performance-based 
remuneration are paid to Trustees.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three standing committees to assist 
it in exercising its authority. In line with the principles of King 
III, all committees of the Board have formally approved terms 
of reference to ensure effective decision-making, monitoring 
and reporting. The terms of reference are reviewed at least 
annually, along with the overall effectiveness and performance 
of the committees.  

The Board committees are the Audit and Risk Committee,
the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee and the 
Investment Committee.

The Investment Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Trustee and the Audit and Risk Committee and Human 
Resource and Remuneration Committee is each chaired by an 
independent, non-executive who are not Trustees.

Committee Key Responsibilities Membership Meetings Held Attendance

Audit and Risk 
Committee

- Monitors adequacy of fi nancial controls 
and reporting;

- Reviews audit plans and adherence to 
these by external and internal auditors;

- Ascertains the reliability of the audit;
- Ensures that fi nancial reporting complies 

with IFRS and the PFMA;
- Ensures that there are effective measures 

in place on Information Technology risks 
as they relate to fi nancial reporting;

- Makes recommendations on all
fi nancial matters;

- Oversees the compliance and
risk reporting;

- Assesses the effectiveness of the fi nance 
function and internal audit; and

- Appoints the internal auditor and 
recommends the external auditor to
the Board.

In-coming Committee:

Mr Sello Motau
(Chairman - 
Independent 
Representative)

1 1

Mr Siddiq Adam (CEO – 
Ex Offi cio Member)

1 1

Mr Ashvir Dhuki 
(Member)

1 1

Ms Bongekile Zulu 
(Member) 

1 1

Mr Khaya Thango
(Member)

1 1

Outgoing Committee:

Mr Imtiaz Vally 
(Chairman)

4 4

Ms Delia Jay 
(Member)

4 4

Mr Helga Switala 
(Member)

4 4

Committee Key Responsibilities Membership Meetings Held Attendance

Human 
Resources & 
Remuneration 
Committee

- The HR&REMCO exercises oversight 
of matters related to human resource 
management and succession planning; 
develops and implements the human 
resource strategy; assists the Board in the 
development of remuneration policies, 
incentive policies and performance 
targets, as well as specifi c remuneration 
levels for KGFT.

In-coming Committee:

Ms Thelma Ngcobo 
(Chairman-Independent 
Representative)

1 1

Mr Siddiq Adam (CEO – 
Ex Offi cio Member)

1 1

Mr Khaya Thango 
(Member)

1 1

Ms Bongekile Zulu 
(Member)

1 1

Outgoing Committee:

Ms Getty Simelane 
(Chairman -Independent 
Representative)

4 4

Mr Imtiaz Vally 
(Member)

4 3

Ms Delia Jay  
(Member)

4 4

Investment 
Committee

- Devising the Investment, Equity, Credit, 
Equity Pricing and Valuation, and Loan 
Pricing Policies, which shall consist of 
processes and procedures to be applied to 
the Investments;

- Evaluating, assessing and approving 
the creditworthiness of any investment 
identifi ed by the Executive Management; 
and

- Monitoring of investment mandates.

In-coming Committee:

Mr Siphile Buthelezi 
(Chairman)

1 1

Mr Siddiq Adam (CEO – 
Ex Offi cio Member)

1 1

Ms Dudu Hlatshwayo
(Member)

1 1

Ms Noluthando Radebe
(Member) 

1 1

Ms Dinao Lerutla 
(Independent 
Representative)

1 1

Ms Khethiwe Tshabalala
(Independent 
Representative)

1 1

Mr Neven Hendricks
(Independent 
Representative)

1 1

Outgoing Committee:

Mr Helge Switala 
(Chairman)

3 3

Ms Phumzile Langeni 
(Member)

3 2

Mr Imtiaz Vally 
(Member)

3 3

Ms Dinao Lerutla 
(Independent 
Representative)

3 3

Ms Khethiwe Tshabalala
(Independent 
Representative)

3 2
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INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
Responsibility for the systems of internal fi nancial and operational 
control has been delegated to the Audit and Risk Committee. 
KGFT’s governance principles on ethical behaviour, legislative 
compliance and sound accounting practice lay the foundation 
for its internal control processes, while enterprise-wide risk 
management approach and risk strategy adopted by the Board 
form the framework for internal control. Executive management 
is accountable for determining the adequacy, extent and 
operation of control systems.

The Internal Audit function is responsible for providing 
independent, objective assurance on KGFT’s system of 
governance, risk management and internal control. KGFT has 
outsourced its internal audit function to Deloitte who have 
produced a rolling three-year strategic internal audit plan, based 
on its assessment of KGFT’s key risk areas, having regard to 
its current operations, those proposed in its corporate plan 
and KGFT’s risk management strategy. Internal audit provides 
independent assurance to the Board and management on the 
effectiveness of the internal control system. Members of the 
Audit and Risk Committee review the work of Internal Audit and 
the internal auditors have unfettered access to the Chairman of 
the committee and the Board, to ensure the  escalation of any 
signifi cant audit matters requiring immediate Board attention. 
A review of the performance of the internal audit function is 
undertaken on an annual basis.

COMBINED ASSURANCE
Principle 3.5 of the King III Report introduced combined assurance 
as a recommended governance practice. The recommendation 
was made following a general understanding that more can 
be done to improve assurance coverage and quality through 
better co-ordination of the assurance providers. While combined 
assurance offers numerous benefi ts, it is considered one of 
the biggest challenges facing businesses and organisations, 
in adopting King III.

Management has implemented a Combined Assurance Model 
Framework, which sets out the combined assurance objectives, 
as well as identifying KGFT’s assurance providers and setting 
out the roles and responsibilities of each. The framework also 
details the seven steps for combined assurance implementation 
which include: identifying assurance drivers; assessing potential 
for combined assurance; identifying assurance providers; risk 
mapping; developing a combined assurance plan; application 
of the combined assurance plan; and reporting on combined 
assurance. A combined assurance plan was developed by 
KGFT and approved by the Audit and Risk Committee in the 
2016/17 fi nancial year. 

ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
KGFT is committed to eradicating all forms of fraud and 
corruption. The PFMA requires that KGFT has in place a Fraud 
Prevention Plan which is approved by the Board and submitted 
to EDTEA with KGFT’s Corporate Plan on an annual basis.

Measures in place to ensure that the risk of fraud is minimised include:
 The provision of fraud awareness training;
 Adherence to a culture of zero tolerance with regards to fraud 
and theft

 Effective management and implementation of policies aimed 
at governing staff behaviour including the Business Code 
of Conduct and Ethics and KGFT’s Fraud Prevention Plan;

 Conducting fraud risk assessments to highlight KGFT’s fraud 
risks, identify the controls in place to mitigate those risks 
and formulate action plans in terms of identifi ed gaps or 
weaknesses; and

 An independent “whistle-blowing” service, enabling staff 
and other stakeholders to report fraud via a tip off line.

KGFT’s management and employees have signed and committed 
to an anti-fraud declaration as a pledge to zero tolerance 
against fraud and corruption. Fraud risk is reported upon at 
each meeting of the Audit and Risk Committee.

There have been no incidents of fraud and corruption reported 
in the period under review, either directly to management, or 
via the whistle blowers hotline.

ETHICS AND MANAGING CONFLICTS 
OF INTEREST
KGFT has a Business Code of Conduct and Ethics in place, 
which is intended to promote and enforce ethical behaviour and 
enhance professionalism in dealing with suppliers, customers, 
business partners, stakeholders, government and society at large. 

The Board conforms to KGFT’s Declaration of Interest Policy 
Framework, which re-enforces the KGFT’s commitment to ensure 
that the organisation is managed ethically and transparently in a 
manner that benefi ts all of its stakeholders. Declarations of Interest 
are made on an annual basis and the Board, sub-committee 
members and the executive management are required to disclose 
any potential confl icts at meetings of the Board and its committees. 
KGFT also has a gifts and inducement policy, which requires 
that any gifts, given or received, over R500 are approved by the 
executive management and declared to the compliance function.

PROMOTION OF ACCESS
TO INFORMATION 
KGFT is committed to complying with the Promotion of Access 
to Information Act (PAIA), which supports important principles 
of good governance, transparency and accountability. The PAIA 
of 2000 gives effect to the constitutional right of access to 
any information held by the State and any information that is 
held by another person and that is required for the exercise or 
protection of any rights. KGFT has a PAIA Manual available on 
its website which details the process to be followed to request 
information. KGFT reports to the South African Human Rights 
Commission on an annual basis in terms of section 32 of the 
PAIA, stating how many requests for information have been 
received from the public. There were no requests for information 
received in the 2016/17 fi nancial year.
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(ii) A system of internal audit under the control and direction 
of an Audit and Risk Committee, complying with and 
operating in accordance with regulations and instructions 
prescribed in terms of section 76 and 77; and

(iii)  An appropriate procurement and provisioning system which 
is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost-effective.

STATUTORY DUTIES
In execution of its statutory duties during the past fi nancial 
year, the Audit and Risk Committee:

 Believes that the appointment of Auditor General – South Africa 
(AGSA) as auditor complies with the relevant provisions 
of the Trust Property Control Act and the Public Finance 
Management Act;

 Determined the fees to be paid to the AG as disclosed in note 
15 of the fi nancial statements;

 Determined in terms of engagement of the external auditor;
 Reviewed the quality of fi nancial information;
 Reviewed the Integrated Annual Report and Financial Statements;
 Received no complaints relating to the accounting practices 
and internal/external audit of KGFT, the content or auditing 
of its fi nancial statements, the internal fi nancial controls of 
the KGFT, and any other related matters;

 Made the submission to the Board for matters concerning 
the KGFT’s accounting policies, fi nancial control, records 
and reporting; and

 Concurs that the adoption of the going concern basis of 
preparation in the fi nancial statements is appropriate.

OVERSIGHT OF RISK MANAGEMENT
The Audit and Risk Committee has satisfi ed itself that the 
following areas have been appropriately addressed:
 Financial reporting risks;
 Internal fi nancial controls;
 Fraud risk as it relates to fi nancial reporting; and
 IT risk as it related to fi nancial reporting.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS
The Audit and Risk Committee has:
 Reviewed the effectiveness of the KGFT’s system of internal 
financial controls including receiving assurance from 
management, internal audit and external;

 Reviewed signifi cant issues raised by the internal and external 
audit process; and

 Reviewed policies and procedures for preventing and
detecting fraud.

No signifi cant cases of misconduct or fraud, or any other 
unethical activity by employees of the KGFT has been brought 
to the attention of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Based on the processes and assurances obtained, KGFT believes 
that signifi cant internal fi nancial controls are effective.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
The Audit and Risk Committee has:
 Reviewed the effectiveness of the system for monitoring 
compliance with laws and regulations.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The Audit and Risk Committee has:
 Reviewed the external audit scope to ensure that the critical 
areas of the business are being addressed; and

 Reviewed the external auditors report, including issues arising 
out of the external audit.

The external auditors have furthermore provided written 
assurance to the Audit and Risk Committee that they have 
remained independent of KGFT.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the activities of 
the internal audit function to determine its effectiveness and to 
ensure that no unjustifi ed restrictions or limitations were made. 

The Committee has also reviewed the internal audit reports, 
including the responses of management to issues raised therein.  

Based on the scope and results of their work, and subject to 
the limitations of sampling and audit risk, internal audit is of 
the opinion that key controls implemented by management 
appear to indicate that an adequate control framework is in 
place, however; implementation requires continuous attention 
in certain key control activities to provide reasonable assurance 
that residual risk areas reported are properly mitigated
and controlled.

THE QUALITY OF IN-YEAR 
MANAGEMENT AND MONTHLY AND 
QUARTERLY REPORTS SUBMITTED IN 
TERMS OF THE PFMA
The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfi ed with the content and 
quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued 
by the Board of Trustees and management of the KGFT, during 
the year under review.

FINANCE FUNCTION
The Audit and Risk Committee has considered and satisfi ed itself 
of the appropriateness of the expertise, resources and experience 
of the Finance function. This review included specifi c focus on the 
senior members of management responsible for the fi nance function.

Based on the processes and assurances obtained, the Audit and 
Risk Committee believes that the accounting practices are effective.

The Audit and Risk Committee has discussed the conclusions 
of the External Auditors on the annual fi nancial statements, 
read together with the report of the External Auditors and 
recommend these to the Board of Trustees for acceptance.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee,

MR S MOTAU
CHAIRMAN: AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

REPORT OF THE 
AUDIT AND
RISK COMMITTEE

22

* Tendered resignation – 30 October 2016 

The Audit and Risk Committee is a committee of the Board of Trustees. The committee 
assists the Board through advising and making submissions on fi nancial reporting, oversight 

of the risk management process, internal fi nancial controls, external and internal audit functions 
and statutory and regulatory compliance of the KGFT.

The Audit and Risk Committee has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk 
Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this Charter, and has discharged all its 

responsibilities as contained therein. 

The Audit and Risk Committee members and their attendance at meetings are as follows:

Executive Management of the Trust and representatives from the external and internal auditors attend the committee meetings 
by invitation only. The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee Chairman.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITY
The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a) of the PFMA and 
Treasury Regulations section 21.1.10(b) and (c) and section 27.1.7.

Section 51(1)(a) of the PFMA states the following:
The Accounting Authority must ensure that the public entity has and maintains – 
(i) Effective, effi cient and transparent systems of fi nancial and risk management and internal control;

Name of Audit and Risk 
Committee Member

Type of Appointment Date of Appointment Number of Meetings 
held

Number of Meetings 
attended

In-Coming Committee:

Mr S Motau (Chairman) Independent 2017-01-17 1 1
Mr A Dhuki Trustee 2017-01-17 1 1
Ms B Zulu Trustee 2017-01-17 1 1
Mr K Thango Trustee 2017-01-17 1 1
Mr S Adam CEO – Ex Offi cio Member 2017-01-17 1 1
Outgoing Committee*:

Mr I Vally (Chairman) Trustee 2013-11-01 4 4
Ms D Jay* Trustee 2013-11-01 4 4
Mr H Switala Trustee 2013-11-01 4 4
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“All employees are required to maintain 
the highest ethical standards in ensuring 
that the KGFT’s practices are concluded 

in a manner which, in all reasonable 
circumstances, is above reproach...

TRUSTEES RESPONSIBILITY 
AND APPROVAL OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23

The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the annual fi nancial statements of KGFT, 
comprising the statement of fi nancial position as at 31 March 
2017, the statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash fl ows for the year then ended, 
notes to the fi nancial statements, which include a summary of 
signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and 
the Trustee’s Report, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the fi nancial provisions of 
the Trust Deed. In addition, the Trustees are responsible for 
preparing the Trustees Report.

To enable the Trustees to meet these responsibilities:
 The Board and management set standards and management 
implements systems of internal controls and accounting and 
information systems aimed at providing reasonable assurance 
that assets are safeguarded and the risk of fraud, error or 
loss is reduced in a cost-effective manner. These controls, 
contained in established policies and procedures, include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities and authorities within a 
clearly defi ned framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties.

 The internal audit function, which operates unimpeded and
independently from operational management, and has 
unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee, appraises 
and, when necessary, recommends improvements in the 
system of internal controls and accounting practices, based 
on audit plans that take cognisance of the relative degrees 
of risk of each function or aspect of the business.

 The Audit and Risk Committee, together with the Internal 
Audit department, plays an integral role in matters relating to 
fi nancial and internal control, accounting policies, reporting 
and disclosure.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, based on the above, 
the Trustees are satisfi ed that no material breakdown in the 
operation of the system of internal control and procedure has 
occurred during the year under review.

The KGFT consistently adopts appropriate and recognised 
accounting policies and these are supported by reasonable 
judgements and estimates on a consistent basis, and provides 
additional disclosures when compliance with the specifi c 
requirements, in accordance with IFRS are insuffi cient, to enable 

users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other 
events and conditions on the KGFT’s fi nancial position and 
fi nancial performance.

The KGFT’s responsibility also includes maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management.  
All employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring that the KGFT’s practices are concluded 
in a manner which, in all reasonable circumstances, is
above reproach.

The Trustees have made an assessment of the KGFT’s ability 
to continue as a going concern and have included appropriate 
disclosure in the Trustee’s report.  

The basis of accounting has been adopted by the Board of 
Trustees after having made enquiries of management and 
given due consideration to information presented to the Board, 
including budgets and cash fl ow projections for the year ahead 
and key assumptions and accounting policies relating thereto.  
Accordingly, the Trustees have no reason to believe that KGFT 
will not continue as a going concern in the year ahead.

APPROVAL OF AUDITED ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The annual fi nancial statements of KGFT, as identifi ed in the 
fi rst paragraph, were approved by the Board of Trustees on 
27 July 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

MS D HLATSHWAYO MR S BUTHELEZI
CHAIRMAN OF KGFT DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
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Trustee’s Report
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

The Trustees have pleasure in presenting this report 
as part of the annual fi nancial statements of KGFT 
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS
The KGFT was registered with the Pietermaritzburg High 
Court on 22 October 2007. The main objectives of the KGFT 
are to provide support for creating an enabling environment 
for activities that create jobs and accelerate the economic 
development of the KZN Province, whilst promoting Broad 
Based Black Economic Empowerment. 

2. BUSINESS MODEL
The KGFT was set up in 2008 as an initiative of the KZN 
Government’s Department of Economic Development, 
Tourism and Environmental Affairs (EDTEA) to administer the 
KZN Growth Fund (KGF Debt Fund 1). This initiative was a 
fi rst in South Africa, aimed at creating sustainable economic 
development, job creation, broad based black economic 
empowerment (B-BBEE) and reducing inequality in KZN. 

The KGF Debt Fund 1 was a closed debt fund and in order to 
give effect to new funds and products (restricted under KGF 
Debt Fund 1), the KGFT unencumbered its capital from the 
existing security in the KGF Debt Fund 1 by prepayment of 
the existing exposures and cancellation of all debt facilities 
on 31 March 2015. The KGFT now caters for both a debt 
and an equity fund and is able to bring on board additional 
investors to participate in either.

3. FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
The fi nancial results of the KGFT are fully disclosed on 
pages 00 to 00.  

The key fi nancial indicators for the year under review are:
 Net operating income amounts to R98.5m (2016: R108.2m)
and the net operating surplus in the current year amounts 
to R65.4m (2016: R83.7m). The variance is attributable 
to the once-off recognition of R42.9m transfer of interest 
from deferred funds during the 2016 fi nancial year. If 
excluded, the 2016 net surplus reduces to R35.6m, 
which is comparable to the 2017 year results and refl ects 
a 96% increase year on year. This variance was largely 
driven from a greater disbursement to projects yielding 
greater interest return as compared to the yield from 
interest on surplus funds.

 Assets under management increased from R1,089m in 
2016 to R1,224m, as at 31 March 2017. 

4. HIGH LEVEL OVERVIEW OF THE 
PERFORMANCE OF THE KGFT
Despite the global and South African economic challenges, 
the KGFT again leveraged its strengths, expertise, and 
resources to stimulate economic growth in the Province, while 
creating job opportunities vital for poverty alleviation and 
shared prosperity. The KGFT approved R319m in fi nancing 
during the 2016/17 fi nancial year to support almost R3.2bn 
worth of projects in telecommunications, manufacturing 
and healthcare sectors. Of the approved funding, equity 
investments accounted for R158.5m, while the balance 
is in the form of loans repayable over fi ve to eight years.

Disbursements, amounted to R330.5m, almost double the 
amount disbursed during the prior comparative period. 
About R63m of the amount disbursed during the period 
under review relates to funding committed during the 
2015/16 fi nancial year.

5. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION
AND RESERVES
The KGFT’s equity instruments primarily includes government 
funding. This funding represents capital provided by the 
Department of Economic Development, Tourism and 
Environmental Affairs (EDTEA) and remains part of the 
permanent capital of the KGFT.  

In addition to the annual allocation (R64.4m during the 
2016/17 fi nancial year) from EDTEA, the KGFT capitalised 
additional funds from retained earnings amounting to R60m 
to capital.  This resulted in an increase in assets under 
management to R1 224m.

6. BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND ITS 
 SUB-COMMITTEES

In accordance with the Trust Deed, there shall, at all times, be 
seven Trustees, comprising of six independent non-executive 
Trustees nominated and appointed by the Government 
acting through the Department of Economic Development, 
Tourism & Environmental Affairs and the Chief Executive 
Offi cer (CEO) by reason of appointment as CEO.  

The KGFT has three Sub-Committees, namely the Investment 
Committee, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Human 
Resources and Remuneration Committee.  The Trustees 
and other committee members in the offi ce during the year 
under review are as follows:

Name of Member Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Resignation

Board of 
Trustees

Investment 
Committee

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Human 
Resource & 
Remuneration 
Committee

Total Number of Meetings 11 4 5 5

Ms D Hlatshwayo 
(Chairman)

2013-11-01 n/a 11 1 n/a n/a

Mr S Buthelezi 
(Deputy Chairman)
(Chairman of Investment 
Committee)

2016-12-12 n/a 5 1 n/a n/a

Ms N Radebe 2016-12-12 n/a 4 1

Mr A Dhuki 2016-12-12 n/a 5 1

Ms B Zulu 2016-12-12 n/a 4 1 1

Mr K Thango 2016-12-12 n/a 5 1 1

Mr S Adam
(Chief Executive Offi cer)

2013-11-01 2017-03-31 11 1 1 1

Mr S Motau (Independent 
Chairman of ARC

2017-01-17 n/a 4 n/a 1

Ms T Ngcobo (Chairman of 
HR&REMCO)

2017-01-17 n/a 2 n/a n/a 1

Mr K Tshabalala 2015-06-01 n/a n/a 3 n/a n/a

Ms D Lerutla 2013-11-01 n/a 1 4 n/a n/a

Mr N Hendricks 2017-01-17 n/a 1

Mr H Switala
(Deputy Chairman)
(Chairman of Investment 
Committee)

2013-11-01 2016-10-31 6 3 4 n/a

Ms D Jay 2013-11-01 2016-10-31 6 - 4 4

Ms P Langeni 2013-11-01 2016-10-31 6 2 n/a n/a

Mr I Vally 
(Chairman of Audit and 
Risk Committee)

2013-11-01 2016-10-31 6 3 4 3

Ms K Simelane
(Chairman of HR 
Committee)

2013-11-01 2017-01-16 1 n/a n/a 4

The Trustees’ and other committee members’ emoluments are 
determined by EDTEA and are set out in note 16 of the annual 
fi nancial statements.  

7. GOING CONCERN
The Trustees have no reason to believe that the KGFT will 
not be a going concern in the future, based on the KGFT’s 
funding forecasts and projected strategic plans.

8. AUDITORS
The Auditor General - South Africa serves as independent 
auditor, as appointed by the Trustees.

9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
No events were identifi ed subsequent to year end, that 
requires adjustment or disclosure in the annual fi nancial 
statements.
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Report of the auditor-general to the board 
of trustees on the KZN Growth Fund Trust 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

OPINION 
1. I have audited the fi nancial statements of the KZN Growth Fund Trust set out on pages 00 to 00, which comprise the statement 

of fi nancial position as at 31 March 2017, and the statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash fl ows for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the fi nancial statements, 
including a summary of signifi cant accounting policies. 

2. In my opinion, the fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of the KZN Growth Fund 
Trust as at 31 March 2017, and its fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Finance Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the general notice issued in terms of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA). 

BASIS FOR OPINION 
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the fi nancial statements section of 
my report. 

4. I am independent of the trust in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for 
professional accountants (IESBA code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. 
I have fulfi lled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
6. The board of trustees (the board), is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in 

accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as the board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of fi nancial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

7. In preparing the fi nancial statements, the board is responsible for assessing the KZN Growth Fund Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless there is an intention to liquidate or cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to infl uence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
fi nancial statements. 

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the fi nancial statements is included in the annexure to the 
auditor’s report. 

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION REPORTING 
10. The trust is not required to prepare a report on its performance against predetermined objectives as it does not fall within the 

ambit of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999) and such reporting is also not required 
in terms of the trust’s specifi c legislation. 

OTHER INFORMATION 
11. The KZN Growth Fund Trust board of trustees is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report. The other information does not include the fi nancial statements and the auditor’s 
report thereon that have been specifi cally reported on in the auditor’s report. 

12. My opinion on the fi nancial statements does not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

13. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the fi nancial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. I 
have nothing to report in this regard. 

INTERNAL CONTROL DEFICIENCIES 
14. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the fi nancial statements; however, my objective was not to express any 

form of assurance thereon. I did not identify any signifi cant defi ciencies in internal control. 

Pietermaritzburg 
28 July 2017 
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Annexure - Auditor-general’s 
responsibility for the audit 
1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout my audit of the fi nancial statements. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the fi nancial statements as described in the auditor’s report, I also: 

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the board. 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
fi nancial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast signifi cant doubt on the KZN Growth Fund Trust ability to continue as a going concern. 
If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the fi nancial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on 
the fi nancial statements. My conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of the auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the fi nancial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the fi nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
3. I communicate with the board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and signifi cant 

audit fi ndings, including any signifi cant defi ciencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also confi rm to the board that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence and 
here applicable, related safeguards. 

Notes 2017 2016 2015

R R R

ASSETS

Non-current Assets 810 782 915 497 079 730 369 112 548

Property, plant and equipment 2 1 103 544 1 506 117 1 811 977

Intangible assets 3 26 265 48 060 469 254

Equity Investments 4 222 945 153 48 015 387 -

Loans and advances 5 564 774 983 421 382 074 346 099 300

Derivative fi nancial instrument 24 1 783 742 5 982 581 732 017

Cash and Investment Deposits 6 20 149 228 20 145 511 20 000 000

Current Assets 416 762 596 603 402 598 593 667 653

Cash and Investment Deposits 6 354 645 158 560 553 589 574 784 041

Trade and other receivables 7 6 832 390 2 129 856 1 565 951

Short term portion of loans and advances 5 55 285 048 40 719 153 17 317 661

Total Assets 1 227 545 511 1 100 482 328 962 780 201

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Capital and Reserves Attributable to 
Equity Holders 1 225 801 059 1 095 970 980 512 361 961

Capital contribution 8 1 124 400 010 1 000 000 010 317 636 171

General reserve 8 - - 104 319 277

Accumulated surplus 101 401 049 95,970,970 90,406,513

Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities 48 684 115 238 448 081 592

Deferred Funds - - 447 783 660

Finance lease liability 9 - 6 326 19 960

Long term portion of provisions 10 48 684 108 912 277 972

Current Liabilities 1 695 768 4 396 110 2 336 648

Trade and other payables 11 1 351 703 3 874 172 1 799 032

Short term portion of fi nance lease liability 9 6 321 16 007 106 864

Short term portion of provisions 10 337 744 505 931 430 752

Total Equity and Liabilities 1 227 545 511 1 100 482 328 962 780 201

Statement of Financial Position
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017
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Notes 2017 2016

R R

Interest income net of suspended interest 12 103 003 980 128 714 899

Interest expense 13 (133 018) (1 250 424)

Net margin 102 870 962 127 464 475

Raising fee 2 086 366 -

Provision for doubtful debts  5 (6 434 549) (19 286 073)

Net operating income 98 522 779 108 178 402

Other income 14 3 846 905 59 558

Fair value gain / (loss) on derivative fi nancial instrument (4 198 839) 5 250 564

Operating expenses 15 (32 740 766) (29 743 344)

Operating Surplus for the Year 65 430 079 83 745 180

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Total Comprehensive Income 65 430 079 83 745 180

Notes Capital 
contributions

General Reserve Accumulated
Surplus

Total

R R R R

Balance at 31 March 2015 317 636 171 104 319 277 89 674 496 511 629 944

Adjustment for correction of error 24 - - 732 017 732 017

Restated Balance at 1 April 2015 317 636 171 104 319 277 90 406 513 512 361 961

2016

Restated Balance at 1 April 2015 317 636 171 104 319 277 90 406 513 512 361 961

Release of deferred funds (Fund II) 
to capital

360 000 000 - - 360 000 000

Capital disbursed to projects (Fund I) 
to capital

44 863 839 - - 44 863 839

Capital contribution - EDTEA 95 000 000 - - 95 000 000

Transfer of previously recognised 
general reserve

104 319 277 (104 319 277) - -

Capitalisation of accumulated surplus 78 180 723 - (78 180 723) -

Restated Total comprehensive income - - 83 745 180 83 745 180

Restated Balance at 31 March 2016 1 000 000 010 - 95 970 970 1 095 970 980

2017

Restated Balance at 1 April 2016 1 000 000 010 - 95 970 970 1 095 970 980

Capital contribution - EDTEA 64 400 000 - - 64 400 000

Capitalisation of accumulated surplus 60 000 000 - (60 000 000) -

Total comprehensive income - - 65 430 079 65 430 078

Balance at 31 March 2017 1 124 400 010 - 101 401 049 1 225 801 058

Statement of Profi t or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

For the Year Ended 31 March 2017
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Notes 2017 2016

R R

Cash Generated by Operating Activities 69 271 848 57 356 901

Cash outfl ows from operating activities 17 (33 599 114) (27 187 753)

Interest received 12 103 003 980 85 795 078

Interest paid 13 (133 018) (1 250 424)

Cash Utilised in Investing Activities (124 597 365) (99 096 300)

Purchase of fi xed assets 2 (224 684) (351 228)

Purchase of intangible assets 3 (12 745) (10 626)

Increase in Equity Investments 4 (174 929 766) (48 015 387)

Decrease in Investment Deposits 6 50 569 830 (50 519 058)

Cash Utilised in Financing Activities (100 009 367) (23 064 599)

Increase in capital contribution 8 64 400 000 95 000 000

Increase in loans and advances 5 (164 393 353) (117 970 339)

Decrease in fi nance lease 9 (16 014) (94 260)

Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (155 334 884) (64 803 998)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 6 509 980 042 574 784 040

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the year 6 354 645 158 509 980 042

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual fi nancial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.1 REPORTING ENTITY
KwaZulu-Natal Growth Fund Trust (KGFT) is a Trust domiciled in South Africa. It was established in accordance with the Trust 
Deed, registered by the High Court in Pietermaritzburg on 22 October 2007 and as duly amended by the revised Trust Deed as 
registered in July 2015.

The audited fi nancial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees at their meeting held on 27 July 2017.

1.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

1.2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The fi nancial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis utilising the historical cost concept except for fi nancial 
instruments at fair value through profi t or loss, which are measured at amortised cost. This basis presumes that funds will be 
available to fi nance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course 
of business. 

1.2.2 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The fi nancial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the KGFT’s functional currency.

1.2.3 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The fi nancial statements of the KGFT as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

1.2.4 USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The preparation of fi nancial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis.  

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods’ revisions affect 
both current and future periods.

1.2.5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The estimates and assumptions that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next fi nancial year relate to the following:

GOING CONCERN
Management has made an assessment of the KGFT’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfi ed that it has the resources 
to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may 
cast signifi cant doubt upon the KGFT’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the fi nancial statements continue to be 
prepared on the going concern basis.
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Notes to the Financial StatementsNotes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

A review of asset values, residual values, depreciation method and impairment is performed annually and adjusted, if appropriate. 
Impairment losses are determined as the excess of the carrying amount of items of property, plant and equipment over the 
recoverable amount and are charged to profi t or loss.

Depreciation has been provided on a straight-line basis, based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
 Leasehold improvements    3 years
 Computer equipment    3 - 5 years
 Offi ce equipment    5 - 7 years
 Furniture and fi ttings    6 - 8 years
 Portable communication devices   2 years

Subsequent expenditure incurred on items of property, plant and equipment is only capitalised to the extent that such expenditure 
enhances the value or previous capacity of those assets. Repairs and maintenance not deemed to enhance the economic benefi ts 
or service potential of items of property; plant and equipment are expensed as incurred. Gains and losses on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amounts, and are included in the profi t and loss.

1.3.2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets, are recognised if it is probable that future economic benefi ts will fl ow to the entity from the intangible assets 
and the costs of the intangible assets can be reliably measured. 

Intangible assets comprise computer software and work-in-progress. Intangible assets are recognised at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of acquisition.  Intangible assets with a defi nite 
useful life are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful economic life, generally not exceeding 20 years. At each 
date of the statement of fi nancial position, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated 
future economic benefi ts. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is 
fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

(a) Computer software and licenses
Acquired computer software and licenses are capitalised as assets on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the 
specifi c software into use. Capitalised computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Computer software is tested annually for impairment or changes in estimated future benefi ts. Amortisation is calculated using 
the straight–line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 
 Computer software    2 years
 Loan Management System   5 years

(b) System development costs
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense, as and when incurred. Direct 
software development costs that enhance the benefi ts of computer software programmes and are clearly associated with an 
identifi able and unique software system, which will be controlled by the KGFT and has a probable benefi t exceeding one year, 
are recognised as intangible assets.

These costs are initially capitalised as work-in-progress up to the date of completion of project, after which the asset is transferred 
to computer software and accounted for as per the computer software and licenses policy. Management reviews the carrying value 
of capitalised work-in-progress on an annual basis, irrespective of whether there is an indication of impairment.

Development costs are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:
 It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
 Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
 There is an ability to use or sell the software product;
 It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefi t;

IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES
Loans and advances are stated after the deduction of provisions for credit impairment. Loans and advances are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 

Loans and advances are impaired and impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment, resulting from 
one or more loss events that occurred after initial recognition, which indicates that it is probable, the KGFT will be unable to realise 
all amounts due. The carrying amount of a fi nancial asset identifi ed as impaired is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount. 
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the value of estimates future cash fl ows, 
discounted at the effective interest rate ruling on the date of the review.

The impairment of non-performing loans and advances is based on periodic evaluations of loans and advances and takes account 
of past loss experience and the economic climate in which the borrowers operate. Once all reasonable attempts have been made 
at collection and there is no realistic prospect of recovering outstanding amounts, an advance is written off against the related 
impairment. Loans and advances impairments and any subsequent reversals thereof or recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are either charged or credited to the statement of comprehensive income. 

VALUATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Valuation of Equity Instruments
Equity investments are designed as held-to-maturity if they have fi xed or determinable payments and fi xed maturities that 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. All other equity investments are designated at fair value 
through profi t and loss, which is determined from observable market data in respect of similar fi nancial instruments. Where market 
observable data is not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions. 

1.2.6 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful lives, taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The remaining 
useful lives of assets and residual values are assessed annually.

1.2.7 CORRECTION OF PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS
The Trust shall correct a prior period error retrospectively in the fi rst fi nancial statements authorised for issue after its discovery by:
(a) Restating the comparative amounts for the prior period(s) presented in which the error occurred, or
(b) If the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented, restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity 

for the earliest prior period presented.

When it is impracticable to determine the period-specifi c effects of an error on comparative information for one or more prior 
periods presented, the trust shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest period for which 
retrospective restatement is practicable (which may be the current period).

1.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.3.1 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Items of Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes 
all costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to working condition for their intended use. The assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis at rates that will reduce the historical costs to estimated residual values over their anticipated useful lives. 
The residual value of assets is the estimated amount that the KGFT would currently obtain from disposal of assets, after deducting 
the estimated costs of disposal, as if the asset was already at the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

Equipment acquired under fi nance lease arrangements are capitalised. Such assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates 
considered appropriate to reduce the capitalised cost to estimated residual value over the anticipated useful lives of the assets. 
Lease fi nance charges are amortised over the duration of the fi nance leases using the effective interest rate method.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, these fi nancial assets are measured at fair value basis on annual basis, in accordance with 
IAS39: Financial Instrument IFRS 13: Fair Value measurement as well as International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 
Guidelines. All related realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in net gains from 
fi nancial assets in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(b) Loans and advances
Loans and advances are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Loans and advances are classifi ed as “trade and other receivables” in the statement of fi nancial position, except for maturities 
greater than 12 months after the statement of fi nancial position date, which are classifi ed as non-current assets.

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 
less any allowance for credit losses.

(c)Available-for-sale fi nancial assetS
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classifi ed in any of the 
categories. They are included in non-current assets, unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months 
of the statement of fi nancial position date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale fi nancial assets are measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising 
from the changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income until the fi nancial 
asset is derecognised or impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is recognised in the statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income.

(d) Held-to-maturity fi nancial assets
Held-to-maturity fi nancial assets are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments and fi xed maturities 
that management has the positive intention and the ability to hold to maturity, other than those that meet the defi nition of loans 
and receivables and those designated as available for sale and fair value through profi t or loss. Where the KGFT sells more than 
insignifi cant amount of held-to-maturity fi nancial assets in a period, the entire category would be tainted or reclassifi ed as available-
for-sale and the difference between amortised cost and fair value would be accounted for in equity.

Financial assets classifi ed as held-to-maturity includes shareholders’ loans under equity investments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity fi nancial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any allowance for impairment.

(e) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost; which, due to their short-term nature, closely approximate their fair 
value; less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is evidence that the 
KGFT will not be able to collect all amounts due, according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the value of estimates future cash fl ows, discounted at the effective interest 
rate, is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(f) Cash and investment deposits
Cash and investment deposits includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, investments in money market instruments 
and accrued interest on investments outstanding at year end. Cash and investment deposits are stated at amortised cost, which, 
due to their short-term nature, closely approximates their fair value.

Identifi cation and measurement of impairment of fi nancial assets
Financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A fi nancial 
asset is considered impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash fl ows of that asset.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

 Adequate technical, fi nancial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product are 
available; and

 The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

1.3.3 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL
At the end of each reporting period, the KGFT reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets, in order to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of individual assets, the KGFT estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identifi ed, corporate assets are also 
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for 
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identifi ed.

Intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using 
a discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash fl ows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount; the carrying amount 
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t 
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease. When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, 
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

1.3.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments are initially recognised when the KGFT becomes party to the contractual provisions of the relevant instrument, 
and are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as below.

1.3.4.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS
The KGFT classifi es its fi nancial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profi t or loss, loans and receivables, 
available-for-sale, held to maturity and cash & cash equivalents.  The classifi cation depends on the purpose for which the fi nancial 
assets were acquired. Management determines the classifi cation of its fi nancial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluate this 
designation at every reporting date.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss
This category has two sub-categories: fi nancial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through profi t or loss 
at inception. A fi nancial asset is classifi ed in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if 
so designated by management. Assets in this category are classifi ed as current assets if they are either held for trading or are 
expected to be realised within 12 months of the statement of fi nancial position date. 

A fi nancial asset is classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss due to the following:
 It eliminates or signifi cantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring 
the asset or recognising the gains or losses on a different basis.

 A portfolio of fi nancial assets is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented 
risk management or investment strategy and information about the KGFT is provided internally on that basis to key 
management personnel.
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Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a fi nancial asset or liability is the amount at which the fi nancial asset or liability is measured at initial 
recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

Other fi nancial liabilities
Other fi nancial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transactional costs.  Subsequently, these items are measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.  Interest expenses on these items are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income for the year and are included in fi nance costs. Net gains or losses represent gains and losses on derecognition 
and they are included in other income or other expenses.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported on the statement of fi nancial position where there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amount and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are offset only to the extent that their related instruments have been 
offset in the statement of fi nancial position.

Derivatives and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured 
to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether 
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. Where derivatives do not 
meet the hedging criteria, they are classifi ed as held for trading for accounting purposes.

1.3.5 PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the KGFT has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably and it is probable that an outfl ow of economic benefi ts will be required to settle the obligation.  A provision for 
an onerous contract is recognised by the KGFT when the expected benefi ts to be derived by the KGFT from a contract are lower 
than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligation under the contract.  An onerous contract is a contract in which the unavoidable 
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefi ts expected to be received under it. Contingent 
liabilities, which include certain guarantees other than fi nancial guarantees, are possible obligations that arise from past events 
whose existence will be confi rmed only by the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events; not wholly 
within the KGFT’s control. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the fi nancial statements but are disclosed in the Notes to 
the fi nancial statements unless they are remote.

1.3.6 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable in the ordinary course of the KGFT’s business. Revenue 
is recognised when it is probable that economic benefi ts will fl ow to the KGFT and that these benefi ts can be reliably measured:

(a) Interest income and expense
Interest income and expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive Income on an accrual basis using the effective 
interest rate method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial asset or fi nancial 
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the fi nancial instrument. When calculating the 
effective interest rate, the KGFT estimates future cash-fl ows considering all contractual terms of the fi nancial instrument, but not 
future credit losses. When non-performing fi nancial assets have been impaired, interest income (as suspended interest) continues 
to be recognised to the extent that the asset is not impaired on the original effective interest rate.

Objective evidence that fi nancial assets are impaired can include signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty of the borrower or issuer, default or 
delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the KGFT on terms that the KGFT would not otherwise consider, 
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse 
changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

Loans and advances, receivables and held-to-maturity investment
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of the held-to-maturity investments and loans and advances carried at amortised cost is calculated as 
the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition of these fi nancial assets).

Reversal of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity fi nancial asset or loans and advances measured at amortised cost is reversed 
through profi t or loss if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised.

A reversal of impairment loss on equity investments is recognised in profi t and loss.

Derecognition of fi nancial assets
Financial assets shall be derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from the assets expire, or are transferred 
to another entity. If the KGFT neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred assets, it recognises its retained interest in the asset and associated liability for the amounts it may have 
to pay. If the KGFT retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred fi nancial asset, it continues to 
recognise a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

1.3.4.2 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Payables are stated at amortised cost, which, due to their short-term nature closely approximates their fair value.

Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities
Financial liabilities shall be derecognised only when the KGFT’s obligations under the contract are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

1.3.4.3 SPECIFIC INSTRUMENTS

Capital contributions
The KGFT’s equity instruments primarily includes government funding.  This funding represents capital provided by the Department 
of Economic Development, Tourism and Environmental Affairs and remains part of the permanent capital of the KGFT. Any directly 
attributable transaction costs are allocated to equity.

Prior to the unencumbering of government funding within the closed Debt Fund, contributions received from the benefi ciary were 
classifi ed as a liability. Capital undrawn was recorded as deferred funds and transferred to capital to the extent of exposures within 
projects. This included Fund II funds which were received from the benefi ciary for the purposes of equity investments, however 
was ring-fenced due to the security structure with the previous lenders. The approval of the Evolution Strategy in April 2015 
resulted in the capitalisation of all funds to be utilised for Debt and Equity products.
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Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the KGFT’s cash-generating unit’s expected benefi t from 
the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, 
or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in a subsequent period.

1.3.10 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
An event, which could be favourable or unfavourable, that occurs between the end of the reporting period and the date that the 
fi nancial statements are authorised for issue.

Adjusting event: An event after the reporting period that provides further evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 
reporting period, including an event that indicates that the going concern assumption in relation to the whole or part of the entity 
is not appropriate.

Non-adjusting event: An event after the reporting period that is indicative of the condition that arose after end of the reporting period.

1.3.11 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the KGFT’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both fi nancial and non-
fi nancial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the 
following methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in 
the note specifi c to that asset or liability. 

1.3.11.1 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Some of the KGFT’s fi nancial instruments are measured at fair value, such as those that are designated by management as at fair 
value through profi t and loss, available-for-sale and derivative fi nancial instruments.

The fair value of a fi nancial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between 
willing parties, other than a forced or liquidation sale.
The method of determining the fair value of fi nancial instruments can be split into the following categories:
(a) Level 1 – unadjusted quoted prices in active markets where the quoted price is readily available and the price represents actual 

and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
(b) Level 2 – Valuation techniques using market observable inputs. Such techniques may include: using recent arm’s-length market 

transactions, reference to the current fair value of similar instruments and discounted cash fl ow analysis, pricing models or 
other techniques commonly used by market participants.

(c) Level 3 – Valuation techniques, as described in (b) above, for which not all inputs are market observable prices or rates. 
Such a fi nancial instrument is initially recognised at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value, although 
the value obtained from the relevant valuation model may differ. The difference between the transaction price and the model 
value, commonly referred to as day one profi t and loss, is either amortised over the life of the transaction, deferred until the 
instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

Equity investments
After initial recognition, the KGFT measures equity investments at fair value through profi t or loss as follows:  Unquoted equity 
instrument are held at cost.  If the market for an equity fi nancial instrument is not active, the KGFT uses a valuation technique to 
establish what the transaction price would be in an arm’s length transaction motivated by normal business considerations.  

The KGFT uses valuation techniques in measuring equity instruments, including:
 Price of recent investment, if available;
 Discounted cash fl ow analysis based on free cash fl ows, earnings or dividends using market-related adjusted discount rates;
 Price earnings growth (PEG); and Option pricing models.

(b) Raising fee
KGFT charges a raising fee of up to 2% on the amount advanced to projects. KGFT is entitled to this income, and recognise this 
income in the statement of comprehensive income on the fi rst day that funds are disbursed to the qualifying projects. 

(c) Other income
Other income consists of income generated from the sale of assets that are no longer in use to the entity to employees and any 
income from realisation of insurance claims.

1.3.7 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) Short-term employee benefi ts
The cost of all short-term employee benefi ts is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.
 

(b) Other long-term employee benefi ts - Long Service Award
Employees employed on/before 31 March 2012 are entitled to a long-term benefi t based on various periods of long service to 
the KGFT and accrues up to 31 March 2024. The long service award liability is calculated by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The long service award liability is an unfunded liability in that there are no separate plan assets out 
of which obligations are to be settled. The amount recognised as a long service award liability is therefore the present value of the 
defi ned benefi t obligation at the end of the reported period. Current service costs and interest costs are recognised as expenses. 
All actuarial gains and losses and past service costs are recognised immediately as expenses.

1.3.8 LEASE TRANSACTIONS

(a) Operating lease
Assets leased by the KGFT under which all risks and benefi ts of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classifi ed as 
operating leases. Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease.

(b) Finance lease
Finance leases are capitalised as property, plant and equipment at the cash equivalent cost and a corresponding fi nance lease 
liability raised accordingly.

1.3.9 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination 
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by the KGFT, 
the liabilities incurred by the KGFT to the former owners of the acquiree and, the equity interests issued by the KGFT in exchange 
for control of the acquirer. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifi able assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition 
date. Business combination involving entities or businesses under common control is defi ned in IFRS3: Business Combinations as 
a business combination in which all of the combining entities or businesses ultimately are controlled by the same party or parties 
both before and after the combination and that control is not transitory.

Goodwill represents the future economic benefi ts arising from assets that are not capable of being individually identifi ed and 
separately recognised in a business combination and is determined as the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the entity. If, after reassessment, the 
KGFT’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi cation assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of 
the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.
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The KGFT ensures that these valuation techniques:
 Make maximum use of market inputs and rely as little as possible on entity-specifi c inputs;
 Incorporate all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price; and
 Are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing fi nancial instruments.

Equity investments held-to-maturity consists of shareholder loans.

1.3.12 TAXATION
The income of the KGFT is not subject to normal tax as its income is deemed to vest with its shareholder (entity of KwaZulu-Natal 
Government) which is exempt in terms of Section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act. The KGFT is however, subject to indirect taxes 
which comprise non-recoverable value-added taxation (VAT) and skills development levies (SDL).  

1.3.12.1 VALUE ADDED TAX (VAT)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT, except:
 Where the VAT incurred on an acquisition of an asset or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, the VAT is 
recognised as part of the asset or expenditure; and

 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of fi nancial position.

1.3.12.2 RELATED PARTIES
The following details are disclosed in the notes to the fi nancial statements regarding related parties:
 All related party names and details of the relationship
 Transactions with related parties during the period
 All balances outstanding with related parties at year-end
 Transactions and balances related to key management personnel
 Compensation paid to key management personnel

The following details are disclosed in the notes to the fi nancial statements regarding related parties:
 All related party names and details of the relationship
 Transactions with related parties during the period under review
 All balances outstanding with related parties at year-end
 Transactions and balances related to key management personnel
 Compensation paid to key management personnel

1.3.12.3 COMMITMENTS
The amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment or major contracts, are disclosed 
in the notes to the fi nancial statements.

Future operating and fi nance lease commitments are disclosed in the notes to the fi nancial statements.

1.3.13 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
At the date of authorisation of the fi nancial statements of the KGFT, for the year ended 31 March 2017, the following Standards 
and Interpretations applicable to the KGFT were in issue but not effective:

All standards and interpretations will be adopted at their effective dates.  The Trustees are of the opinion that these amendments 
will not have a material impact on the KGFT’s annual fi nancial statements.

The Trustees are of the opinion that the impact of the application of the remaining Standards and Interpretations will be as follows:

IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 will be adopted by KGFT for the fi rst time for its fi nancial reporting period ending 31 March 2018.  The standard will be 
applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions. 

IFRS 9 was revised using a 3-phase approach:

Phase 1 – Initial measurement and classifi cation of fi nancial assets
Under IFRS 9, there are two options in respect of classifi cation of fi nancial assets, namely; fi nancial assets measured at amortised 
cost, or at fair value.  Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when the business model is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash fl ows and when they give rise to cash fl ows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding. All other fi nancial assets are measured at fair value. Embedded derivatives are no longer separated from hybrid 
contracts that have a fi nancial asset host. The impact on the fi nancial statements for the KGFT cannot be reasonably estimated 
as at 31 March 2017.

Phase 2 – Impairment
As part of IFRS 9, the IASB has introduced a new, expected loss impairment model that will require more timely recognition of 
expected credit losses.  Specifi cally, the new Standard requires entities to account for expected credit losses from when fi nancial 
instruments are fi rst recognised and it lowers the threshold for recognition of full lifetime expected losses. The impact on the 
fi nancial statements for the KGFT cannot be reasonably estimated as at 31 March 2017.

Standard/Interpretation Effective Date

IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018*

IFRS 15 (2014) Revenue from Contracts from Customers Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018*

IFRS 16 (2015) Leases Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019*
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Phase 3 – Hedge accounting
IFRS 9 introduces a substantially-reformed model for hedge accounting with enhanced disclosures about risk management 
activity. The new model represents a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that aligns the accounting treatment with risk 
management activities, enabling entities to better refl ect these activities in their fi nancial statements.  In addition, as a result of 
these changes, users of the fi nancial statements will be provided with better information about risk management and the effect 
of hedge accounting on the fi nancial statements. The impact on the fi nancial statements for the KGFT cannot be reasonably 
estimated as at 31 March 2017.

IFRS 15 (2014) Revenue from Contracts from Customers
IFRS 15 will be adopted by KGFT for the fi rst time for its fi nancial reporting period ending 31 March 2018.  The standard will be 
applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions.

The main objectives of this project were as follows:
 To remove inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing revenue recognition standards by providing clear principles for revenue 
recognition in a robust framework.

 To provide a single revenue recognition model which will improve comparability over a range of industries, companies and 
geographical boundaries.

 To simplify the preparation of fi nancial statements by reducing the number of requirements to which preparers must refer.

IFRS 16 (2016) Leases
IFRS 16 will be adopted by KGFT for the fi rst time for its fi nancial reporting period ending 31 March 2019. The standard will be 
applied retrospectively, subject to transitional provisions. The main objectives of this project were as follows:
 To provide a single lessee accounting model that requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term 
of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.

 To provide a lessee with an accurate measure of right of use similarly to other non-fi nancial assets (such as property, plant 
and equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other non-fi nancial liabilities; and

 To require enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will improve information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, 
particularly to residual value risk.

The impact on the fi nancial statements for the KGFT cannot be reasonable, estimated as at 31 March 2017.

Amendments to IFRS5, IFRS7, IFRS10, IFRS11, IFRS12, IFRS14, IAS1, IAS16, IAS19, IAS27, IAS28, IAS34 and IAS38 and IAS41 
are not applicable to the business of the KGFT and will therefore have no impact on future fi nancial statements.

2017 2016

R R

2 Property, plant and Equipment

Cost

Computer Equipment 759 183 682 886

Offi ce Equipment 579 020 540 675

Furniture & fi ttings 805 410 789 512

Leasehold improvements 1 288 126 1 288 126

Leased Assets - -

Potable communication devices 110 504 65 251

Total 3 542 243 3 366 451

Accumulated depreciation

Computer Equipment (510 295) (337 680)

Offi ce Equipment (241 457) (169 769)

Furniture & fi ttings (580 069) (470 239)

Leasehold improvements (1 053 081) (844 626)

Leased Assets - -

Potable communication devices (53 799) (38 019)

Total (2 438 701) (1 860 333)

Net book value

Computer Equipment 248 888 345 206

Offi ce Equipment 337 563 370 906

Furniture & fi ttings 225 341 319 273

Leasehold improvements 235 045 443 500

Leased Assets - -

Potable communication devices 56 705 27 232

1 103 544 1 506 117
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Computer 
Equipment

Offi ce 
Equipment

Furniture & 
Fittings

Leasehold 
Improvements

Leased 
Assets

Portable 
Communication 

Devices

Work in 
Progress

Total

R R R R R R R R

2 Property, plant 
and Equipment 
...continued

2017

Cost

Balance as at 
1 April 2016 682 886 540 675 789 512 1 288 126 - 65 251 - 3 366 450

Additions 94 930 57 083 15 898 - - 56 773 - 224 684

Disposals (18 632) (18 738) - - - (11 520) - (48 890)

Balance as at 
31 March 2017 759 184 579 020 805 410 1 288 126 - 110 504 - 3 542 244

Accumulated 
depreciation

Balance as at 
1 April 2016 (337 680) (169 769) (470 239) (844 626) - (38 019) - (1 860 333)

Disposals 18 632 18 738 - - - 11 520 - 48 890

Depreciation for 
the year (191 247) (90 426) (109 830) (208 454) - (27 300) - (627 257)

Balance as at 
31 March 2017 (510 295) (241 457) (580 069) (1 053 080) - (53 799) - (2 438 700)

Net book value as 
at 31 March 2017 248 889 337 563 225 341 235 046 - 56 705 - 1 103 544

The Trust had fully depreciated equipment and cell phone instruments with a historic cost amounting to R339 482 in the fi xed 
asset register and these fully depreciated assets are still in use.

2016

Cost

Balance as at 
01 April 2015 667 501 309 953 789 512 1 271 220 295 617 60 931 64 698 3 459 432

Additions 81 486 244 779 - 16 906 - 12 652 (4 595) 351 228

Disposals (112 792) (27 469) - - (295 617) (8 332) - (444 210)

Transfer 46 691 13 412 - - - - (60 103) -

Balance as at 
31 March 2016 682 886 540 675 789 512 1 288 126 - 65 251 - 3 366 450

Computer 
Equipment

Offi ce 
Equipment

Furniture & 
Fittings

Leasehold 
Improvements

Leased 
Assets

Portable 
Communication 

Devices

Work in 
Progress

Total

R R R R R R R R

2 Property, plant 
and Equipment 
...continued

Accumulated 
depreciation

Balance as at 
1 April 2015 (291 402) (146 145) (371 023) (587 510) (231 735) (19 640) - (1 647 455)

Disposals 112 792 26 865 - - 288 790 8 332 - 436 779

Transfer - - - - - - - -

Depreciation for 
the year (159 070) (50 489) (99 216) (257 116) (57 055) (26 711) - (649 657)

Balance as at 
31 March 2016 (337 680) (169 769) (470 239) (844 626) - (38 019) - (1 860 333)

Net book value as 
at 31 March 2016 345 206 370 906 319 273 443 500 - 27 232 - 1 506 117

The lease for printing machines was cancelled as at 31 March 2016 and new printing machines were purchased. The carrying 
amount of the leased asset at 31 March 2016 was R27 232 and the KGFT’s obligations under fi nance leases were secured by the 
lessor’s charge over the leased assets.

Reconciliation of 
net book value

Balance as at 
1 April 2016 345 206 370 906 319 273 443 500 - 27 232 - 1 506 117

Additions 94 930 57 083 15 898 - - 56 773 - 224 684

Disposals - - - - - - - -

Depreciation (191 247) (90 426) (109 830) (208 454) - (27 300) - (627 257)

Balance as at 
31 March 2017 248 889 337 563 225 341 235 046 - 56 705 - 1 103 544
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Computer
Software

Loan Management 
System

Work In Progress Total

R R R R

3 Intangible assets
2017
Cost
Balance as at 1 April 2016 82 499 1 262 432 30 000 1 374 931
Additions 5 295 - 7 450 12 745
Disposal - (1 262 432) (24 000) (1 286 432)
Balance as at 31 March 2017 87 794 - 13 450 101 244

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1 April 2016 (64 439) (1 262 432) - (1 326 871)
Disposal - 1 262 432 - 1 262 432
Amortisation for the year (10 540) - - (10 540)
Balance as at 31 March 2017 (74 979) - - (74 979)

Net book value as at 31 March 2017 12 815 - 13 450 26 265

2016
Cost
Balance as at 1 April 2015 71 874 1 262 432 30 000 1 364 305
Additions 10 626 - - 10 626
Balance as at 31 March 2016 82 500 1 262 432 30 000  1 374 931

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 1 April 2015 (27 692) (867 359) - (895 051)
Amortisation for the year (36 747) (395 073) - (431 820)
Balance as at 31 March 2016 (64 439) (1 262 432) - (1 326 871)

Net book value as at 31 March 2016 18 061 - 30 000 48 060

Reconciliation of net book value
Balance as at 1 April 2016 18 061 - 30 000 48 060
Additions 5 295 - 7 450 12 745
Disposal - - (24 000) (24 000)
Amortisation for the year (10 540) - - (10 540)
Balance as at 31 March 2017 12 815 - 13 450 26 265

KGFT had previously incurred costs for the customisation of a loan management system utilised for the Debt fund. Due to the 
change in the funding model to include an additional product i.e. Equity, the KGFT is in the process of identifying and documenting 
a revised system that will assist with all products as well as across the value chain i.e. from origination until exit of investments/
repayments including document management. The KGFT has therefore ceased to utilise the asset, as it will require signifi cant 
development based on the preliminary needs noted. The asset has therefore been impaired to a nil recoverable value and will be 
assessed for write-off from the asset register, based on fi nalisation of the review process.

KGFT had developed a new logo and website during the 31 March 2015 fi nancial year. The KGFT has undertaken to protect 
the intellectual property rights relating thereto by registering the relevant trademarks. During the 2016/17 fi nancial year, it was 
identifi ed that the rights to certain trademarks were unsuccessful, and thus such cost relating thereto were expensed. As at 
31 March 2017, the registration is still in process and the costs amounting to R13 450 have been classifi ed as work in progress. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

Notes 2017 2016

R R

4 Equity Investment
Equity Investments
KGFT’s equity investments consist of the following: 
Share Capital 100 100 000 16 800 000
Shareholder loans 122 845 153 31 215 387

222 945 153 48 015 387

Equity investment designated at fair value through profi t or loss Holding %
KwaDukuza Private Hospital (Pty) Ltd 26% 16 800 000 16 800 000
Ross Healthcare (Pty) Ltd 25% 76 000 000 -
Inoxa Industries (Pty) Ltd 22% 7 300 000 -

Movement in equity investment designated at fair value through 
Profi t or Loss:
Balance at the beginning of the year 16 800 000 -
Acquisitions 83 300 000 16 800 000
Fair value adjustment - -
Balance as at the end of the year 100 100 000 16 800 000

Equity investment designated at fair value through profi t and loss 
consist of direct equity in ordinary shares in KwaDukuza Private 
Hospital (Pty) Ltd (KDPH), Inoxa Industries and Ross Healthcare (Pty) 
Ltd, KDPH is a private hospital and Inoxa a cookware manufacturing 
plant and both of these investments are still at construction phase, 
and therefore a fair value measurement is not possible at the date 
of reporting. Ross Healthcare (Pty) Ltd is a special vehicle used for 
acquisition of interest in Hillcrest and Gateway Private Hospitals and 
the acquisition of R76m was at market value.

Equity Investments – Shareholder Loans
KwaDukuza Private Hospital (Pty) Ltd 37 321 582 31 215 387
Inoxa Industries (Pty) Ltd 85 523 571 -

122 845 153 31 215 386

The KGFT has not, during the current fi nancial year, reclassifi ed 
before maturity more than an insignifi cant amount of investments in 
relation to the total amount of held-to-maturity investments.

Movement in equity investment held - Shareholder loans:
Balance as at 1 April 31 215 387 -
Add: Shareholder loan granted 75 200 000 31 200 000
Add: net interest earned 16 429 766 15 387
Balance as at 31 March 122 845 153 31 215 387

The shareholder loans bear interest at rates that are determined 
based on the average expected internal rate of return as agreed on 
the investment. The interest rate ranges from 15% to 20%, based on 
the structuring of the investment and liquidity risk assessed for each 
equity transaction. Repayment terms vary and range from 5 to 8 year, 
depending on the expected exit from the investment.
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Notes 2017 2016

R R

5 Loans and Advances

Loans and advances net of provision for suspended interest 645 780 653 481 387 300

Provision for doubtful debts (25 720 622) (19 286 073)

620 060 031 462 101 227

Less: Short term portion of loans and advances (55 285 048) (40 719 153)

Non-current loans and advances 564 774 983 421 382 074

The loans and advances bear interest at rates that are determined 
at JIBAR, plus a margin and liquidity costs. The margins range from 
1.59% to 4.47%, based on the debt structuring and credit risk 
assessed for each loan. Repayment periods also vary from monthly, 
quarterly and biannually as supported by the cash fl ows and the 
underlying projects.

During the 2015 fi nancial year, the KGFT entered into a fi xed term 
loan project agreement on one of its projects within the portfolio. 
The KGFT does not speculate in interest rates. In order to manage 
the interest fl uctuations, the KGFT entered into hedge agreement 
with Rand Merchant Bank to eliminate the interest rate fl uctuations 
as a result of the changes in the JIBAR rate. 

Movement in loans and advances:

Balance as at 1 April 462 101 227 363 416 961

Add: draw downs 172 079 746 120 000 000

Add: net interest earned 12 48 282 443 46 208 824

Add: capitalisation of fees 634 200 -

Less: provision for doubtful debts (6 434 549) (19 286 073)

Less: payments received (56 603 036) (48 238 485)

Balance as at 31 March 620 060 031 462 101 227

Movement in provision for doubtful debts:

Balance as at 1 April (19 286 073) -

Charge to statement of comprehensive income (6 434 549) (19 286 073)

Balance as at 31 March (25 720 622) (19 286 073)

A provision is raised during the current fi nancial year due to one of 
the projects in the portfolio being unable to meet its repayment terms. 
The project has not been able to meet its loan repayments due to 
delays in receipt of funds from its major contract. A provision has 
been raised based on a shortfall of the estimated recoverable value 
of security valuation against the amounts outstanding as at 
31 March 2017.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

Notes 2017 2016

R R

6 Cash and Investment Deposits

Current Accounts 6 462 287 2 070 958

Call Accounts 6 915 062 11 819 993

Investment Accounts – Opex 30 230 431 47 585 149

Investment Accounts – Swap security* 20 000 000 20 000 000

Investment Accounts – Capital available Fund I-Debt Fund** 217 033 302 297 223 000

Investment Accounts –Capital available FundII-Equity Fund*** 94 153 304 202 000 000

374 794 386 580 699 100

* Included in the above amounts is a R20m deposit held with 
Rand Merchant Bank as collateral on the interest rate swap   
agreement maturing on 12 March 2023 and accordingly 
classifi ed as Non-Current. 

** Capital totalling R160,1m is further committed to approved 
projects at 31 March 2017. Capital available for debt funding at 
31 March 2017 amounts to R57m.

*** Capital to be utilised and committed as Government contribution 
in en-commandite partnership within private equity structure.

The KGFT invests surplus funds with fi nancial institutions that 
are rated in accordance with Fitch rating of BBB with the exception 
of Ithala Limited, which is not independently rated, however has 
been approved as an authorised institution by the Trustees. 
The interest earned on surplus funds approximated on average 
7.10% (2016:7.03%) during the year.

Short-term deposit and maturity analysis

Current Accounts 6 462 288 2 070 958

Call Accounts 6 915 062 11 819 993

1-30 Days 253 931 752 189 470 842

1-3 Months 87 336 056 306 618 249

3 -6 Months - 50 573 547

Over 5 Years 20 149 228 20 145 511

374 794 386 580 699 100

Disclosure in the Statement of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents 354 645 158 509 980 042

Investment Deposits 20 149 228 70 719 058

374 794 386 580 699 100



THE KZN GROWTH FUND TRUST INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017100 THE KZN GROWTH FUND TRUST INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016/2017 101

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

Notes 2017 2016

R R

7 Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables 3 189 143 -

Related party receivable 14 , 23.3 1 970 615 -

Sundry debtors 860 330 1 024 446

Prepayments 544 353 810 433

Deposit 217 820 244 857

VAT receivables - 114

Staff Debtors 50 129 50 006

6 832 390 2 129 856

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally 
settled on 30 to 60 days terms. The staff debtors are interest free, 
and the employees are subject to fringe benefi ts tax.  The staff 
debtor’s terms are normally between 1 and 60 months.

Short-term Deposit and Maturity Analysis

Demand 6 328 684 1 269 304

1-30 Days 1 031 1 531

1-6 Months 18 157 7 771

6-12 Months 550 541 819 621

Over 5 Years 24 753 31 629

6 923 166 2 129 856

8 Capital Contribution and Reserves

Initial capital 10 10

Capital contribution – Debt capital 824 400 000 750 000 000

Capital contribution – Equity capital 300 000 000 250 000 000

Total capital contribution 1 124 400 010 1 000 000 010

General reserve - -

1 124 400 010 1 000 000 010

The total capital contribution represents capital provided by the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government, and remains part of 
the KGFT’s capital for the life span of the KGFT. There are no repayment terms and this funding is interest fee. The balance has 
increased due to additional funding of R64.4m from Government in the current fi nancial year.

In terms of the strategy, funds previously received for equity from the Benefi ciary (and held in a warehousing capacity outside of capital 
within the Debt Fund), was approved to be utilised for the KGFTs mandate and revised product offerings was transferred to capital.

As part of the implementation of the strategy, general reserve funding which was previously provided by the KwaZulu-Natal 
Provincial Government (relating to the settlement subsidy received for the repayment of a previous leader (INCA) on their exit from 
the KGFT as well as benefi ts received as a result of the waiver of amounts payable on the acquisition of the net assets of the KGFT 
Manager), was capitalised to be utilised for project disbursements. Furthermore, the KGFT sought to capitalise additional funds 
from retained earnings. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes 2017 2016

R R

9 Finance lease liability

Total Finance lease liability 6 321 22 333

Less: short-term portion of fi nance lease liability (6 321) (16 007)

Long-term portion of fi nance lease liability - 6 326

The split of the minimum lease payments due, future fi nance charges 
and present value of minimum lease payments due are detailed in 
note 18.2.

10 Provisions

Provisions comprise of the following:

Long service awards 10.1 125 498 241 481

Audit fee provision 10.2 260 931 373 362

Total provisions 386 429 614 843

Long term portion of provisions 48 684 108 912

Short term portion of provisions 337 745 505 931

Total provisions 386 429 614 843

Provisions comprise of employee benefi ts that relate to long service 
awards and provision for audit fees. The details relating to the long 
service award is detailed in note 10.1 and comprises short and long-
term portions, whereas the details of the provision for audit fees is 
detailed in note 10.2 and comprises only short-term provisions.

10.1 Long Service Awards

The KGFT operates an unfunded long service award (LSA) for 
qualifying employees. Under the award, the employees are 
entitled to a LSA for every fi ve years of service completed, from 
fi ve years to fi fteen years of service inclusive. No other employees 
who were employed prior to 31 March 2012 are eligible for the 
Long Service Awards.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the 
long service obligation were carried out at 16 January 2017 by Mr 
Chanan Weiss, Fellow of the Faculty of Actuaries and the Actuarial 
Consulting. The present value of the long service obligation, and the 
related current service cost and past service cost, were measured 
using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

Long term portion of Long Service award provision 48 684 108 912

Short term portion of Long Service award provision 76 814 132 569

Total Long Service Award Provision 125 498 241 481
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R R

10 Provisions ...continued

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial 
valuations were as follows:

Discount rate 8.16% 8.74%

General salary infl ation 6.35% 7.15%

Net discount rate 1.70% 1.48%

Average retirement age 63 63

Amounts recognised in profi t and loss in respect of the 
long service award:

Current service cost 49 993 (56 474)

Interest 15 431 21 246

Actuarial gain (51 396) (1 263)

14 028 (36 491)

The expense is included in the personnel expense which is classifi ed 
as administrative expenses as per note 15.

Movements in the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation 
in the year were as follows:

The amount included in the statement of fi nancial position 
arising from KGFT’s obligation in respect of its long service award 
is as follows:

Present value of unfunded defi ned benefi t obligation 125 498 241 481

Net liability arising from defi ned benefi t obligation 125 498 241 481

Opening defi ned benefi t obligation 241 481 313 729

Current service cost 49 993 142 795

Interest 15 431 21 246

Effect on curtailment - (199 269)

Expected benefi t vesting (130 011) (35 757)

Actuarial gain (51 396) (1 263)

Closing defi ned benefi t obligation 125 498 241 481

Sensitivity Analysis Assumptions     
The assumptions, which tend to have the greatest impact on the results, are:   
(i) The discount rate relative to the salary infl ation assumptions; and    
(ii) Assumed rates of withdrawals of employees from service.    
     
The liability at the valuation date was recalculated to show the effect of:     
(i) A 1% increase and decrease in the assumed general salary infl ation rate;
(ii) A 1% increase and decrease in the discount rate; and 
(iii) A 50% decrease in the assumed withdrawal rates from service.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

Notes 2017 2016

R R

10.2 Provision for External Audit Fees

Provision comprises audit fees only. The movement in the provision is 
as follows:

Balance as at 1 April 373 362 394 995

Provisions raised during the year 15 433 239 457 932

Provision utilised during the year (545 670) (479 565)

Balance as at 31 March 260 931 373 362

Sensitivity Analysis on the Unfunded 
Accrued Liability

Change 2017 2016

Liability % change Liability % change

R R R R R

10 Provisions ...continued

Assumption

Central assumptions 125 498 241 313

+1% 128 008 +2% 246 310 +2%

General salary infl ation -1% 122 988 -2% 236 651 -2%

+1% 122 988 -2% 234 236 -3%

Discount rate -1% 128 636 +2% 248 725 +3%

Withdrawal rates -50% 139 303 +11% 263 214 +9%

Sensitivity Analysis on the Current-
service and Interest Costs for the 
Year Ending 31 March 2017

Central assumptions 50 000 15 400 65 400

+1% 51 000 15 800 66 800 +2%

General salary infl ation -1% 49 000 15 000 64 000 -2%

+1% 49 100 16 600 65 700 0%

General salary infl ation -1% 50 900 14 200 65 100 0%

Withdrawal rates -50% 53 900 17 300 71 200 +9%

Sensitivity Analysis on the Current-
service and Interest Costs for the 
Year Ending 31 March 2016

Central assumptions 142 800 21 200 164 000

+1% 148 800 22 000 170 800 +4%

General salary infl ation -1% 137 000 22 500 157 500 -4%

+1% 136 400 23 300 159 700 -3%

General salary infl ation -1% 149 600 19 000 168 600 +3%

Withdrawal rates -50% 172 000 25 100 197 100 +20%
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Notes 2017 2016

R R

11 Trade and Other payables

Trade payables 179 256 1 304 058

Trade accruals  172 664 1 242 946

Accrued leave pay 887 592 1 002 219

Operating lease commitments 104 460 324 949

Vat payable 7 731 -

1 351 703 3 874 172

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally 
settled on 30 to 60-day terms. Leave pay accrual is based on the 
actual leave days to employees and is calculated using the current 
remuneration packages. The timing of cash on the employees’ 
resignation, retirement or dismissal.

12 Interest Income

Current account 1 130 870 86 862

Call account 1 094 425 968 877

Transfer from deferred funds - 42 919 821

Investment accounts 36 066 476 38 515 128

Loans and advances 48 282 443 46 208 824

Shareholders loan 16 429 766 15 387

103 003 980 128 714 899

13 Interest Expense

Interest paid on interest rate swap 133 018 1 250 424

14 Other Income

Commitment fee income 238 404 33 699

Profi t on sale of assets - 2 799

Lead arrangement fee 1 400 000 -

Legal fees recoveries 165 000 -

Funds accruing from KZN Property Development Holding SOC 1 970 615 -

Sundry income 72 886 23 060

3 846 905 59 558

Sundry Income mainly includes month charges to KDPH of R5000 exclusive of VAT for offi ce space usage at KGFT offi ces and 
tender document fees.  The funds of R5m were retained by the Fund Manager in 2014 when assets were transferred to KGFT 
to allow the Fund Manager to pa relevant expenses attributable to wind-up.  After incurring all the referred expenses an excess 
amount of R2m was not used and this amount is treated as other income since it is accruing to KGFT.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2017

Notes 2017 2016

R R

15 Operating Expenses

The operational expenses include the following:

Audit fees and professional fees: 754 701 719 813

External audit fees 10.2 406 441 427 350

Current year provision 433 239 457 932

Prior year over provision (26 798) (30 582)

Internal audit fees 348 260 292 464

Bank charges 66 403 56 713

Committee fees 16.1 1 875 667 2 245 632

Depreciation of Equipment 2 627 259 649 657

Amortisation of Intangible assets 3 10 540 431 820

Personnel expenses 20 804 187 17 747 202

Staff salaries and benefi ts 11 620 841 7 829 526 

Executive Management Remuneration 16.2 9 169 318 9 954 167

Long service – current cost 10.1 49 993 (56 474)

Long service – interest cost 10.1 15 431 21 246

Long service – actuarial (gain)/loss 10.1 (51 396) (1 263)

Legal fees - 1 035 375

Travel and accommodation 760 994 992 166

Rent paid 987 797 981 893

Recruitment 304 886 677 601

Telecommunications 243 569 207 522

Project technical appraisal and background checks 3 087 283 176 451

Other advisory fees 555 770 1 439 000

Marketing costs 932 963 559 449

Insurance 291 867 173 640

Finance charge on fi nance lease - 7 611

Secretariat Services 112 788 -

Other expenses 1 324 091 1 641 796

32 740 766 29 743 344
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Name of the Member Board of Trustees Investment 
Committee

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Human Resource 
& Remuneration 

Committee

Total

R R R R R

16 Trustees and other committee 
members’ remuneration and 
executive remuneration

16.1 Trustees’ fees

Ms D Hlatshwayo 
(Chairperson of Trust)  485 630 12 585 -   -   498 215 

Mr S. Buthelezi 
(Deputy Chairman of Trust)
(Chairman of Investment Committee)* 85 606 17 057 -   -   102 663 

Ms B. Zulu* 61 844 -   12 663 8 906 83 413 

Ms N. Radebe* 46 383 9 497 -   -   55 880 

Mr K. Thango* 47 001 -   4 748 6 680 58 429 

Mr A. Dhuki* 47 001 -   9 497 -   56 498 

Mr S. Motau (Chairman of ARC)*  - -   62 606 -   62 606 

Ms T. Ngcobo
(Chairperson of HR&REMCO)*  - -   -   29 939 29 939 

Ms K. Tshabalala - 50 341 -   -   50 341  

Ms D. Lerutla - 62 926 -   -   62 926 

Mr N. Hendricks* - 28 492 -   -   28 492 

Mr H. Switala
(Deputy Chairman of Trust)
(Chairman of Investment Committee)** 149 622 67 807 37 756 -   255 185 

Ms D.Jay** 70 010 - 37 834 26 816 134 660 

Ms P. Langeni** 80 312 25 326 -   -   105 638 

Mr I.A.S. Vally
(Chairman of Audit & Risk Committee)**

80 312 37 991 68 228 26 719 213 248 

Ms K.P.M. Simelane (Chairperson of 
HR Committee)**  - -   -   77 532 77 532 

1 153 721 312 022 233 332 176 592 1 875 667 

*     Appointed in 1 December 2016
**   Resigned on 31 October 2016
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Notes 2017 2016

R R

16.2 Executive management remuneration

Mr MSA Badurally Adam-Chief Executive Offi cer 4 105 808 3 390 025

Mr I Abdoola – Chief Financial Offi cer (appointed 7 April 2014) 2 158 019 1 956 530

Mr AL Shabane – Chief Investment Offi cer 
(appointed 1 February 2015) 2 213 456 1 586 526

Mr M Beckley – Acting Chief Risk Offi cer 
(Appointed 1 August 2016, Resigned 16 February 2017) 692 035 -

Mr MAG Phungula (Legal, Risk & Compliance Offi cer 
(Resigned 31 May 2015) - 896 445

9 169 318 7 829 526

Name of the Member Board of Trustees Investment 
Committee

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Human Resource 
& Remuneration 

Committee

Total

R R R R R

16 Trustees and other committee 
members’ remuneration and 
executive remuneration ...continued

Ms D Hlatshwayo
(Chairperson of Trust)  645 922 -   -   -   645 922 

Mr H. Switala
(Deputy Chairman of Trust)
(Chairman of Investment Committee) 294 236 68 106 -   -   362 342 

Ms D.Jay 152 776 12 663 50 585 48 606 264 630 

Ms P. Langeni 140 478 25 326 -   -   165 804 

Mr I.A.S. Vally
(Chairman of Audit & Risk Committee) 141 616 37 291 90 970 45 331 315 208 

Ms Z. Mbele 151 358 -   50 653 -   202 011 

Ms K. Tshabalala -   50 585 -   -   50 585 

Ms D. Lerutla -   50 653 -   -   50 653 

Ms K.P.M. Simelane
(Chairperson of HR&REMCO) -   -   -   188 477 188 477 

1 526 386 244 624 192 208 282 414 2 245 632 
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Notes 2017 2016

R R

17 Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Total comprehensive income 65 430 079 83 745 180

Adjustment for non-cash items:

Add: depreciation 2 627 259 649 657

Add: amortisation 3 10 540 431 821

Less: interest income net of suspense interest 12 (103 003 980) (85 795 078)

Less: interest expense 13 133 018 1 250 424

Add: long service award 10.1 14 028 (36 491)

Less: profi t on sale of assets - (2 799)

Add /Less: Fair value gains / losses on derivative fi nancial instrument 4 198 839 (5 250 564)

Add: re-allocations of expenses from asset 3 24 000 -

Add: impairment provision 5 6 434 549 19 286 073

Add: interest for deferred funds released to capital 12 - (42 919 821)

Movements in Current Assets and Liabilities

Decrease in trade and other receivables 7 (4 702 534) (563 905)

Decrease in trade and other payables 11 (2 522 469) 2 075 140

Increase in provisions 10 (242 443) (57 390)

Cash Outfl ow from Operating Activities (33 599 114) (27 187 753)

18 Lease Commitments

18.1 Operating Lease Commitments

The future minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable 
operating lease are as follows:

Due within next 12 months 305 792 730 879

Due from 1 year to 5 years - 315 383

Total future Cash Flows 305 792 1 046 262

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KGFT for its offi ce space and parking. The lease term is 5 years and 
rentals increase with the agreed upon escalations as per the lease agreements. The lease payments are subject to escalation of 
9% per annum. No contingent rent is payable.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Up to 1 year 1 year to 5 years Total

R R R

18 Lease Commitments ...continued

18.2 Finance lease commitments

It is KGFT policy to lease certain property and equipment under 
fi nance leases. The lease term relates to one iPad tablet. The KGFT has 
elected to account for the iPad tablet two-year contract agreement as 
a fi nance lease. The carrying amount of the lease asset is R6 326. The 
contract agreement provides for 24 equal instalments amounting to 
R526.72 including VAT with effect from 01 April 2016. Ownership of 
the iPad tablet will transfer to the KGFT at the end of the lease term.

The reconciliation between the total minimum lease payments and 
their present value:

2017

Minimum lease payments 6 321    - 6 321

Finance cost - - -

Present value 6 321 - 6 321

2016

Minimum lease payments 16 007 6 326 22 333

Finance cost - - -

Present value 16 007 6 326 22 333

19 Financial Risk Management

Introduction and overview
The KGFT has exposure to the following risks from fi nancial instruments:
  Credit risk
  Liquidity risk
  Market risk
  Operational risk

This note presents information about the KGFT’s exposure to each of the above risks, the KGFT’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk.

Risk management framework
The Board of Trustees has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the KGFT’s risk management framework. 
The KGFT’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the entity, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
refl ect changes in market conditions and the KGFT’s activities.

19.1 Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a fi nancial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment that it has 
entered into with the KGFT, resulting in a fi nancial loss to the KGFT. It arises principally from cash and investment deposits and from 
loans and advances made. For risk management reporting purposes, the KGFT considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk 
exposure such as individual’s obligor default risk and sector risk.
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19 Financial Risk Management

19.1.1 Management of credit risk
The KGFT’s policy over credit risk is to minimise its exposure to counterparties with perceived higher risk of default by dealing only 
with counterparties meeting the credit standards and by taking collateral for advances made. The KGFT, through its Investment 
Committee has designed comprehensive investment, credit and pricing policies that regulate the processes to be conducted in the 
evaluation of loans and advances, as well as the terms and conditions under which loans and advances are made.

The KGFT assesses the credit rating of the loans and advances when it becomes party to the transaction and this is used to 
determine the credit margin, which is included in the price that is charged to the loan. The KGFT’s credit risks are monitored on a 
semi-annual basis by the Board of Trustees.

Cash and investment deposits are required to be held with the fi nancial institutions as approved by the Trustees.

19.1.2 Exposure to credit risk
The KGFT’s maximum credit risk exposure (before collateral and other credit enhancements) at the statement of fi nancial position 
date is represented by the respective carrying amounts of the fi nancial assets in the Statement of Financial Position. The risks on 
some of these exposures, such as loans and advances are mitigated by collateral held.

The KGFT holds tangible and intangible securities for the loans and advances. This includes, but is not limited to, specifi c notarial 
bonds, cession of insurance policies, project accounts, shareholder agreements and other assets.

19.1.3 Cash and investment deposits
The KGFT’s cash and investment deposits are held mainly with South Africa fi nancial institution with a rating of F3 (ZAR), short term 
National Rating based on rating agency Fitch ratings.

19.1.4 Concentration of credit risk
The Investment Committee reviews credit concentration of debt securities (including shareholder loans) held based on 
counterparties and industries.

As at the reporting date, the KGFT’s debt securities exposures were concentrated in the following industries:
Transport and Logistics   17%
Telecommunications   27%
Health care     5%
Manufacturing    51%

19.1.5 Loans and advances
The KGFT enters into credit agreements that may result in credit loss in the event that the counterparty to the transaction is unable 
to fulfi l its contractual obligation to the KGFT. The KGFT minimises its credit risk by monitoring the counterpart’s creditworthiness 
in addition to this, the counterparties are required to go through an approval process and provide collateral in order to qualify for 
a loan.

19.1.6 Trade and other receivables
The trade and other receivables as disclosed are not exposed to any credit risk and no amounts are overdue.

19.1.7 Counterparty risk
Credit risk also arises in the form of fi nancial counterparty risk from the KGFT’s cash and liquidity management activities. In order to 
mitigate this risk, the KGFT only deals with the fi nancial institutions as approved by the Board of Trustees.

19.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the KGFT will encounter diffi culty in meeting obligations arising from its fi nancial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another fi nancial asset, or that such obligations will have to be settled in a manner disadvantageous to 
the KGFT.

19.2.1 Management of liquidity risk
The KGFT’s policy and the KGFT’s approach to managing liquidity is to have suffi cient liquidity to meet its liabilities, as and when 
due, without incurring undue losses or risking damage to the KGFT’s reputation.

The KGFT’s liquidity risk is managed in accordance with policies and procedures in place, whereby the KGFT overall liquidity risks 
are monitored on a regular basis by the Board of Trustees.
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Notes On demand 1 to 30 days 1 to 6 months 6 months to 
1 year

From 1 to 
5 years

After 5 years Total

R R R R R R R

19 Financial Risk 
Management 
...continued

A summary 
of the KGFT’s 
liquidity profi le 
as at 31 March 
2017 is as 
follows:

Financial Assets

Equity 
Investments

4
- - - - - 222 945 153 222 945 153

Derivative 
fi nancial 
instrument

24

- - - - - 1 783 742 1 783 742

Loans and 
advances

5
- 25 720 624 15 999 365 13 565 060 187 054 146 377 720 836 620 060 031

Trade receivable 7 6 237 908 1 031 18 157 550 541 24 753 - 6 832 390

Cash and 
investment 
deposits

6

13 377 349 253 931 752 87 336 056 - - 20 149 228 374 794 385

Financial 
Liabilities

Trade and other 
payables

11
(1 351 703) - - - - - (1 351 703)

Net Liquidity 
Excess 18 263 554 279 653 407 103 353 578 14 115 601 187 078 899 622 598 959 1 225 063 999

Cumulative 
Liquidity Excess 18 379 514 298 032 921 401 386 499 415 502 100 602 580 999 1 225 063 999 1 225 063 999
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Notes On demand 1 to 30 days 1 to 6 months 6 months to 
1 year

From 1 to 
5 years

After 5 years Total

R R R R R R R

19 Financial Risk 
Management 
...continued

Financial Assets
Equity 
investments

4
- - - - - 48 015 386 48 015 386

Derivative 
fi nancial 
instrument

24

- - - - - 5 982 581 5 982 581
Loans and 
advances

5
- - 38 942 656 1 776 497 211 256 354 210 125 720 462 101 227

Trade receivable 7 1 269 304 1 531 7 771 819 621 31 629 - 2 129 856
Cash and 
investment 
deposits

6

13 890 951 189 470 842 357 191 796 - - 20 145 511 580 699 100

Financial 
Liabilities
Trade and other 
payables

11
(3 874 172) - - - - - (3 874 172)

Net Liquidity 
Excess 11 286 083 189 472 373 396 142 223 2 596 118 211 287 983 284 269 198 1 095 053 978

Cumulative 
Liquidity 11 286 083 200 758 456 596 900 679 599 496 797 810 784 780 1 095 053 978  1 095 053 978

The table shows the undiscounted cash fl ows of the KGFT’s fi nancial liabilities on the basis of their earliest possible contractual 
maturity. The gross amounts include interest payable where appropriate. The KGFT’s expected cash fl ows on these instruments do 
not vary signifi cantly from this analysis.

19.3 Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest risk that will affect the KGFT’s income or the value of its 
holdings of fi nancial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

19.3.1 Management of market risks
The KGFT’s market risk is managed by the KGFT in accordance with policies and procedures in place. The KGFT’s level of borrowing 
and consequently the debt service costs are closely monitored and controlled by the Trustees having regards to the prevailing and 
projected interest rates and the KGFT’s capacity to service such debt from future earnings.

19.3.2 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the susceptibility of the Trust’s fi nancial position to adverse fl uctuations in market interest rates. Variations 
in market interest rates impact on the cash fl ows and income stream of the Trust through their net effect on interest rate sensitive 
assets. At the same time, movements in interest rates impact the Trust’s capital through their net effect on the market value of 
assets. Interest rate risk in the Trust arises naturally as a result of its funding and lending operations.

This risk materialises in the Trust’s signifi cant cash portfolio invested in various interest earning bank treasury and call accounts. 
The Trust is dependent on interest income from cash on call to fund its annual operations, and will become more dependent on 
interest income from cash balances, as well as from the originated loans portfolio to fund its annual operational requirements 
going forward.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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19.3.3 Exposure to margin risk
The KGFT is exposed to the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of its fi nancial instruments will be affected by the impairment 
of fi nancial assets. The internal procedures require the KGFT to manage margin risk in accordance with policies and procedures in 
place. The KGFT has designed a Risk Reward profi le to assist the KGFT in managing the margin risk.

At the reporting date, the profi le of the KGFT’s margin was:

Notes 2017 2016

R R

19 Financial Risk Management ...continued
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
In assessing the impact of changes in interest rates on the most 
impacting areas of the investment activities of the Trust, the effect 
of a 1% change in the interest environment, around originated loans, 
and cash and investment deposits, was considered as follows:

Sensitivity of a 1% change in interest rates to Profi t or Loss:
Loans and advances 6 200 600 4 621 012
Cash and investment deposits 3 747 944 5 806 991
Net Impact of a 1% change on Profi t or Loss 9 948 544 10 428 003

Notes Less than 1 year From 1 to 5 years Greater than
5 years

Total

R R R R

2017
Assets
Cash and investment deposits 6 354 794 386 - 20 000 000 374 794 386
Derivative fi nancial instrument 24 - - 1 783 742 1 783 72
Loans and advances 5 96 886 740 523 173 291 - 620 060 031
Total assets 451 681 126 523 173 291 21 783 742 996 638 159

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings - - - -
Total liabilities - - - -

Total margin exposure gap 451 681 126 523 173 291 21 783 742 996 638 159

2016(Restated)
Assets
Cash and investment deposits 6 560 553 589 - 20 145 511 580 699 100
Derivative fi nancial instrument - -  5 982 581 5 982 581
Loans and advances 5 40 719 153 211 256 354 210 125 720 462 101 227
Total assets 601 272 742 211 256 354 236 253 812 1 048 782 908

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 12 - - - -
Total liabilities - - - -

Total margin exposure gap 601 272 742 211 256 354 236 253 812 1 048 782 908
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19 Financial Risk Management ...continued

19.4 Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the processes, technology 
and infrastructure supporting the KGFT’s operations either internally within the KGFT or externally at the KGFT’s service providers, 
and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements 
and generally accepted standards of investment management behaviour.  Operational risks arise from all the KGFT’s activities.

The KGFT’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance limiting of fi nancial losses and damage to its reputation 
with achieving its investment objective of generating returns to investors.  The primary responsibility for the development and 
implementation of controls over operational risk rests with the Board of Trustees.

This responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for the management of operational risk, which 
encompasses the controls and processes at the service providers and the establishment of service levels with the service providers, 
in the following areas:

 Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties between various functions, roles;
 Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
 Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
 Documentation of controls and procedures;
 Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to address the 

risks identifi ed; 
 Contingency plans;
 Ethical and business standards; and
 Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

The Trustee’s assessment over the adequacy of the controls and processes in place with respect to operational risks is carried 
out via regular discussions and a review of the audited annual fi nancial statements, reports on internal controls and budgets, 
where available.

19.5 Capital management
The capital contribution represents capital provided from the KwaZulu-Natal Department of Economic Development, Tourism and 
Environmental Affairs, which is made in terms of the Capital Contribution Agreement.  In terms of the Evolution Strategy, funds 
previously received for equity from the benefi ciary (and held in a warehousing capacity outside of capital within the Debt Fund), 
was approved to be utilised for the KGFT mandate and revised product offerings was transferred to capital. There are not 
repayment terms and this funding is interest free.

The general reserve was provided by the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government.  Amounts received related to the settlement 
subsidy received for the repayment of a previous lender (INCA) on their exit from the KGFT, as well as benefi ts received, as a result 
of the waiver of amounts payable on the acquisition of the net assets of the KGFT.  As part of the implementation of the evolution 
strategy, general reserve funding was capitalised during the 2016 fi nancial year to be utilised for Project disbursements.
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Notes Financial Assets Other fi nancial 
liabilities

Total carrying 
amount

R R R

20 Financial Assets and Liabilities

Accounting Classifi cations and Fair Values

The table below provides reconciliation of the line items in 
the Trust’s statement of fi nancial position to the categories of 
fi nancial instruments.

2017

Equity Investments 4 222 945 153 - 222 945 153

Loans and advances 5 620 060 031 - 620 060 031

Derivative fi nancial instrument 24 1 783 742 - 1 783 742

Cash and investment deposits 6 374 794 386 - 374 794 386

Trade and other receivables 7 6 923 166 - 6 923 166

Trade and other payables 11 - (1 326 519) (1 326 519)

1 226 415 702 (1 326 519) 1 225 063 999

2016 (Restated)

Equity Investments 5 48 015 387 - 48 015 387

Loans and advances 6 462 101 227 - 462 101 227

Derivative fi nancial instrument 24 5 982 581 - 5 982 581

Cash and investment deposits 7 580 699 100 - 594 699 100

Trade and other receivables 9 2 129 856 - 2 129 856

Trade and other payables 11 - (3 874 172) (3 874 172)

1 098 928 151 (3 874 172) 1 095 053 979

Financial assets and liabilities carrying amounts approximates their fair values.

Notes 2017 2016

R R

21 Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

 Contract for and authorised - -

 Not yet contracted for but authorised - -

- -

22 Income tax
No provision has been made for taxation for the KGFT as the entity is considered a vested entity of the Department of Economic 
Development & Tourism (as the ultimate benefi ciary of the KGFT is the KwaZulu-Natal Government) which is exempt from income 
tax in terms of Section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act no 58 of 1962 (‘the Act’).

23 Related parties
The KGFT is one of twelve (12) entities within the Department of Economic Development, Tourism & Environmental Affairs (EDTEA). 
As such these entities and other entities within the sphere of Government are considered to be related parties. The KGFT enters into 
transactions with related parties in its normal course of business.
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23 Related parties ...continued
The following are the KGFT’s key related parties and the transactions entered into during the fi nancial year:

23.1 Department of Economic Development, Tourism & Environmental Affairs
The Department of Economic Development, Tourism & Environmental Affairs (EDTEA) is the ultimate benefi ciary of the KGFT. 

During the 2017 fi nancial year, a total amount of R64.4m was provided by the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government and this was 
2016/17 budget allocation received in June 2016. The amounts received related to the annual fund allocation.

During the 2016 fi nancial year, a total amount of R95m was provided by the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government and this was 
2015/16 budget allocation received in July 2015. The amounts received related to the annual fund allocation.

23.2 Ithala SOC Ltd
Ithala SOC Limited, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ithala and operates as a retail bank operating under an exemption licence with 
the South African Reserve Bank. Funds held on fi xed deposit as at 31 March 2017, amounted to R28 176 544 (2016: R48 007 275) 
including accrued interest. Total interest earned during the year totalled R1 970 587 (2016: R2 473 735). Ithala SOC Limited further 
provided intermediary insurance advisory services for which insurance payments totalling R329 841 (2016: R310 951) were paid 
during the year.

23.3 KZN Property Development Holdings SOC Limited
KZN property Development Holdings (previously KZN Growth Fund Managers (SOC) Limited), is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ithala 
and operates as a property development division with a portfolio of property across the province. As part of the sales of business 
from the Fund Manager to the Trust, an amount of R5m was retained by the Fund Manager to assist with legal expenses in the 
recovery of previous loans disbursed by the Fund Manager. Following a decision to close up the entity and the resolution of previous 
loans being recovered, the amount remaining is required to be repaid to the Trust. This amount (R1.97m) has been raised as income 
and a debtor raised, and will be recovered following the completion of external audit of the 2016/17 year end of KZN property 
Development Holdings.

23.4 Key management personnel
The total Trustees’ and sub-committee fees incurred for the year was R1 875 667 (2016 R2 245 632).  This comprised:

The total Trustees’ fees incurred for the year was R1 153 721 (2016: R1 526 386). The listing of the trustees is shown under note 
number 16.1.

The total Investment Committee’s fees incurred for the year was R312 022 (2016: R244 624). The listing of the Investment 
committee fees is shown under note number 16.1.

The total Audit and Risk Committee’s fees incurred for the year was R233 332 (2016: R192 208). The listing of the Audit and Risk 
Committee fees is shown under note number 16.1.

The total Human Resource & Remuneration Committee’s fees incurred for the year was R176 592 (2016: R282 414). The listing of 
the executive management remuneration is shown under note number 16.1.

The Executive Management’s remuneration for the year was R9 169 318 (2016: R7 829 526). The listing of the executive 
management remuneration is shown under note number 16.2.

23.5 KwaDukuza Private Hospital (Pty) Ltd
The KGFT holds 26% of the shareholding in KwaDukuza Private Hospital (Pty) Ltd. Transactions with this entity are disclosed in 
note 4 to the fi nancial statements. During the current fi nancial year, a monthly charge of R5 700, inclusive of VAT, was charged to 
KwaDukuza for offi ce space usage at KGFT offi ces.

23.6 Inoxa Industries (Pty) Ltd
The KGFT holds 22% of the shareholding in Inoxa Industries (Pty) Ltd. Transactions with this entity are disclosed in note 4 to the 
fi nancial statements.

23.7 Ross Healthcare (Pty) Ltd
The KGFT holds 25% of the shareholding in Ross Healthcare (Pty) Ltd. Transactions with this entity are disclosed in note 4 to the 
fi nancial statements.

24 Correction of error in accounting for derivative
In March 2015, the Trust entered into an interest swap agreement with RMB on a portion of a loan issued to one of the projects 
within the portfolio. The instrument was incorrectly not accounted as a derivative in terms of IAS39. The KGFT recognises 
derivatives as held-for trading instruments and are recognised as an asset on the statement of fi nancial position, with fair value 
adjustments recognised to the statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income.
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2016 Adjustment: 
Increase / 

(decrease)

2016 (Restated)

R R R

24 Correction of error in accounting for derivative ...continued

The recognition of the derivative has been accounted for as a prior year 
adjustment, with comparatives restated. The effect of these adjustments to 
the fi nancial statements is as follows:

Statement of fi nancial position:

2016

Derivative fi nancial instrument - 5 982 581 5 982 581

Net Assets - 5 982 581 5 982 581

Retained earnings 89 988 389 5 982 581 95 970 970

Net Equity 89 988 389 5 982 581 95 970 970

2015 Adjustment: 
Increase / 

(decrease)

2015 (Restated)

R R R

2015

Derivative fi nancial instrument - 732 017 732 017

Net Assets - 732 017 732 017

Retained earnings 89 674 496 732 017 90 406 513

Net Equity 89 674 496 732 017 90 406 513

2016 Adjustment: 
Increase / 

(decrease)

2016 (Restated)

R R R

Statement of Profi t or Loss and Other comprehensive income:

2016

Other gains / (losses) - 5 250 564 5 250 564

Net Effect on Profi t / Loss 78 494 616 5 250 564 83 745 180

25 Subsequent Events
No events were identifi ed subsequent to year-end that required adjustment or disclosure in the annual fi nancial statements.
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